
City of Leawood 
Planning Commission Agenda 

February 26, 2019 
Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 
Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:   
Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Pateidl, Elkins, Strauss, Coleman, Block, Stevens  
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:    
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
Approval of minutes from the January 29, 2019 Planning Commission meeting and the February 12, 2019 Planning 
Commission work session. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
CASE 07-19 – SMITH ESTATE – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plat, located south of 143rd Street and 
west of Mission Road. 
 
CASE 08-19 – PLAZA POINTE – REVISED SIGN CRITERIA – Request for approval of a Revised Final Sign Plan, 
located south of 135th Street and east of Briar Street.  
 
CASE 09-19 – TOWN CENTER CROSSING – LOVESAC (RETAIL: FURNITURE) – Request for approval of a Final 
Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant Space, located south of 119th Street and east of Roe Avenue.   
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
CASE 01-19 – HILLS OF LEAWOOD SINGLE FAMILY SUBDIVISION – Request for approval of a Revised 
Preliminary Plan, Revised Preliminary Plat, Final Plan and Final Plat, located north of 151st Street and east of 
Mission Road. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 10-19 – HILLS OF LEAWOOD – SALES TRAILER – Request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a 
Temporary Sales Trailer, located east of Mission Road and north of 151st Street.  PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 11-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – CHASE BANK – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, located 
north of 119th Street and west of Roe Avenue.   
 
CASE 12-19 – VILLAGE OF SEVILLE – THE NEW APOSTOLIC CHURCH USA – Request for approval of a 
Special Use Permit for a Place of Worship, located north of 133rd Street and west of State Line Road.  PUBLIC 
HEARING 
 
CASE 13-19 – BROOKWOOD ELEMENTARY SCHOOL – Request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a 
before-and-after school program, located south of 103rd Street and east of Mohawk Road. PUBLIC HEARING 



CASE 17-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-2-7, TABLE OF USES 
– Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to Recreation and 
Entertainment – Indoor.  PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 144-18 – 2018 ANNUAL UPDATE TO THE CITY OF LEAWOOD COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – Request for 
approval of the 2018 Comprehensive Plan. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 26-19 – 2018 ANNUAL REVIEW REGARDING THE 135TH STREET CORRIDOR TRANSPORTATION FEE  
 
CASE 27-19 – 2018 ANNUAL REVIEW REGARDING THE SOUTH LEAWOOD TRANSPORTATION IMPACT FEE 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
 
ADJOURN REGULAR MEETING:   
Meetings will end at 9:00 p.m. unless the Commission votes to extend the meeting for a period of thirty (30) 
minutes.  An additional thirty (30) minute extension, for a maximum of two (2) extensions, may be voted by the 
Commission members. 
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The Leawood Planning Commission is a nine member non-partisan body whose members are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the Governing Body.  
  

The Planning Commission prepares the Comprehensive Plan that is used as a general guide for the development of the community.  The Comprehensive Plan is reviewed 
and updated annually as part of the commission's ongoing process of evaluating trends and patterns.  The Commission also reviews all zoning, special use permit, and site 
plan and plat applications prior to making recommendations to the governing body for final action.  
  

The regular scheduled public meetings of the Planning Commission are held at 6:00 PM on the fourth Tuesday of each month in the City Council chambers, 4800 Town 
Center Drive.  The Commission may also conduct a study session followed by a meeting on the second Tuesday of each month.  
  

Anyone wishing to appear on the Planning Commission agenda or study session agenda should contact Planning Services at (913) 339-6700.  
  

REZONING AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT PROCEDURES FOR LEAWOOD, KANSAS  

  

Newspaper publications: The city will be responsible for publishing the notice of public hearing in the official City newspaper not less than 20 days prior to the end of the 
public hearing.  
  

Posting of the sign: Upon submission of the application, the City will supply the applicant with a sign to be posted on the property.  The sign must be posted not less than 20 
days prior to the public hearing.  
  

Letters of notification: The applicant will be responsible for mailing notices by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the proposed zoning change to all land owners located 
within 200 feet of the area proposed to be altered.  These notices must be sent a minimum of 20 days prior to the Planning Commission hearing.  
  

Public hearing: The Planning Commission hears all zoning requests, hearing from the applicant and anyone in the audience wishing to speak for or against the proposal.  The 
Commission will then make a recommendation for approval or denial to the City Council or continue the application to another Planning Commission agenda.  The following is 
an outline of the public hearing process.  
  

1. Staff summarization of comments and recommendations.  

2. Applicant presentation and response to staff comments and recommendations.  

3. Public Hearing  

a. Anyone wishing to speak, either in favor or in opposition has an opportunity to speak.  

b. It is appreciated if the speakers keep repetition to a minimum.  

4. The applicant will have an opportunity to respond to points raised during the hearing.  

5. Planning Commission discussion.  

6. Motion and second by the Planning Commission.  
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PLANNING COMMISSIONER’S 
SEATING CHART 



7. Planning Commission discussion of motion.  

8. Planning Commission vote on the motion.  

  

Protest period: Certain property owners may file a petition protesting the application within 14 days after the close of the Planning Commission public hearing. The petition 
must be signed by the owners of record of 20% or more of any real property proposed to be rezoned, or by the owners of record of 20% or more of the total real property 
within the area required to be notified in Article 16-5-4.1 of the proposed zoning of specific property, excluding streets and public ways and property excluded pursuant to 16-
5-4.3.  
  

City Council Action: After the protest period has concluded, the application will be placed on an agenda for a City Council meeting.  The Council may then take action on the 
proposal.  The Council may approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation, or it may amend and approve or remand the proposal to the Planning Commission for 
further consideration. 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 

January 29, 2019 

Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 

913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Elkins, Strauss, Coleman, 

Block, and Stevens. Absent: Pateidl. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Are there any changes to the agenda? 

 

Mr. Klein:  No. 

 

A motion to approve the agenda was made by Hoyt; seconded by Belzer. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Strauss, Coleman, 

Block, and Stevens. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the November 27, 2018 

Planning Commission meeting. 

 

A motion to approve the minutes from the November 27, 2018 Planning 

Commission meeting was made by Coleman; seconded by Stevens. Motion carried 

with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Strauss, Coleman, Block, 

and Stevens. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA:  
 

Chairman Elkins:  Does any commissioner have any desire to discuss Case 88-18 in 

greater detail? If not, I would entertain a motion. 

 

CASE 88-18 – MARKET SQUARE – REVISED LANDSCAPE PLAN – Request for 

approval of a Revised Landscape Plan, located south of 133rd Street and east of Mission 

Road. 

 

A motion to approve the Consent Agenda was made by Hoyt; seconded by Belzer. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Strauss, 

Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 
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MEETING ADJOURNED 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Work Session 

February 12, 2019 

Leawood Development Ordinance Amendments 

 

 

Planning Commission Members in Attendance: Block, Hoyt, Coleman, Stevens, 

Belzer, Elkins – Absent:  Hunter, Pateidl, Strauss 

 

Staff in Attendance: Mark Klein, Planning; Richard Coleman, Community 

Development; Ricky Sanchez, Planning; Jessica Schuller, Planning; Andrew Hall, Legal; 

Brian Scovill, Public Works; Debbie Brenner, Planning 

 

Mr. Klein:  We wanted to talk to you tonight about some Leawood Development 

Ordinance (LDO) amendments. We don’t currently have specific language that we are 

proposing; we just would like to get input from the Planning Commission as well as keep 

you informed about what is coming. We would like to add Recreational and 

Entertainment, Indoor to the Table of Uses. The other is Street Trees. The Street Tree 

section of the City Code has been updated, and we would like to make the LDO 

consistent with the City Code. We have two issues we would like to discuss regarding 

fences. The first is estate fences within RPA-5, which is single family on a minimum of 

five acres. The Board of Zoning Appeals has received many requests with regard to these 

fences meant to enclose an entire lot. The other has to do with fences extending beyond 

the build line. Calculations in Mixed-Use Districts (MXD) and Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.) 

will focus on residential discount and adding criteria. The other amendment has to do 

with legal nonconformities. 

 

Table of Uses 

 

Mr. Klein:  Currently, Recreation and Entertainment – Outdoor is allowed within the 

Business Park (BP) section with a special use permit (SUP). However, Recreation and 

Entertainment – Indoor is not. That seemed inconsistent as far as allowing one that would 

have more impact on the surrounding properties. The definition for Recreation and 

Entertainment – Indoor is an establishment offering recreation, entertainment, or games 

of skill to the public for a fee of charge and that is wholly enclosed in a building. Typical 

uses include bowling alleys, indoor theaters, bingo parlors, pool halls, billiard parlors, 

and video game arcades. Recreation and Entertainment – Outdoor is an establishment 

offering recreation, entertainment, or games of skill to the public for a fee or charge 

wherein any portion of the activity takes place in the open. Typical uses include archery 

ranges, batting cages, golf driving ranges, drive-in theaters, and miniature golf courses. 

We would like to make it more consistent by allowing Recreational Indoor with an SUP 

in the BP district. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Remind me what SD-CR is. 
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Mr. Klein:  SD-CR is Planned General Retail. Town Center Plaza is SD-CR. We also 

have SD-NCR and SD-NCR-2 (Planned Neighborhood Retail). Those are surrounded by 

residential but might want some small commercial uses available. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  In your research into the ordinance and Table of Uses, is there any 

history as to why the distinction between indoor and outdoor was made?  

 

Mr. Klein:  We couldn’t find anything. We hired an attorney when we were going 

through the LDO back in 2002. I think it may have been a situation where they provided 

a table, and it never occurred to us at the time to raise the question. You might see this 

amendment at the next meeting. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  What does BP stand for? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Business Park, and we have two BP districts: 143rd Street and Kenneth Road 

and 103rd and State Line Road. The area at 103rd and State Line Road is older and has a 

different variety of uses. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  And an SUP would be required? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Yes. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Why require an SUP in the context of an indoor recreation complex? 

 

Mr. Klein:  We just figured it would give a little bit more opportunity for scrutiny with 

regard to the Planning Commission and Governing Body to consider any potential 

impacts. The BP district at 103rd and State Line is extremely close to residential 

neighborhoods. Many of them don’t meet the setbacks. Buildings exist legally, and we 

can’t make them tear them down. It is possible that one of these uses may move into one 

of these buildings. It is just to offer a bit more control. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I have a vague recollection that we changed the rules on SUPs. What 

are the terms? Do we have some discretion on the length of term for the SUP? 

 

Mr. Klein:  All SUPs, unless we state otherwise, have a limitation by default of 20 years.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Can we limit it to fewer years than that? 

 

Mr. Klein:  You can set a lower limit. You’re probably thinking of the cell towers that we 

typically used to give five years. The last couple ones, we have allowed 20 years, as the 

legal framework has changed. The car lot used to get one year at a time, and we moved it 

to two years.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  What do some of the rest of the commissioners think about the time 

period for these SUPs? Would you be up for permitting them for 20 years? 
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Comm. Coleman:  I think five years is appropriate, especially given a recreational use. I 

don’t know if the axe-throwing place would be under this. 

 

Mr. Klein:  The axe-throwing place is actually a permitted use, so they didn’t need an 

SUP. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  It will be here for probably two more years. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  In that case, if we thought it was in the public interest to have it less than 

20 years, we could vote to have it for less than 20 years.  

 

Mr. Klein:  That is correct. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I guess I think it would be hard to get someone to want to invest the 

money required to put in a movie theater or something if they could only have a five-year 

SUP. I would find that a huge turn-off. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  It depends on what it is. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Exactly, but since we have the ability to scale the time period between 1-

20, it seems like a good possibility.  

 

Mr. Klein:  We also have stipulations on these applications. If they are in violation of a 

stipulation, it could trigger possibly loss of the SUP.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  What do you see as a typical term of a commercial lease? 

 

Mr. Klein:  I’m not sure.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  Usually around five years, and then sometimes, they have the right to 

extend the lease for another 5-10 years. It depends on the owners. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think there could be some logic to tracking it with a lease if there was 

a lease involved. We wouldn’t want it to be shorter than the lease term. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We have usually extended them for a good period of time unless there’s a 

good reason to have them shorter. Part of the parking lot that Mark mentioned is 

something we’re not excited about. It’s unapproved and in the floodplain.  

 

Comm. Belzer:  You said one is at 143rd and one is at 103rd? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Yes, with the Gates Barbecue. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  That’s going to be a nice, big space coming up there when US Toy 

leaves.  
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Street Trees 

 

Mr. Klein:  The City Code has changed regarding spacing of trees. We want to try to 

bring it into conformance so we don’t have a conflict. Currently, the LDO requires street 

trees to be planted one per 35 linear feet. City Code divides it out. Medium trees are 

allowed to be planted 30 feet, and large trees are allowed to be planted a minimum of 40 

feet. That would take into account the canopy spread. We thought we would try to match 

that with the LDO. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  If there’s a new development, I know this comes up. What happens 

with existing developments? Would someone have to replace a tree? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The LDO is primarily for new development, so that’s what’s actually it is 

being applied to. Anything that is new development comes through the Planning 

Commission and City Council. The landscape plan shows the types and spacing of trees. 

Once that is approved, say, 20-30 years down the road, the ash borer starts taking out 

trees, or the subdivision would like to change the trees they have. They would be required 

to replace based on the approved plan. They can come back through the Planning 

Commission and City council if they would like to modify the plan. They would have to 

meet the ordinance in place at the time.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  It seems that we had a couple controversies here recently over a 

redevelopment and the caliper of trees as well as distance between them. Does any of this 

address that, or do we need to talk about it in the context of this discussion? 

 

Mr. Klein:  This doesn’t change the context as far as what they wanted. They said they 

did not have the room to plant the street trees in certain areas. Staff has tried to be fairly 

flexible as far as where the trees can be planted. If there is an existing sidewalk and it is 

back-of-curb by three feet, there is probably not enough room to plant a street tree there, 

but generally, it could be planted on the other side of the sidewalk and still achieve the 

same effect. These are street trees, so they tend to be larger, and the canopies will grow. 

That same issue would still be an issue with this. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there anything we could do about the types or species of trees used 

for street trees? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Brian Anderson the Parks Department put together a list of great trees for 

Leawood. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  There is a regional tree list that we use.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  The reason I’m asking is one of the attractive things about Prairie 

Village is the canopy along Mission or Roe from trees planted 50 years ago. I think they 

are mostly Oak trees. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Pin Oak. 
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Chairman Elkins:  They’re beautifully. They’re straight as an arrow going down the 

street, and I always think that someone did some really good planning. I think it may 

have been the developer at that time. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  You wouldn’t get that now, though. What Brian and a lot of landscape 

people recommend is mixing all the trees together so that we don’t end up in a quandary 

similar to the American Elm and Ash tree issue. I’m okay with it, but you have to 

recognize that we may have a problem eventually. Our list was developed from a national 

tree program.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  If I remember correctly, I was on Parks and Recreation when this 

came up, there were 25 people from the area that came up with this. I tend to agree that 

there is a place for doing something similar to what is in Prairie Village. I don’t agree that 

all the trees on this list are great trees. Everybody has a favorite, such as Gingko, for 

example. It’s not a native tree. It is very hardy, but it is extremely slow-growing. If you 

planted a Gingko in your front yard, you’ll be dead long before it provides any shade.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Given what we’ve been through the last few weeks or so, did the Parks 

Department look at it for resilience against ice and whatnot? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  This was just a list of landscapers and arborists in the area that came 

up with what trees would be able to survive and what trees would work well on the side 

of the road. We didn’t really approve it; it was just an informational list. People would 

plant trees that would fail because they just weren’t hardy enough.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  There are some trees we shouldn’t plant, especially for street trees, such as 

small trees that are prone to breakage and disease. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It was amazing to see how many trees came down in the snow and ice 

storms. Mark, what is the approximate distance between the trees in the picture you have 

up? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Those would be 35 feet. Sometimes, the plans are misleading because they 

will draw the mature canopy, and they look giant. As far as the size of trees, we already 

changed the LDO to decrease from 4” caliper to 2.5” caliper for shade trees and street 

trees. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Why did we do that? 

 

Mr. Klein:  We had a lot of discussion. Several developers indicated that the 4” caliper 

tree had a little shock, so a 2” caliper tree could easily catch up to the 4” caliper tree 

because it was in much less shock. Additionally, the availability of species in the higher 

caliper is not as robust. This would allow for more species to be used. Cost was another 

factor. 
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Chairman Elkins:  From the research you have done, does the business about catching up 

hold water?  

 

Mr. Klein:  I talked with Brian Anderson, and he agreed. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Part of it is that developments don’t do a great job of preparing the soil for 

the landscaping. A good example is Walgreens across the street, and the trees don’t get 

established and then die. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do we typically require medium trees or large trees? 

 

Mr. Klein:  We typically have shade trees. The City Code had small trees on the previous 

version but removed them for the current version because they shouldn’t be used for 

street trees. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other comments? 

 

Fences and Walls 

 

Mr. Klein:  This is basically for estate lots. A lot of them like to have the entire lot 

enclosed. Currently, the ordinance states that the fence cannot go beyond the front line of 

the house as it extends to the side property lines unless it is less than 36 inches in height 

and no more than 24 feet in length. That would be a very small, decorative fence. This 

amendment deals with what we have seen on the estate lots with fences that have gates at 

the entry. Under the current ordinance, this would not be allowed and would have to go to 

the Board of Zoning Appeals to get permission to build it. If the house is set way back, 

the fence would be set back also. Currently, this section states that fences and walls, with 

the exception of retaining walls three feet or greater in height shall not be permitted in the 

front of the building or line of the building as it extends to the side property line and shall 

not be permitted beyond the build line of a street-side side yard of a corner lot. The fence 

could go along the interior property line setback. On the corner lots, there is typically a 

setback for the street-side side yard. Most of the zoning districts have a setback of 30 

feet, and the fences are required to meet that as well on the street-side side yard because 

if it sticks out, views get cut off, and a box effect could result. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  On the corner lot, would the side yard setback require a variance? It 

seems that it is tight. 

 

Mr. Klein:  This might be RP-1, so it would be 12 feet. Some of the lots up north were 

under the zoning ordinances in place at the time.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  On the fence on that lot, it would be from the garage to the left to the 

back and then to the front of the building. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That is correct, and we are trying to keep this as open as possible. The ones 

with RPA-5 have five acres or more, so these are big lots. A lot of times, those houses are 
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set 150-200 feet back. A lot of times, the house isn’t even visible from the road. It is not 

the same situation as with these because with these, the side yards may be 12-15 feet. In 

RPA-5, the side yards are massive, so there isn’t the same kind of boxing-in effect. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Your proposal would be for the RPA-5? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Yes, just for the RPA-5, which is limited. It only exists starting at 143rd and 

Mission Road and going along Mission Road on the west side up to Meridee Farms.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  The only differentiator is the five acres? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Correct. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  A four-acre lot would be an issue. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Correct, and it seems like we don’t typically have the big lots. People like to 

divide them up. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We would probably specify the type of fence to some extent. 

 

Comm. Coleman: Why would you not include a material type? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Maybe we would include it. We wouldn’t want a fence that is a solid wall 

of fence. A picket fence would be perfectly fine. 

 

Mr. Klein:  The gates are another issue. We would like to limit the height of the fence to 

no more than 6 feet, which is the highest we allow, even with a pool. Some of the gates in 

the past looked like they go considerably higher. We would still like to keep it down to 6 

feet. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They could still go to the BZA for a variance if they want a bigger gate. 

This would allow them to not have to go to the BZA. We get a lot of these, and all of 

them have to go to the BZA. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Talk to us about what the BZA has authority to do, generally speaking. 

We always find ourselves boxed in by the ordinance. Sometimes, that is frustrating to 

developers; sometimes, it is not. Can you talk to us about some of the things that the BZA 

can approve? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They can grant a variance to anything in the LDO except uses. This 

includes height restrictions, square footage restrictions, and building material restrictions.   

 

Chairman Elkins:  They can do that, but we can’t. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That is correct. The applicant has to meet five factors, and there must be a 

public hearing as well.  
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Mr. Hall:  It is a statutory beast that allows the Board of Zoning Appeals to vary anything 

in the LDO except for use.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  What is the standard the applicant has to meet to do that? Is it fairly 

well defined, or is it discretionary? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  There are five factors. The main one is that the applicant can’t have 

created the need for the variance. If an applicant wants an addition in the side yard and 

they want it closer to the property line, the addition is causing the problem; whereas, a 

physical issue with the lot could be causing the hardship.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Will these be grandfathered in? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  The one on the left got a variance. The one on the right may have been. It 

is older, so I’m not sure.  

 

Mr. Klein:  The requested variances have typically been allowances to extend to the front 

property line, allowing the fence to exceed three feet in height and more than 24 feet in 

length, and then allowing the entry gates to exceed 6 feet in height. There is a part of the 

ordinance that allows the supports to extend 8 inches taller than the fence.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  What is the build line? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The build line denotes where a structure cannot go beyond. That is what we 

would like to discuss as well. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I’d like to back up for a minute. In RPA-5, the build line is either going to 

be platted, or it will be the 35’ front yard setback. In RPA-5, it may be 50 feet? 

 

Ms. Schuller:  It is 100 feet for the front and 150 feet for the side. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It’s pretty far back.  

 

Mr. Klein:  Typically, with a plat, the zoning district defines the building envelope. For 

instance, in R-1, a 35’ front and rear yard setback is required and 15’ side yard setback 

unless it is a corner lot, at which point, a 30’ setback is required. Typically, the only one 

defined as a build line on the plat will be the lines adjacent to the public street. The 

reason we don’t like to see them on the interior lot lines is it can create some confusion as 

far as what is allowed to extend beyond. For instance, accessories are allowed anywhere 

in the rear yard. This confuses the issue. We occasionally have plats that will have lines 

platted beyond the ones adjacent to the public right-of-way. That has caused a little bit of 

a problem in the past because the city has typically not allowed the fence to go across a 

platted build line. With this, we would like to allow them to go past the platted build line 

if it is an interior lot line. We would like to make it clear in the ordinance that a fence 

could go along the interior property line setbacks, even if it is a platted line. We want to 
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make sure we have some exceptions. If the plat specifically states that fences are not 

allowed by that point, we want to make sure that would still be the case. Often times, a 

landscape easement would run across, and we would not want to allow a fence to enclose 

the easement. That would need to be specifically stated on the plat. In general, we would 

like to make it clear that interior lot line fences are allowed to extend to the property line. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  In its current state, in something less than RP-5, do side yard fences 

have the same limitation? 

 

Mr. Klein:  They would have the same limitation to the platted build line. In most cases, 

we really don’t have an issue because, as the plats come through, we make sure they 

don’t plat the interior setbacks. If they did, suddenly, the fence wouldn’t be usable 

beyond the fenced-in area. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Don’t most of the homes in our neighborhood have their fences at the 

lot line? I’m struggling to put this into real life, and I can’t believe every house in the 

neighborhood got a variance. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Most of the subdivisions don’t plat the interior lines, so we allow them to 

extend.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  It is roughly akin to the setback, but it is not the setback.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  For a future change, you may expand on the language of a side yard 

setback. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That is exactly correct. We would make it clear that it can go beyond the 

platted line for interior only. There are situations such as a platted setback with no 

fencing allowed that would take precedence. We would also not want through lots (lots 

with two frontages) to have a fence going all the way back. Currently, in the LDO, this is 

treated as two front yards. There are many that have already done that because it wasn’t 

in the past ordinances. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  So, you’re proposing a change? 

 

Mr. Klein:  At this point, we are proposing to keep that part of it. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  On the ones that were grandfathered in, what happens when their fence 

rots and has to be replaced? 

 

Mr. Klein:  They are considered legal, nonconforming structures. The way 

nonconformities are dealt with is that it is in the interest of the city to see them come into 

compliance. Most cities have regulations that say that if more than 50% is being replaced, 

it must be brought into conformance.  
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Comm. Hoyt:  In the meantime, the first person to have to replace their fence will create a 

weird line. 

 

Mr. Klein:  It will. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  From an aesthetic standpoint, especially along a major thoroughfare like 

123rd Street between Mission and State Line Road, I’m just struggling with it and how 

junky it could look with the dramatically different setbacks. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  Would that be appropriate for a variance? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Some have gotten a variance for that. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  There is a good stretch where every fence lines up, and it looks good. 

 

Mr. Klein:  The thing about the variance is that once it’s granted, it runs with the land. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  What is the contrary argument? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Honestly, I think the main objection would be if I platted a lot line and didn’t 

want the fence to go beyond it. The way we do things now, there would be a lot of 

questions. If a platted line is included on an interior lot line, we would ask about it. If 

they want it, we would ask for text on the plat specifically stating what is allowed and 

what is not allowed in that section. We’ve talked about playground equipment or garden 

structures. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Why would someone plat a build line in the first place? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The build line should be platted along the street frontages just to make it very 

clear where the build line will be for developers when determining where a house will go.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  If they didn’t have a plat line, the setbacks would still mandate that, 

right? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The setbacks would, but the plat is something everybody looks at. If they 

truly want to keep fences out of there, we are fine with that; we just want to avoid tough 

situations where people can only enclose a tiny portion of the lot. (Shows examples) 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Any other thoughts? 

 

MXD and F.A.R. 

 

Mr. Klein:  We have just started working on this one. Currently, in MXD, the F.A.R. is 

calculated using the full square footage amount of commercial space: office and retail 

and a 25% discount of the square footage of residential space divided by the square 

footage of the entire site, including any dedicated right-of-way. A discount of up to a 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 11 - February 12, 2019 

total of 55% of the square footage of residential space may be recommended by staff and 

will be subject to Governing Body approval. There really isn’t much guidance if someone 

wants a 55% discount on the residential to lower the F.A.R. and allow more square 

footage on the site. Staff may not feel that they’ve done things that are really called for in 

MXD. We have to give them a base of 25%, but there are not criteria to justify giving 

them anything between 25% and 55%. This is an example. Staff is trying to brainstorm 

how to do it and came up with a menu of things that would be required, such as spatial 

integration of residential buildings with proximity and orientation to commercial uses. 

We are trying to go back to what was in in the 135th Street Community Plan. Another 

element could be vertical integration of residential and commercial. It would be nice to 

have some residential above the retail or office. Currently, multi-family is required to 

have one totally enclosed parking space and one surface. If both were either underground 

or totally enclosed in a parking garage, it would save space. Community space could be 

centrally located. We saw with the project at 135th and Kenneth and the open space in the 

corner. This is an effort to integrate the open space and gathering areas. One of the four 

earns 25%; two of the four earns 35%; three of the four earns 45%; four of the four earns 

55%. This is just an example. I’m sure there are many different ways to do it. We wanted 

to get input from the Planning Commission as far as what is important. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  The logic behind offering the discount is encouraging these denser 

applications, which seems reasonable. Would you say these are the only four criteria? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Oh, no.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  We divided it into a bunch of different categories. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Are there some that are particularly more desirable from the city’s 

standpoint? It could have tiers of some sort with some carrying more weight. 

 

Mr. Klein: That’s a good point. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Then maybe there are a few that are nice but not as impactful, and they 

would receive a smaller discount. If you could somehow prioritize that, it could work. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Those are just examples. We’d like to hear what you want to offer as the 

biggest carrot. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I see two things as the sticking points in previous discussions: vertical 

integration and this difficult-to-define term, “sense of place.” To some extent, meaningful 

sense of place could be the most important one of all. If there is community space that is 

thematically executed throughout the development, it seems to be maybe the most 

important criterion to getting some activity excitement going on. The vertical integration 

seems to be a desirable piece from a consumer standpoint and also from the city’s 

perspective. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  Right now, the 25% is a given? 
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Mr. Klein:  Yes. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Back to sense of place, I have something to consider in the future. I think 

it’s hard for applicants to figure out what we mean by that to some extent. We can’t tell 

you what it is, but we’ll know it when we see it.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  It’s a little bit like that. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Has the city had discussions as to what the city is trying to cultivate with 

this criterion? Is there any way of even defining it or state what it should incorporate? We 

haven’t talked about this a lot with applicants, but they seem to have one idea of what it 

means, and it doesn’t always line up with ours. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We can define criteria that lead to that. Ultimately, it might not be 

successful. We could include a list including spatial parameters of the space, social 

interaction potential, business aspects, materials, and so on. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Some of these articles we read about it being where people come when 

they live and work together, focusing on organic gardening or something. Maybe each 

mixed-use development along that corridor will have its own sense of place, but I would 

think there might be some real value to having some serious discussion with all different 

stakeholders in the community as to what we want it to be.  

 

Mr. Klein:  Sometimes, the sense of place is unique to that particular development.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Maybe that’s what we want to do - allow for many different types. 

 

Mr. Klein:  It may embrace the Oregon Trail or history or whatever is unique to the area. 

We used to see the strip malls in the ‘70s, and everyone started replicating the pretty strip 

malls, and they pretty much looked the same. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I think it’s much easier in communities where there is an obvious feature. I 

was recently in St. Petersburg, and we were in the old section. The sense of place is being 

on the waterway. They have fabulous mixed use. It was awe-inspiring to see the vertical 

integration, the parking garages. They start with a huge asset, but then they also do other 

things, too. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Not all projects we see have a big stand of trees in natural areas. I think they 

could probably use that to their advantage in the 135th Street project and separate 

themselves out. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  The challenge is that it all remains very subjective in how to apply the 

standards from one development to the next. 
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Comm. Belzer:  Maybe that’s why this menu makes sense. Then, a developer could pick 

and choose how to make it work. We have to also make it so that it is attainable for 

applicants. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  It would maybe help applicants if you could come up with a prioritization 

of these. Then, they would know what you’re really looking for. 

 

Mr. Klein:  I like the idea of tiering them because some do have a bigger bang. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think it would make sense to do it in another work session. I’d love 

for you guys to come back with a whole list of things like these four that maybe all 

contribute to the sense of place and have a robust discussion amongst ourselves in a work 

session to talk about those that you think are effective. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That’s great. This meeting was meant to just introduce the topic. The next 

topic will be the same. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  I think we should consider including developers in this conversation 

because we seem to not always be on the same page, and they tend to have different 

views of what would be successful. Maybe it would be interesting to hear from their 

perspective so that we could come to an agreement. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  These work sessions are always available. On occasion, we’ve had 

developers come.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  If you come up with this list and put your stamp of approval on the 

priorities, developers certainly couldn’t say they weren’t informed. If you specify that 

community space also needs to be centrally located with multiple uses and social 

interaction or whatever bells and whistles you want to include with that, they could refer 

to that. 

 

Mr. Klein:  I thought Kip had a good point that many developers were at the community 

meetings, and they brought those points up. Unfortunately, we didn’t hear as much 

discussion. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  All we can do is invite them. I agree with Kip. I’ve been to some of 

those meetings when they sat on their hands, and then they come to the meeting and are 

dissatisfied and unhappy about how the 135th Street plan is laid out. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  Maybe they didn’t feel comfortable asserting themselves in that forum.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Those forums are more open than these are, but it is what it is. We 

can’t complain; we just give them the opportunity to participate. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I think the overall impetus to make it clearer how one gets from 25% to 

55% is great still. 
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Mr. Klein:  The city administrator indicated he wanted to see something to make it 

clearer. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  What is the permitted F.A.R. for MXD? 

 

Mr. Klein:  It has a limitation of .25 as the base. The Deviations section of the LDO 

offers F.A.R. bonusing. That has seven different categories. Once it gets up to .45, it 

requires a super majority vote by the Governing Body.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  That’s a lot of open space. For any particular development, less than 

half of the total development can have a building on it.  

 

Mr. Klein: That is correct. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It forces the vertical development. 

 

Mr. Klein:  You have to remember that parking doesn’t count against the F.A.R, so 

surface parking eats up open space. It is also good that we don’t count structured parking 

against them, either. That would encourage them to have structured parking. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  So, structure parking goes in the denominator and not the numerator. 

 

Mr. Klein:  The denominator is land area, and the numerator is gross building area. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I think a lot of the criteria out of the plan need to be looked at with a fine-

toothed comb more like this. This would be a start. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think that’s a good idea. Does anyone else have comments or 

thoughts? 

 

Lawful Nonconformities 

 

Mr. Klein:  Currently, we may have an older development with a use that is allowed to be 

there, but at the time that it was developed, there were no landscaping requirements, and 

the parking requirements were different. They were allowed to build their parking with 

practically no setbacks. Now, that development wants to upgrade and expand. Currently, 

the way the LDO reads, if the property owner adds more square footage of any size, the 

development must come into conformance. That goes for landscaping, lighting, and 

setbacks. This creates a financial hardship for some, and site restrictions may even 

prevent these changes from happening altogether. The LDO reads, “When an otherwise 

lawful, existing use is permitted generally in any given zoning district but where, due to 

the adoption of this ordinance, required off-street parking, paving, parking area, 

landscaping, screening, and similar regulations are not provided, such deficiencies 

attributable to the use shall be considered lawful.” That says that they are fine as long as 

they don’t change it. It continues, “Nonconforming characteristics of such use: Said 
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deficiencies shall be brought into conformance when use or structure is expanded, 

enlarged, or the intensity is increased, even though the use itself is permitted generally.” 

That is where we are struggling a little bit. We have a site that wants to add a vestibule to 

their front door. Per the ordinance, they are supposed to bring everything up to standard, 

which can be quite an undertaking. I think it is missing a threshold for when this would 

kick in. Can they increase 5% of their total and still not have this kick in? That would 

allow some of the smaller expansions, or we could keep it the way it is. Ultimately, the 

goal is that the city does want these properties to improve. It is not just simply to allow 

them to exist in perpetuity and keep adding without meeting these requirements. The city 

would like to see the ordinances followed, but maybe it could be a situation where they 

could do a small expansion without triggering it, or they could perhaps phase those other 

improvements over time. We don’t have an example; we are looking to the Planning 

Commission for input. Overland Park has the same kind of language, but they can get a 

permit approved by the Governing Body that allows them not to meet everything. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They really don’t have any criteria for that, though. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Is there any way of connecting this back to whatever improvement it is 

that they’re doing in the sense that, if it really is putting in a vestibule like your example, 

conceivably, once they build the new vestibule, lights and landscaping may be affected. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Are you saying just limit the requirements to the contiguous area? 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Yes; it seems that it would be a reasonable and minimalist approach. If an 

improvement is next to something that is nonconforming, it would make sense to bring 

those nearby areas into conformance. Then, the problem with that is if the rest of the 

property is a gross mismatch to that, it is not great, either. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Are you saying if they’re in that 5%, they would make the improvement right 

around it, but if it were more than that, it would be the whole site? The other scenario is 

adding 50,000 square feet, which is still under the F.A.R. allowed on the site. The 

parking, light poles, and landscaping don’t meet current requirement. Do you have 

thoughts on this type of situation? 

 

Comm. Hoyt: In other words, at what point does the change they are making become so 

significant that it warrants looking at the entire site? 

 

Comm. Belzer:  I think US Toy is a good example. It’s a very large building, and it is a 

mess over there. If the US Toy building were to have an indoor entertainment business 

coming in, they would be faced with limited parking and infrastructure issues. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They can’t do everything. There is no way to bring the site entirely up to 

current code. The question would be at what point and how much can they do? Do they 

do nothing?  
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Mr. Klein:  We’ve had people talk to us and ask if they could phase the improvements. 

We are concerned that there is no guarantee they would come back for Phases 2 and 3.  

 

Comm. Block:  Could you make an amount equal to a percentage of the project toward 

conformance? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  That could work, similar to the ADA requirements. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Are there certain things that you would prefer for the conformity priorities?  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I wonder if we should prioritize them just like we talked about giving 

credit to the F.A.R. Would it not vary considerably by site, though? 

 

Mr. Klein:  It definitely could. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  On one site, the landscaping might not be all that bad, but the lights might 

be terrible. The other might be the other way around. I think somehow connecting this to 

the scope of the project itself makes a lot of sense because, as you said before, one of the 

big objectives here is to incentivize property owners to make improvements and not to 

just let something rot. If it seems like an onerous thing we’re asking them to do, they’ll 

let it rot. It becomes a phased-in process then, basically.  

 

Comm. Block:  I’d rather come up with something more incentivized. On some of the 

older property, we need to incentivize people to make the changes.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is this a representative list, or is this a pretty complete list of ways in 

which nonconformities exist? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The area at 103rd and State Line is pretty extreme in that it meets almost 

nothing as far as lot area, open space, lighting, and parking. With the other ones, the 

landscaping ordinance and open space ordinances have changed dramatically. Some of 

them out there just don’t have much green area and have no place to put open space. 

Sometimes, that makes a big impact as far as the public view of it.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does F.A.R. come into play?  

 

Mr. Klein:  A lot seem to be under the maximum. The parking ratio used to be a 

minimum of 5 per 1,000. When some would come in with a request for 12 per 1,000, 

staff would review it and allow it because it was more than 5 per 1,000. To a certain 

extent, it is going to be very individual to each site. Some could have huge light poles 

with adjacent residential, and maybe that would be the feature to focus on. It seems 

landscaping have a bang for its buck as far as curb appeal. If parking is tight, it may need 

to be addressed as well. 

 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 17 - February 12, 2019 

Chairman Elkins:  I like the idea of a percent of the improvement, but would we want to 

leave the selection of the corrections to the developer, or is that something we would 

want to dictate to them? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I think staff would evaluate it, and we would probably make a 

recommendation to you on what we think. Using the lighting as an example, if it is 

creating a nuisance to an adjacent residential neighborhood, we might want to make that 

a priority.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  Every development is going to be different, so it could be very 

subjective. What we deem and what the developer deems as a need to address first. They 

may go the cheap route. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I guess I’m asking who should prevail because I think almost always, 

it’s going to be a different developer. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Staff should always prevail over the developer because the developer 

will probably choose the less expensive option. I don’t know why this is in my head, but I 

wonder if this topic came up in one of the sessions. If not, it should. This seems ripe for a 

session. I think it did come up last year, but I can’t be sure. That may be something to 

look into. They APA may already have covered this with a good, viable suggestion. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That’s true. They have digitized a lot of their PAS reports, so it makes it 

easier to scan through them and do a word search. 

 

Comm. Hoyt: These language changes that might eventually be made would exist where? 

  

Mr. Klein:  In this case, it would primarily be in this section to address the characteristics 

of use. This is a much larger section that gets into a use that is nonconforming, This is 

one we run into more than the rest of them. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Theoretically, you might include a sentence or two in your changes. Let’s 

say it’s a formula based on improvements being made to the site, and the applicant would 

work in conjunction with staff to create a plan for it.  

 

Mr. Klein:  Would you want a certain threshold? If they are expanding in phases, would 

you have a percentage at which they would need to come into full compliance?  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Personally, I would think there would be a critical mass point, but I don’t 

know what that would be. The changes would be so significant that a piecemeal approach 

to bringing this into compliance wouldn’t make sense, but I don’t really know what the 

magic number would be.  

 

Mr. Klein:  We’ll try to do some more research as far as the planning literature. We’ll 

also see what other cities are doing as well.  
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Chairman Elkins:  I’ll be interested to see how you draft that up. Richard, does Kansas 

City, Missouri have anything in this space? I would think they would have more issues 

with this than the Kansas suburbs would. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They’re a bit more tolerant or whatever you want to call it. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  We’ll maybe need to find other suburbs in the country that mirror the 

age of Leawood. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That was pretty much all that we have. The first couple were almost 

housekeeping. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  One addition I would like to throw out on the table to see if people 

want to talk about is in the mixed-use context, we see a number of instances where the 

applicant is proposing mixed use, but it is fairly obvious that one of the uses is more 

attractive than the other. This goes back to before anyone else was on the commission, 

but I know there was a useful tool for Park Place. There was a development agreement 

that had limitations on how much of the commercial space could be utilized without 

building some of the residential portions. I know we raised this with a developer but got 

huge pushback, which gave me pause for concern as to whether or not we’ve put enough 

enforcement mechanisms into our mixed use to assure that we’ll actually get the correct 

ratios, especially with market fluctuations. Developers could then ask for alterations in 

the ratios based on the market. What do you think about requiring more in the way of 

development plans when it comes to mixed use? Is that overregulating? Should we let the 

developers allow the market to dictate what goes in? 

 

Mr. Klein:  That is typically what we hear from the development community. I think the 

risk is the developers like to do what is hot at the time. For mixed use, it doesn’t seem 

like that works very well. What we’re trying to do is create a mix of uses that integrated 

and walkable. When they just want to do that one section, they typically will build 

residential in one area and not really know what they will put in the other areas. No 

matter what, it will be separated and isolated. Unless it requires something to be 

developed together with a mix of uses, there is a chance that it won’t. Parkway Plaza is a 

good example. It is mixed use, but all the residential is behind 134th Street, and all the 

commercial is separate. The residential hasn’t developed, and there isn’t really a 

connection.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  It seems like we need to find a way to incent the developer on both 

sides. With Park Place, did you feel that was an effective regulation that effectively 

forced them to build the residential before they built more commercial? 

 

Mr. Klein:  I don’t remember if it was 20% of the commercial could be constructed 

before residential. I think there was actually pushback because they kept saying there was 

no market for the residential. The city did keep pushing based on the agreement. 

Eventually, it seemed like the market came alongside, but I don’t think the residential 

would have come nearly as fast without the city pushing. 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 19 - February 12, 2019 

 

Chairman Elkins:  And being able to force them to come back and make the change. I 

think we modified it toward the end. 

 

Mr. Klein:  I think we did because they went beyond the 20%, and the city kept bringing 

that forward to them. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  What do the other commissioners think about that as a tool that could 

be used? Is it overregulation? I’m not sure where I stand on it. I feel like it was effective 

at Park Place, and I have concern with other developments that don’t have that same level 

of oversight. I’m sure developers will resist having those limitations put on them. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  When they come with a plan, do they usually come with a time frame of 

when they say they’re going to be doing these things? 

 

Mr. Klein:  We ask them for phasing.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  But there is nothing that requires them to do Phase 2 or Phase 3? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Correct; they can put it on the plan and say when they expect the phases to 

occur, but until it actually happens, I don’t know that we have much leverage? 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  What did the Park Place plan have that addressed this? 

 

Mr. Klein:  No more than a certain percentage of the square footage of the commercial 

use could be constructed until residential has started. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It stepped up along the way, too. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I don’t think it’s heavy-handed at all because the whole point is we 

want mixed use to flourish together. I don’t have a problem with it. I think it’s in the 

city’s best interest instead of just that they’ll do the nursing home first and then maybe 

get to the other part. I can see that coming in on some of the developments we’ve had 

where it is just a drawing with no intention to ever get there.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  They wouldn’t say that out loud. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  They wouldn’t say it out loud, but it could be their strategy just to 

appease us and appease Governing Body to get it through. Then, they will do the part that 

makes the most money for them and sit back and rest. 

 

Mr. Klein:  It does seem like some of the development community takes mixed use to 

mean that they have retail, office, and residential that aren’t really integrated. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It kind of goes to that sense of place. 
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Comm. Hoyt:  If they had that vertical integration, it would be happening together 

because a building would be built with people living on top of it. 

 

Mr. Klein:  In the 135th Street Plan, they gave us 1-2 buildings like that, but then the rest 

was not integrated.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Giving all due deference to the developer, even after the good faith 

effort, there is one use that makes sense to them but the others don’t make economic 

sense. They would say that we shouldn’t force them to build something that is going to be 

a loser. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That is what they said this last time.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  They’ll build it if the market dictates it, but who knows when that will 

be? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  The developers or attorneys come in and say that all this land is sitting 

vacant. I’m fine with it sitting vacant. I know they want to make money, but I want to put 

the right stuff in there. I don’t want something just because the land is vacant and we 

have to build on it. Look at Overland Park. I don’t want that here in Leawood. I want 

something that is going to be viable for the next 100 years for my children and my 

children’s children. I don’t think they have that in Overland Park. It’s just that they had 

land and wanted to make tax revenue on it. I see it time and time again with what they 

approve. We shouldn’t be in a rush to build something because once it’s built, we can’t 

tear it down.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  And it’s a vanishing commodity.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  I think we should go slow, make sure we have the right stuff in there, 

and adhere to the plan. If the plan isn’t viable, let’s go back and look at the plan.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I just wanted to get it out there. It’s really a matter of phasing and how 

to enforce or incent it.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  That’s been mentioned before that even if it doesn’t get built, we’re still 

okay with the percentages. I think that is another way that we can exert some influence 

on it. I never thought about it until you started raising those questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Anything else for the good of the order? 

 

Mr. Klein:  I have one more situation to discuss. Currently, the LDO requires any tree 12 

inches or larger to be replaced on a 1-1 per caliper inch basis if a site is being developed. 

There are a couple lots in Leawood with large masses of trees. The landscaping 

requirements for Leawood are fairly robust. There are certain situations where they may 

not have enough room to put all the trees on the site. They are tearing down an asset by 

removing the larger trees. There has been talk of a tree bank. If all the trees don’t fit on 
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the site, the developer could pay into a fund that would be used to plant those trees 

elsewhere in the city. Staff has been considering that as well. We might be coming to 

discuss that more with you. We don’t want to tell these property owners that they can’t 

develop their site or that they can only do a little building because of the trees. On the 

other hand, it would be great if we could get them to save as many of those signature 

trees as possible. That is part of the reason that the size of 12 inches or larger was used. Is 

that something the commission would like us to explore further? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think we are all in favor of this. It is hard. I know there are some lots 

south of 143rd Street where there is a huge tree in the middle of the lot. The only way to 

keep it would be to build the house around it. It’s a cool idea, but I’m sure it has some 

challenges. It’s sad to lose those big trees.  

 

Mr. Klein:  The ordinance was written to try to preserve some of these significant trees, 

but it seems that more often than not, the way the site is laid out, they would prefer to 

take them out. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I wonder how hard they try sometimes. I wouldn’t want to make it too 

easy for them to just buy their way out of saving the tree.  

 

Mr. Klein:  Maybe there was another caliper that we could consider, such as 40 inches. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  It seems like that is done in other cities.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Anything else? When is our next meeting? 

 

Mr. Klein:  It is on February 26th. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEETING ADJOURNED 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    February 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   February 14, 2019 
 

SMITH ESTATE – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED FINAL PLAT – Located south of 143rd 
Street and west of Mission Road – Case 07-19           **CONSENT AGENDA** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 07-19, Smith Estate – request for approval of a Revised Final Plat, 
with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant and engineer is Harold Phelps with Phelps Engineering.   

 The property is owned by Nanette and J. Douglas Smith. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plat for the Smith Estate, to replat the existing 
Hayward Estates, containing two existing lots and one tract of land, into one lot. 

 No other changes are proposed with this application.  
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned RP-A5 (Planned Rural Density Single Family Residential). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Low Density Single Family Residential. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of the property is W. 143rd Street and Merry Lea Farms subdivision 
zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential). 

 South Directly south of the property is a single family residential property zoned RP-A5 
(Planned Rural Density Residential District). 

 East Directly east of the property is Mission Road and the Steeplechase subdivision,  
zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential). 

 West Directly West of the property is vacant privately owned property zoned RP-A5 
(Planned Rural Density Residential District).  

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:   

 The lot is located south of 143rd Street and west of Mission Road. 

 The original plat was recorded in 2014, which dedicated the right-of-way (ROW) along 143rd Street and 
Mission Road. 

 The original plat has two lots and one tract, which contained a pond that was jointly owned by lots 1 
and 2. 

 The applicant proposes to replat the property to create one lot, containing 17.79 acres. 
 
FINAL PLAT: 

 A 100’ build line is platted along the north property line (corner side yard setback). 

 A 150’ build line is platted along the east property line (front yard setback). 

 The Final Plat of the Smith Estate is summarized as follows: 
 

Lot 1 Area 
774,830.23 SF 
17.79 AC 

 

Easements 
10’ Utility Easement on the north and east property lines 
15’ Utility Easement on the south and west property lines 
10’ Sanitary Sewer Easement on the south property line 
10’ Sanitary Sewer Easement at the southwest corner of the plat 

 
BULK REGULATIONS: 
 

Criteria Required 
Front Setback 150 ft. 
Corner Lot Side Setback 100 ft. 
Minimum Acres 5 
Lot Frontage 150 ft. 

 

 The plat complies with the bulk regulation requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 07-19, Smith Estate – request for approval of 
a Revised Final Plat, with the following stipulations: 
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1. The project is limited to a Revised Final Plat for the Smith Estate, containing one lot on 17.79 acres, 
zoned RP-A5. 

2. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and 
to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through two. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    February 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   February 14, 2019 
 

PLAZA POINTE – REVISED SIGN CRITERIA – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED FINAL 
SIGN PLAN – Located south of 135th Street and east of Briar Street – Case 08-19 **Consent Agenda** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 08-19, Plaza Pointe – request for approval of a Revised Final Sign 
Plan, with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is David Rayl with the Plaza Pointe Owners Association.   

 The properties are individually owned by various entities represented by the Plaza Pointe Owners 
Association. 

 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Sign Plan for Plaza Pointe to allow non-
illuminated signage within the SD-O (Planned Office) portion of the development. 
 

ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail) and SD-O (Planned Office). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Mixed Use. 
 
LOCATION: 
 

 

SD-O 

SD-CR 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North To the north is 135th Street, a major arterial street, and beyond 135th Street is 
Parkway Plaza, a Mixed Use Development comprised of retail, office, and multi-
family residential units, zoned MXD. 

 South To the south is the Church of the Resurrection, zoned Agricultural with a Special Use 
Permit for a church on 67.59 acres. 

 West To the west is Cornerstone of Leawood, a commercial development zoned SD-CR.  
Beyond is Nall Avenue.  Across Nall Avenue, is the Prairiefire development, a mixed 
use development, located within the City of Overland Park, Kansas.  

 East To the east is The Villaggio at Leawood development, a largely undeveloped project 
zoned a combination of SD-CR and SD-O. 

 
SIGNAGE:   

 The applicant is proposing to change the sign criteria for the Plaza Pointe development to allow non-
illuminated signs in the office district (SD-O) of the Plaza Pointe development. 

 The proposed guidelines also eliminate outdated illumination techniques related to neon, and specify 
that signage should be individually mounted channel letters or halo light letters.  

 Non-illuminated signage is only allowed within the SD-O (Planned Office District) of the Plaza Point 
development. 

 Externally illuminated wall signs are not allowed. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 08-19, Plaza Pointe – request for approval of 
a Revised Final Sign Plan, with the following stipulations: 
1. This application is limited to a Revised Final Plan to modify the sign criteria for the Plaza Pointe 

development, including the elimination of neon signage and the allowance of non-illuminated signage 
within the SD-O district of the development. 

2. A sign permit from the Community Development Department shall be obtained prior to installation of 
any sign.   

3. The developer/property owner agrees to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree 
to stipulations one through three. 
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Design Guidelines  
135th Street and Roe Avenue in Leawood, Kansas  

Section 4:  

General Sign Requirements  

All sign packages shall be submitted to the Landlord and his designated architect within 120 days of lease 

commencement, prior to fabrication and installation. All drawings submitted must clearly communicate 

sizes, locations, materials, lettering styles, installation details, and type of illumination and logos. If the 

Landlord rejects proposed plans, the tenant shall resubmit them within 15 days from the date of the notice 

of disapproval from Landlord, or the designated Architect, until the Landlord approves such plans. All costs 

related to the signs, such as permitting, fabrication and installation, shall be the responsibility of each 

individual Tenant. Construction of the signs shall be completed in compliance with the City of Leawood 

sign ordinance, building code requirements and the criteria within this manual. Freestanding monuments 

shall be made of materials compatible with those used on the building.  

a. Location/Review  

The location of the primary Tenant sign shall be approved by the Landlord or designated Architect prior 

to installation. All sign requests must first be reviewed by the Landlord to insure that the requested sign 

meets the approved criteria and that the style and theme of the office development is maintained. 

Overall sign age area shall conform to .local ordinances and codes.  

Allowable size for tenant signage shall conform to the following limitations based on square  

footage:  

25,000 S.F. and up - 42"  

6,000 S.F. and up - 30"  

Below 6,000 S.P. - 24"  

All proposed signage shall conform to all stipulations listed in this manual. Tenant shall submit signage 

design for review by the owner, the designated Architect and the City of Leawood.  

b. Typography  

The Tenant sign shall be all individual letters, within the approved space above the Tenant premises. 

The typography shall be upper or lower case letters. No script lettering shall be permitted unless it is 

part of the established trademark of the Tenant.  
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Design Guidelines  
135th Street and Roe Avenue in Leawood, Kansas  

National or Regional Tenants shall be permitted to use their standard typography logo script and logos 

(provided logos meet the local sign ordinances and building codes) which have been used nationwide. 

No audible, flashing, or animated signs shall be permitted.  

c. Materials  

Letter faces shall be fabricated from flat, smooth one-eight inch (1/8") Plexiglas. Letter returns shall be 

fabricated of .090 aluminum with .063 aluminum letter backs. Retainers shall be one-inch (1") trimcap 

or the equivalent and match the return. Sign lettering shall be illuminated with neon tubing. Appropriate 

transformers shall power this tubing. The depth of any lettering shall be 5". The color of the returns 

shall be a semi-gloss black enamel finish. Exposed neon signage shall be subject to approval by the 

Landlord, the designated Architect and the City of Leawood.  

d. Illumination 

Signage shall be individually mounted internally illuminated channel letters, or halo light individual   

letters. Externally illuminated wall signs are permitted. 

 

Non-illuminated wall signs with individual mounted letters may be approved only within the SD-O 

(Planned Office) district of the Plaza Point development. 

 
d. Color  

Each sign letter shall be of a color submitted to and approved by the Landlord, the designated Architect 

and the City of Leawood. Secondary colors which border, accent, or otherwise are incidental to the 

primary sign colors shall be accepted, subject to the approval by the Landlord and the City of Leawood. 

The Landlord reserves the right to reject colors, which are deemed inappropriate. Any national Tenant 

with specific corporate signage colors will be allowed to use these signage colors provided they are in 

use at the majority of the companies other facilities.  

e. Installation Requirements  

The Tenant identification sign shall be centered within the sign space above or in front of the Tenant 

premises. No part of the sign shall be closer than 24" to the centerline of adjacent Tenant wall. No part 

of the sign shall extend beyond the Tenant's sign area. All signage letters shall be mounted to the 

parapet with concealed fasteners. Aluminum clip angles shall be attached to each letter using aluminum 

mounting studs to attach letters to surface. The maximum height and dimensions for letters in the body 

of the signs shall be pursuant to approved plans and specifications. All letters shall be flush mounted to 

masonry sign panel and no signs perpendicular to fascia of exterior canopy are allowed. All signs and 

their installation shall comply with all local building and electrical codes and must bear the 
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Underwriters Laboratory specifications. Electrical service to all signs shall be on Tenant's meter at 

Tenant's expense. All signs shall be connected to Landlord's switch device in order to allow uniform 

periods of lighting. Tenant shall be responsible for the installation and maintenance of all signs. Tenant 

shall be liable for the operation of Tenant's sign. Tenant's sign contractors shall repair any damage 

caused by said contractor's work or by its agents or  
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    February 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   February 14, 2019 
 

TOWN CENTER CROSSING – LOVESAC – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A FINAL PLAN FOR 
CHANGES TO THE FAÇADE OF A TENANT SPACE – Located south of 119th Street and east of Roe 
Avenue – Case 09-19             **CONSENT AGENDA** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 09-19, Town Center Crossing – Lovesac – request for approval of a 
Final Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant Space, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Tim Schenk with Elder-Jones. 

 The property is owned by Leawood Plaza LLC. 

 The architect is Lino Picnic with WJCA.Inc. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Final Plan to alter the storefront system, including exterior 
mullions and relocation of the front doorway, of the tenant space located in space NO. A105, on the 
western end of the main retail center of Town Center Crossing, in the SD-CR zoning district. 

 No other changes are proposed with this application. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 119th Street is Camelot Court Shopping Center, zoned SD-CR 
(Planned General Retail). 

 South Directly south of Tomahawk Creek Parkway is open space, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation). 

 East Directly east of Tomahawk Creek Parkway is open space, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation). 

 West Directly west is Roe Avenue and Hawthorne Plaza, a retail development within 
Overland Park, Kansas. 

 
ELEVATIONS:   

 Tenant space A105 was previously occupied by Everything But Water. 

 The applicant proposes to alter the storefront by installing a new storefront window system with clear 
glass and dark bronze metal surround with a 1” clear insulated glazing.  

 A teal colored powder coated surround is proposed to accent the storefront system. Dark wood 
porcelain tile will border the storefront. 

 No changes to exterior lighting are proposed. 

 The existing metal canopy structure will remain. 

 No other changes are proposed with the plan. The brick façade/masonry of the exterior building will 
not be altered. 

  
SIGNAGE:   

 Town Center Crossing has sign criteria recommended by the Planning Commission and approved by 
the Governing Body. 

 Signage for Lovesac will be approved administratively through a separate application. 
 
LIGHTING: 

 Existing recessed downlights are located underneath the canopy. 

 There are no proposed changes to lighting.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 09-19, Town Center Crossing – Lovesac – 
request for approval of a Final Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant Space, with the following 
stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to changes to the exterior of Space NO. A105, Lovesac storefront, within the 

Town Center Crossing development, zoned SD-CR. 
2. The project shall comply with the design guidelines for Town Center Crossing.   
3. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
4. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through four. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:   February 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:  February 18, 2019 
 

HILLS OF LEAWOOD SINGLE FAMILY SUBDIVISION - REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED 
PRELIMINARY PLAN, REVISED PRELIMINARY PLAT, FINAL PLAN AND FINAL PLAT - Located 
north of 151st Street and east of Mission Road - Case 01-19              **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends approval of Case 01-19, Hills of Leawood Single Family Subdivision - request for 
approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, Revised Preliminary Plat, Final Plan and Final Plat, with the 
stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant/property owner is Mark Simpson with Leawood Hills Development, LLC. 

 The engineer is Tim Tucker with Phelps Engineering, Inc. 

 The landscape architect is Jason Meier  with Meier Landscape Architecture, LLC 
  
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, Revised Preliminary Plat, Final 
Plan and Final Plat for the first and second phases of the Hills of Leawood single family subdivision.  

 The Hills of Leawood subdivision will include a total of 70 single family residential lots and 8 tracts on 
44.16 acres, for a density of 1.59 dwelling units/acre. 

 The first phase of the development will include 40 single family residential lots and 7 Tracts on 25.90 
acres of land for a density of 1.54 dwelling units per acres.  Tract H is the location of the second 
phase of the project area. The second phase of the development will include 30 single family 
residential lots and 1 tract on 18.20 acres of land, for a density of 1.65 dwelling units/acre. 

 The third phase of the development will include an amenity area along with a trail system that runs 
north towards Ironwoods Park and a dry detention basin. 
  

LOCATION: 

 

PHASE 1 

PHASE 2 

PHASE 3 
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ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Low Density Residential. 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:  

 North To the north is Ironwoods Park owned by the City of Leawood, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation).  

 South To the south is 151st Street and some single family lots, which have been developed 
along the north side of 151st Street as part of the Mission Heights subdivision. Further to 
south, across 151st Street, is the single family subdivision of The Reserve at Ironhorse, 
zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential District). Beyond is Ironhorse Golf 
Course, owned by the City of Leawood, zoned REC (Planned Recreation).  

 East Directly to the east is a single family residential subdivision of Villas of Ironwoods, 
currently under construction, within the City of Overland Park, Kansas.  

 West To the west is the remainder of the single family residential subdivision of Mission 
Heights, zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District). Beyond 
Mission Heights and across Mission Road, is the single family residential subdivision of 
Pavilions of Leawood, zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential District).  

 
HISTORY: 

 A preliminary plat and preliminary plan for the Hills of Leawood was approved by the Governing Body 
with case 129-17 (Ordinance #2880) on March 19, 2018. 

 A final plat and final plan for the first phase of the Hills of Leawood was approved by the Governing 
Body with case 35-18 (Resolution #4944) on May 21, 2018. 

 A revised preliminary plat, revised preliminary plan, final plat and final plan was submitted with this 
application to correct errors in the land survey that was submitted previously. The corrections include 
shifting the plan and associated lots to the south and west.  It also added additional land area to the 
west to include the detention basin under the power lines on the west side of the project area. 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, Revised Preliminary Plat, Final 
Plan and Final Plat for the first and second phases of the Hills of Leawood single family subdivision.  

 The Hills of Leawood subdivision will include a total of 70 single family residential lots and 8 tracts on 
44.16 acres, for a density of 1.59 dwelling units/acre. 

 The first phase of the development will include 40 single family residential lots and 7 Tracts on 25.90 
acres of land for a density of 1.54 dwelling units per acres.  Tract H is the location of the second 
phase of the project area. The second phase of the development will include 30 single family 
residential lots and 1 tract on 18.20 acres of land, for a density of 1.65 dwelling units/acre. 

 The third phase of the development will include an amenity area along with a trail system that runs 
north towards Ironwoods Park and a dry detention basin. 

 In compliance with the Leawood Development Ordinance, the streets within the development shall be 
public.  

 Per City standards, public streets are required to have a right-of-way of 50’ and pavement 26’ back of 
curb to back of curb.  
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 Concrete sidewalks that are 5’ in width are proposed to be located generally along one side of the 
streets, however, the two southernmost cul-de-sacs will have cul-de-sacs on both sides. No sidewalk 
is shown to be constructed along the north side of 151st Street. The sidewalk along 151st Street will 
be constructed in the future with the widening of 151st Street. 

 Adjacent to the north common property line with Ironwoods Park, the applicant is proposing a 10’ 
Tree Preservation Easement. Along with the Tree Preservation easement, a 10’ utility easement will 
be on the south side of the Tree Preservation easement. 

 A black, wrought iron style, metal fence will be installed along the south side of the Tree Preservation 
easement, separating the Tree Preservation easement from the 10’ utility easement and adjacent 
single family homes. The developer has stated that they have an agreement with KCP&L to only 
work on the most southern 5’ of the Utility Easement. 

 The main entrance into the residential subdivision is off of 151st Street and is divided by a 
landscaped median that varies in width from 4’ to 40’. 

 The main entrance into the development is flanked on each side with a large common area tract on 
each side (Tract A and Tract B). 

 Two trail connections to Ironwoods Park are proposed along the northern property line of the project. 

 The applicant is proposing Tract E, a long 10’ wide tract between lots 27 and 28, which leads to 
Ironwoods Park to the north. The applicant is showing a 5’ brick paver path connection between 
Ironwoods Park and the street within the proposed Hills of Leawood.  

 An 8’ asphalt path is proposed within Tract I to connect the proposed amenity area with the trail 
system within Ironwoods Park. 

 The portion of these trail connections that are within Ironwoods Park shall be 8’ asphalt trails. 

 Access to the park will be controlled by electronic gates, which will be timed for park hours that 
change twice per year (April 1st - October 1st, 6:00 AM to 11:00 PM and October 2nd - March 31st, 
7:00 AM to 9:00 PM). Theses hours are subject to change with changes to park hours. 

 The applicant is proposing Tract C between Lots 29 and 30 along the eastern boundary of the 
subdivision. A 5’ brick paver path connection is shown within this tract that provides a pedestrian 
connection between Lots 21 and 22 of the Villas of Ironwoods within Overland Park to the adjacent 
street within the proposed subdivision of the Hills of Leawood. 

 An entry monument is proposed on each side of the main entrance off 151st Street along with 
monument walls on the east and west sides of the entrance. The east monument will contain signage 
with the development name and a logo.  The western monument will not have signage. 

 A singular monument column is proposed within the median of the entry drive off of 151st Street. 

 Storm water retention is proposed on Tract D, at the northern terminus of the main entrance off of 
151st Street and will include a pond with a waterfall to be a height of 7’ 9” tall and constructed of 
natural limestone. 

 Tracts G and F are small tracks located adjacent to the southwest boundary of Lot 9.  

 Tract I is a tract located along the western boundary of the subdivision. Tract I will include a dry 
detention basin to the northwest of the subdivision. The dry detention basin will be constructed during 
the second phase of the project, along with the 8’ wide asphalt path that extends from the terminus of 
the westernmost cul-de-sac to Ironwoods Park to the north. Tract I will also include an amenity area, 
located just southwest of lots 44 and 45 along with pedestrian connections connecting the amenity 
area to Ironwoods Park. The amenity area and connecting 8’ wide asphalt path will be constructed in 
a future third phase of development that will require recommendation by the Planning Commission 
and Governing Body as part of a Revised Final Plan. 
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 Adjacent to the east common property line with the single family residential development within 
Overland Park, a 10’ Tree Preservation Easement is proposed. A total of nine lots shall be adjacent 
to this 10’ Tree Preservation Easement with the exception of Tract C.  No fence is proposed on the 
east side of this Tree Preservation easement.   

 
FINAL PLAT: 

 The applicant has submitted two separate plats for the different phases of the development.  

 The first plat includes 40 single family lots and eight (8) tracts with the first phase of the Hills of 
Leawood subdivision. The first plat includes the second phase of the development within Tract H.  

 The second plat includes 30 single family lots and one (1) tract with the second phase of the Hills of 
Leawood subdivision.  

 The residential lots have an average lot size of 19,625 sq. ft. for the entire subdivision. The smallest 
lot is 15,000 sq. ft. and the largest is 33,099 sq. ft.  

 The applicant is proposing eight common area tracts for the entire development, which shall be 
maintained by the Homes Association. The tracts are as follows: 

 
Lot Sq.ft. Acres Area 
Tract A (Phase 1) 26,683 0.61 Southeast corner of development, west of the proposed 

entrance off of 151st Street  
Tract B (Phase 1)     47,217 1.08 Southeast corner of development, east of the entrance off of 

151st Street.  
Tract C (Phase 1) 7,483.08 0.17 Along the eastern boundary between lots 29 and 30. 
Tract D (Phase 1)    63,642 1.46 Directly north of the main entrance off of 151st Street between 

Lots 22 and 23. 
Tract E (Phase 1)      1,664 0.03 Directly south of Ironwoods Park between Lots 27 and 28. 
Tract F (Phase 1) 1,311.35 0.03 Located to the southeast boundary of Lot 9. 
Tract G (Phase 1) 1,191.43 0.03 Located to the southwest boundary of Lot 9. 
Tract H (Phase 1)  792,710 18.20 Includes the second phase of the Hills of Leawood residential 

subdivision. 
Tract I (Phase 2) 79,424.22 1.82 Western boundary of the subdivision. 

 

 The development includes the following easements. 

 
BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the project: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 
Front Setback 35’ 35’ Complies 
Side Setback 15’ 12.75’ Deviation Requested As 

Shown on Plans 
Corner Lot Street Side Setback 30’ 30’ Complies  

Easement Location 
10’ Tree Preservation Easement Adjacent to northern property line of the development, with the exception of Tract E. 
10’ Tree Preservation Easement Adjacent to eastern property line of the development, with the exception of Tract C. 
10’ Utility Easement Directly south of the Tree Preservation Easement along the north property line. 
20’ Drainage Easement Located between lots 20 and 21, and lots 24 and 25 
26’ Sanitary Sewer Easement North of 151st Street 
4’ Sidewalk Easement Adjacent to the Public Right-of-Way where the sidewalk has been delineated. 
100’ KCP&L Easement Located along the western boundary of the subdivision. 
60’ KCP&L Easement Located east of the 100’ KCP&L Easement on the western boundary of the 

subdivision. 
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Rear Setback* 30’ or required calculation if 
deeper than 150’ 

Min. 25.5’ Deviation Requested As 
Shown on Plans 

Lot Size 15,000 sq. ft. or average of all lot 
sizes within 

300’ (38,000 sq. ft.) 

Minimum of 
15,000 sq.ft. 
Average = 

19,625 sq. ft. 

Complies Variance 
BZA Granted a Variance 
Not to Meet Average Lot 

Size within 300’ 
Lot Frontage 100’ 100’ Complies 
Minimum Lot Width 100’ 100’ Complies 
Minimum Lot Depth 120’ 150’ Complies 
Lot Depth to Width Ratio 3:1 3:1 Complies 
Cul-de-sac Lot Width at Curb 45’ 45’ Complies 
Cul-de-sac Lot Width at Front 
Setback 

100’ 100’ Complies 

* Leawood Development Ordinance 16-2-5.3 (D) 
 
ELEVATIONS: 

 The applicant has provided example elevations of the general types of houses that are proposed to 
be constructed within the development. 

 The houses will be constructed primarily of stucco with stone, brick, lap siding, or shingles as an 
accent.  The roofs of the homes are proposed to have either a concrete, clay or polymer roof. 

 A mixture of three and four car garages are proposed for both the manors and estates.  The roofing 
on the single family homes must meet the requirements of Section 16-2-10.3(D) of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance.  
 

LANDSCAPING:   

 The applicant is proposing a variety of shade trees to be placed along the entryway from 151st Street 
within tracts A and B which will include Blackgum, October Glory Maple, Red Oak, Riverbirch and 
White Oak shade trees. Along with the shade trees, a number of evergreen and ornamental trees are 
also proposed.  

 Street trees are proposed along public streets at a rate of one tree per 35’. These trees will include 
Blackgum, October Glory Maple, Red Oak, Shademaster Honey Locust and Lacebark Elm. 

 With the exception of Tract E, where a 5’ wide brick path to be constructed between Lots 27 and 28 
to provide access to Ironwoods Park, a 10’ Tree Preservation Easement is placed along the northern 
boundary that is adjacent to the Ironwoods Park.  

 With the exception of Tracts B and C a 10’ Tree Preservation Easement is placed along the eastern 
boundary of the subdivision. 

 The trees within the Tree Preservation Easement that are to be removed have been inventoried with 
a Tree Inventory Plan, and only the removal of dead or hazardous trees and/or stumps are to be 
removed with the supervision of the Superintendent of Parks and an expert consultant hired by the 
developer. 

 The applicant has provided a detail that shows that sidewalks are proposed 10’ from the back of 
curb. This will allow enough space for street trees to be planted between the back of curb and 
sidewalk. Per the City Code street trees should be planted a minimum of 5’ from the back of curb and 
from adjacent sidewalks.  

 The islands within the cul-de-sacs are shown to be planted with Riverbirch trees. 
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LIGHTING: 

 The applicant is proposing to use the City’s standard street light fixture, a 30’ spun aluminum 
pole with 6-foot arm, Model number AELATBO-20BLEDE70 R2, 4000K Fixture. 

 VISTA Model 3006 ground mounted landscape lights are proposed to be ground mounted in 
front of the monument sign located on the east side of the entrance from 151st Street to up-light 
the monument sign at night. 
 

SIGNAGE:  

 A single monument sign is proposed to be constructed at the entrance of the proposed development 
facing 151st Street on Tract B with a continuation of monument walls, constructed of the same natural 
stone veneer as the other monument walls, heading north into the subdivision. On the opposite side 
an additional curved wall is to be constructed without signage. 

 The signs will be constructed of natural beige stone veneer and will be created of three connected 
wall sections that are connected front to back. The height of the most easterly wall is 4’. The middle 
wall that will contain the signage will be 11’ 6” tall. The most westerly wall is 6’6” in height. The entire 
monument sign will be a length of 72’. 

 The monument sign will have the subdivision name “THE HILLS OF LEAWOOD” in black poly sign 
letters attached to the face of the monument with a 3” gap. The monument wall will also contain a 
custom painted aluminum community logo. 

 The applicant is also proposing a column in the middle of the main entrance median that will be 6’ tall 
and 4’ wide with a 12” tall stone cap. This column will be of the same construction type as the 
monuments on either side of the 151st Street entrance. 

 
INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held on Thursday, February 7th, 2019. A meeting summary and sign-in 
sheet are attached. 
 

BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS: 

 On October 25, 2017, the Board of Zoning Appeals (BZA) granted the applicant a variance 
from Section 16-2-5.3(D) R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District): Bulk 
Regulations, that provided that the development must maintain an average lot size for the 
overall development of 19,000 sq.ft., however, the minimum lot size of any given lot could not 
be less than 15,000 sq.ft. The variance allows the lots within the subdivision to not have to 
meet the requirement that all new lots must be a minimum of the average lot size (up to a 
maximum of 1 acre) of lots that are within 300’ of any lot line. 

 The proposed development meets the variance requirement approved by the Board of Zoning 
Appeals. 

 
REQUESTED DEVIATIONS: 

 The following deviations may only be granted when compensating common open space (not less 
than 1:1) ratio is provided elsewhere in the project and where there is ample evidence that the 
deviation will not adversely affect neighboring property.  The area of the deviations requested by 
applicant totals 0.67 acres. The applicant has provided sufficient compensating open space required 
by the requested deviations within the common area tracts provided. 

 The applicant is requesting the following deviations from the Leawood Development Ordinance: 

 Interior Side Yard Setbacks:  
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o Section 16-2-5.3 (D) R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential): Bulk 
Regulations requires that side setbacks to be a minimum of 15’. The applicant is 
proposing a deviation to allow 12.75’ side yard setbacks on 32 of the lots to allow for 
side entry garages. Section 16-3-9 (A)(5)(b) provides that a deviation to the setback of 
the buildings, excluding side and rear yard setbacks for uses in RP-2, RP-3, RP-4, from 
the property line other than a public street, may be reduced to 85% of the standard 
requirement. 

o The development meets the requirements of the deviation 

 Rear Yard Setbacks:  
o Section 16-2-5.3 (D) R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential): Bulk 

Regulations requires that rear yard setbacks to be a minimum of 30’ for lots 150’ in depth 
or less, and for lots greater than 150’, the minimum rear yard setback shall be as 
calculated by the following formula, 70% X (Lot Depth -150) +30. The applicant is 
requesting this deviation for 37 lots within the development. Section 16-3-9(A)(5)(b) 
provides that a deviation to the setback of buildings, excluding side and rear yard 
setbacks for uses in RP-2, RP-3, RP-4, from a property line other than a public street, 
may be reduced to 85% of the standard requirement.  

o The development meets the requirements of the deviation 
 

IMPACT FEES: 

 Park Impact Fee: 

 Phase I: The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee in the amount of $300.00 per 
dwelling unit prior to the recording of the Phase 1 Final Plat, estimated currently at $12,000 
($300.00 x 40 dwelling units). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 Phase II: The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee in the amount of $300.00 per 
dwelling unit prior to the recording of the Phase 2 Final Plat, estimated currently at $9,000 
($300.00 x 30 dwelling units). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee: 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee prior to the 
recording of the Final Plat, estimated currently at $69,000 ($625.00 x 44.16 acres x 2.5 miles 
from 135th Street) 

 Street Fee: The applicant/owner shall be responsible for a Street Fee of $311 per linear foot of 
frontage along 151st Street, estimated currently at $300,426 ($311.00 x 966 lineal feet). This amount 
is subject to change by Ordinance. 
 

GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The area is characterized by an arterial street (Mission Road) and a single-family residential 
neighborhood (Mission Heights) to the west; an arterial street (151st Street) and a single-family residential 
neighborhood (Mission Heights) on the south; a city park (Ironwoods Park) directly to the north, and a 
single-family residential neighborhood located in the City of Overland Park to the east.  
 
The original plat for Mission Heights was recorded in 1961 prior to annexation by the City of Leawood.  
Since the plat was recorded, lots along the periphery have been constructed; however, interior lots 
remain vacant and roads interior to the subdivision have not been constructed.   
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The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North To the north is Ironwoods Park owned by the City of Leawood, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation).  

 South To the south is 151st Street and some single family lots which have been developed 
along the north side of 151st Street as part of the Mission Heights subdivision. Further to 
south, across 151st Street, is the single family subdivision of Reserve at Ironhorse, zoned 
RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential District). Beyond is Ironhorse Golf Course, 
owned by the City of Leawood, zoned REC (Planned Recreation).  

 East Directly to the east is a single family residential subdivision of Villas of Ironwoods, 
currently under construction, within the City of Overland Park, Kansas.  

 West To the west is the single family residential subdivision of Mission Heights, zoned R-1 
(Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District). Beyond Mission Heights and 
across Mission Road, is the single family residential subdivision of Pavilions of Leawood, 
zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential District).  

 
The Suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
This property is suitable for the uses to which it has been restricted as it provides for low density 
residential on this site.  The property has been platted for low density residential since 1961 and is 
surrounded by single family residential on the south, east, and west with a public park to the north.   
 
The time for which the property has been vacant: 
The plat for Mission Heights was recorded on the subject property in the 1961.  Since that time, 
approximately 12 lots were developed along Mission Road and 151st Street, leaving all interior lots and 
roads undeveloped.  Currently, the vacant land is heavy with areas of tall prairie grass and hardwood 
forest.   
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 
Although this site is suitable for low density residential development, stipulations are necessary to ensure 
a high quality project that fits with the surrounding uses. 
 
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
Denial of the application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safety, or welfare.  The use 
proposed is appropriate for this site; therefore, denial of the application may place a hardship on the 
property owner.    
 
The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
City Staff recommends approval with the recommended stipulations. 
 
Conformance of the requested change to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The Comprehensive Plan designates this site as Low Density Residential, which matches the proposed 
use of the property. 
 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 A curbed cul-de-sac with sign stating there will be a future street connection shall be constructed at 
the western terminus of 150th Street for a vehicular turn-around. The cul-de-sac shall be curbed and 
constructed without an island being that the island would have to be removed when the connecting 
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street to Mission Road is to be constructed. The applicant will dedicate the right-of-way for the cul-de-
sac to the City of Leawood.  (Stipulation 5)   

 The amenity area located within Tract I will be submitted as a separate Final Plan. At that time, the 
applicant shall be required to provide all details of the amenities to be placed within the tract area. No 
items within the amenity area are proposed within this application. (Stipulation 6) 

 The applicant has provided an inventory of the trees within the 10’ tree preservation easement along 
the north property line. The Tree Inventory Plan has located a total of 17 trees within the tree 
preservation easement that are to be removed. Of the 17 trees noted in the Tree preservation 
easement, one was a stump, and seven others were either dead or partially dead. The remaining 
trees are to be removed to allow construction of the fence.  The removal of trees will be done in 
coordination with the Superintendent of Parks and an expert consultant hired by the developer. 
(Stipulation 16) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 01-19, Hills of Leawood - request for a 
Revised Preliminary Plat, Revised Preliminary Plan, Final Plat and Final Plan, with the following 
stipulations: 
1. The project shall be limited to 70 lots and 8 tracts on 44.16 acres with a density of 1.59 dwelling units 

per acre for the overall development. The first plat of the development will include 40 single family 
residential lots and 7 Tracts on 25.90  acres of land for a density of 1.54 dwelling units per acre. Tract 
H within the first phase contains the area for the second phase of the development. The second plat 
of the development will include 30 single family residential lots and 1 tract on 18.20 acres of land, for 
a density of 1.65 dwelling units/acre. 

2. The applicant shall be responsible for the following: 
a. The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee in the amount of $300.00 per dwelling 

unit prior to the recording of the Phase 1 Final Plat, estimated currently at $12,000 ($300.00 x 40 
dwelling units). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

b. The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee in the amount of $300.00 per dwelling 
unit prior to the recording of the Phase 2 Final Plat, estimated currently at $9,000 ($300.00 x 30 
dwelling units). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

c. The applicant shall be responsible for a South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee prior to the 
recording of the Final Plat, estimated currently at $69,000 ($625.00 x 44.16 acres x 2.5 miles 
from 135th Street.  

d. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for a Street Fee of $311 per linear foot of frontage 
along 151st Street, estimated currently at $300,426 ($311.00 x 966 lineal feet). This amount is 
subject to change by Ordinance. 

3. The project shall include the following deviations: 
a. An interior side yard setback of 12.75’ for lots 23-40 and 57-70 
b. Up to a 15% reduction in rear yard setbacks for lots 1-3, 8, 10, 15-18, 21-22, 25-26, 39-40, 45-

56, 58, 61 and 63-65. 
4. Prior to Governing Body consideration, a permanent easement shall be granted to the City of 

Leawood and recorded at Johnson County for vehicular access, from the western terminus of  150th 
Street (within Hills of Leawood, Second Plat) to the existing public right-of-way extending from 
Mission Road. 

5. Prior to Governing Body consideration the applicant shall provide updated plans showing a curbed 
cul-de-sac with sign stating there will be a future street connection located at the western terminus of 
150th Street. This cul-de-sac shall be constructed with a curb meeting Public Works standards. An 
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island is not required for this cul-de-sac being that the island would be removed when the road is to 
be extended to Mission Road. The right-of-way for the cul-de-sac shall be dedicated to the City of 
Leawood. 

6. The amenity area within Tract I shall be submitted as a separate final plan to be approved by the 
Governing Body at a future date. No items within the amenity area are proposed with this application. 

7. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines 
adjacent to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground. This must be 
done prior to final occupancy of any building within the project. This does not include existing high 
voltage overhead power transmission lines on the western edge of the development. 

8. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all above ground facilities shall be placed in the rear yard 
wherever practical. If locating these facilities in the rear yard is not practical or appropriate, as 
determined by the City Engineer, then such facilities shall be at least 25’ behind the right-of-way. 

9. All new utility boxes with a height of less than 55 inches, a footprint of equal to or less than the 15 
square feet in area, or a pad footprint of equal or less than 15 square feet, may be installed only with 
the prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance with this 
Ordinance.  

10. All new utility boxes with a height of 55 inches or greater, a footprint greater than 15 square feet in 
area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 square feet in area shall be authorized only by approval of a 
special use permit prior to construction. 

11. Street trees within the development shall meet all standards of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance. 

12. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance Section 16-4-7.3 (B1), street trees shall be provided at a 
rate of one tree per 35 feet of street frontage within the landscaped setback abutting said street 
frontage. 

13. Sidewalks shall be minimum of 10’ from the back of curb to allow sufficient width for street trees to be 
planted.  

14. Per the Leawood City Code street trees shall be planted a minimum of 5’ from the back of street curb 
and adjacent sidewalks. 

15. All pedestrian connections, including sidewalks and trails, shall comply with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 

16. The detention/retention areas within Tract D and Tract I shall be sloped to a maximum of 5:1 average 
on at least one side to allow easier egress from the pond. 

17. Pedestrian paths within Tracts C and E of the Hills of Leawood shall be a minimum of 5’ in width and 
shall be constructed of brick pavers.  The pedestrian path within Tract I shall be an asphalt trail a 
minimum of 8’ in width. 

18. All trail connections constructed within Ironwoods Park shall be a minimum of 8’ in width and 
constructed to city standards   

19. The trees within the Tree Preservation Easement that are to be removed have been inventoried with 
a Tree Inventory Plan, and only the removal of dead or hazardous trees and/or stumps are to be 
removed with the approval of the Superintendent of Parks. 

20. A 5’ tall, black wrought iron style, fence shall be constructed along the south boundary of the Tree 
Preservation Easement along the north property line of the development. 

21. All landscaped common areas including cul-de-sac medians shall be irrigated. 
22. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the 

public works memo dated February 21, 2019 on file with the City of Leawood Planning and 
Development Department, prior to issuance of the Final Plat 
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23. The Owner/Applicant must establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all 
common areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and 
storm water system improvements. The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with each 
lot in the development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for such 
maintenance, repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable for 
such maintenance, repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace such 
common areas or common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, 
repairing and replacing said common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the City 
of Leawood will be jointly and severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility of the 
owner(s) of such lot. 

24. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
25. All streets within the subdivision shall be public. The developer or Homes Association shall maintain 

any planting or statuary within the street right of way. 
26. All monument signs shall be placed within a common area designated as a separate tract of land to 

be maintained by the homes association, shall be located outside of all sight triangles, and shall be a 
minimum of 5’ from property lines and sidewalks. 

27. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 
a) All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b) All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
c) Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
d) All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 

28. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior to 
final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape plan 
and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

29. Construction traffic shall only be allowed into the subdivision off of 151st Street.   
30. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
31. A sign permit from the Planning Department shall be obtained prior to installation of any signs. 
32. An erosion control plan for both temporary and permanent measures to be taken during and after 

construction shall be required at the time of application for building permit. 
33. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect except 

to the extent expressly modified herein. 
34. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
35. In addition to the stipulation listed in the report, the developer/applicant agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to 
stipulations one through thirty-five. 
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I, Thomas Dwayne Phelps, hereby certify that in November 2018, I or someone under my direct supervision have made a survey of the above described tract of land and the results of said survey are correctly represented on this plat.
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FLOOD NOTE: THIS  PROPERTY LIES WITHIN ZONE X, DEFINED AS AREAS DETERMINED TO BE OUTSIDE THE 0.2% ANNUAL CHANCE FLOODPLAIN, AS SHOWN ON THE FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP PREPARED BY THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY FOR THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, COMMUNITY NO. 200167 G, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, PANEL NO. 20091C0100G, AND DATED AUGUST 3, 2009.
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LEGAL DESCRIPTION Resurvey and replat of Tract H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  and replat of Tract H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing and replat of Tract H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  replat of Tract H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing replat of Tract H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  of Tract H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing of Tract H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  Tract H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing Tract H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing H, HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing HILLS OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing OF LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing LEAWOOD, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing  Johnson County, Kansas, containing Johnson County, Kansas, containing  County, Kansas, containing County, Kansas, containing  Kansas, containing Kansas, containing  containing containing 18.1981 acres, more or less, of replatted land. The undersigned proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  undersigned proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the undersigned proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  to be subdivided in the manner shown on the to be subdivided in the manner shown on the  be subdivided in the manner shown on the be subdivided in the manner shown on the  subdivided in the manner shown on the subdivided in the manner shown on the  in the manner shown on the in the manner shown on the  the manner shown on the the manner shown on the  manner shown on the manner shown on the  shown on the shown on the  on the on the  the the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "HILLS OF LEAWOOD, SECOND PLAT". DEDICATION The undersigned proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  undersigned proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels undersigned proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  ways and thoroughfares, all parcels ways and thoroughfares, all parcels  and thoroughfares, all parcels and thoroughfares, all parcels  thoroughfares, all parcels thoroughfares, all parcels  all parcels all parcels  parcels parcels and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, lanes, avenues and alleys not heretofore dedicated.  An easement or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  easement or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of easement or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of  the location, construction or maintenance and use of the location, construction or maintenance and use of  location, construction or maintenance and use of location, construction or maintenance and use of  construction or maintenance and use of construction or maintenance and use of  or maintenance and use of or maintenance and use of  maintenance and use of maintenance and use of  and use of and use of  use of use of  of of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those  and similar facilities, upon over and under those and similar facilities, upon over and under those  similar facilities, upon over and under those similar facilities, upon over and under those  facilities, upon over and under those facilities, upon over and under those  upon over and under those upon over and under those  over and under those over and under those  and under those and under those  under those under those  those those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  City of Leawood, Kansas, and other City of Leawood, Kansas, and other  of Leawood, Kansas, and other of Leawood, Kansas, and other  Leawood, Kansas, and other Leawood, Kansas, and other  Kansas, and other Kansas, and other  and other and other  other other governmental entities as may be authorized by state law to use such easement for said purposes.  An easement of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  easement of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection easement of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection amenity, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection  water feature facilities and a storm water collection water feature facilities and a storm water collection  feature facilities and a storm water collection feature facilities and a storm water collection  facilities and a storm water collection facilities and a storm water collection  and a storm water collection and a storm water collection  a storm water collection a storm water collection  storm water collection storm water collection  water collection water collection  collection collection system or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", all rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", rights of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", of ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", ingress and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", and egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", egress, over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", over and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", and through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  through those area designated as "Amenity Easement", through those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  those area designated as "Amenity Easement", those area designated as "Amenity Easement",  area designated as "Amenity Easement", area designated as "Amenity Easement",  designated as "Amenity Easement", designated as "Amenity Easement",  as "Amenity Easement", as "Amenity Easement",  "Amenity Easement", "Amenity Easement",  Easement", Easement", "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance City of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance of Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance Leawood, Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance Kansas, subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  nonetheless to such easement and maintenance nonetheless to such easement and maintenance  to such easement and maintenance to such easement and maintenance  such easement and maintenance such easement and maintenance  easement and maintenance easement and maintenance  and maintenance and maintenance  maintenance maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  to be executed and authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, to be executed and authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  be executed and authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, be executed and authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  executed and authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, executed and authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  and authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, and authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, authorized between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, between the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, the undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, Leawood, Kansas which shall provide,  Kansas which shall provide, Kansas which shall provide,  which shall provide, which shall provide,  shall provide, shall provide,  provide, provide, along with other conditions, that the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  with other conditions, that the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any with other conditions, that the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  other conditions, that the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any other conditions, that the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  conditions, that the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any conditions, that the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  that the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any that the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  responsible for the operation and maintenance of any responsible for the operation and maintenance of any  for the operation and maintenance of any for the operation and maintenance of any  the operation and maintenance of any the operation and maintenance of any  operation and maintenance of any operation and maintenance of any  and maintenance of any and maintenance of any  maintenance of any maintenance of any  of any of any  any any amenity features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  water feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, water feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, the sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, sole cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor, cost and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  and expense of the undersigned proprietor, and expense of the undersigned proprietor,  expense of the undersigned proprietor, expense of the undersigned proprietor,  of the undersigned proprietor, of the undersigned proprietor,  the undersigned proprietor, the undersigned proprietor,  undersigned proprietor, undersigned proprietor,  proprietor, proprietor, their successors, heirs, assigns and the Association. An easement or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  easement or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient easement or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient  lines and all appurtenances convenient lines and all appurtenances convenient  and all appurtenances convenient and all appurtenances convenient  all appurtenances convenient all appurtenances convenient  appurtenances convenient appurtenances convenient  convenient convenient for the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer together with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer with the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer the right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer right of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer of ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer ingress and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer and egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer  designated as "Sanitary Sewer designated as "Sanitary Sewer  as "Sanitary Sewer as "Sanitary Sewer  "Sanitary Sewer "Sanitary Sewer  Sewer Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  on this plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary on this plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  this plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary this plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary plat, together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary together with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary with the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary the right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary right of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary  land as may be reasonably necessary land as may be reasonably necessary  as may be reasonably necessary as may be reasonably necessary  may be reasonably necessary may be reasonably necessary  be reasonably necessary be reasonably necessary  reasonably necessary reasonably necessary  necessary necessary to access said easement and is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  access said easement and is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration access said easement and is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  said easement and is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration said easement and is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  easement and is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration easement and is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  and is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration and is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration  or their assigns.  Alteration or their assigns.  Alteration  their assigns.  Alteration their assigns.  Alteration  assigns.  Alteration assigns.  Alteration   Alteration  Alteration Alteration of land contours will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  land contours will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said land contours will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  contours will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said contours will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said JCW.  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said   Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said Any placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  placing of improvements or planting of trees on said placing of improvements or planting of trees on said  of improvements or planting of trees on said of improvements or planting of trees on said  improvements or planting of trees on said improvements or planting of trees on said  or planting of trees on said or planting of trees on said  planting of trees on said planting of trees on said  of trees on said of trees on said  trees on said trees on said  on said on said  said said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without compensation thereof.  An easement over and through those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  easement over and through those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by easement over and through those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  over and through those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by over and through those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  and through those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by and through those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  through those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by through those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by those areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by areas designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by designated as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by as "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by "Tree Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by Preservation Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by Easement" or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by or "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by "TP/E" on this plat to be owned and maintained by  on this plat to be owned and maintained by on this plat to be owned and maintained by  this plat to be owned and maintained by this plat to be owned and maintained by  plat to be owned and maintained by plat to be owned and maintained by  to be owned and maintained by to be owned and maintained by  be owned and maintained by be owned and maintained by  owned and maintained by owned and maintained by  and maintained by and maintained by  maintained by maintained by  by by the Homes Association  No trees shall be removed from said easement without City of Leawood prior approval. No trees shall be removed from said easement without City of Leawood prior approval. The undersigned proprietor, for itself, and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  undersigned proprietor, for itself, and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above undersigned proprietor, for itself, and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  proprietor, for itself, and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above proprietor, for itself, and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  for itself, and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above for itself, and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  itself, and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above itself, and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above its successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above successors and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above and assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above assigns, hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above hereby agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above agrees that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above that the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above the respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  respective owner(s), of buildings on the above respective owner(s), of buildings on the above  owner(s), of buildings on the above owner(s), of buildings on the above  of buildings on the above of buildings on the above  buildings on the above buildings on the above  on the above on the above  the above the above  above above described tract of land shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  tract of land shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to tract of land shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  of land shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to of land shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  land shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to land shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to responsible for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to for the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to the maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to maintenance and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to and repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to repair of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to of all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to all building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to building plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to plumbing and sanitary sewer service lines common to  and sanitary sewer service lines common to and sanitary sewer service lines common to  sanitary sewer service lines common to sanitary sewer service lines common to  sewer service lines common to sewer service lines common to  service lines common to service lines common to  lines common to lines common to  common to common to  to to more than one unit, and service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  than one unit, and service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit than one unit, and service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  one unit, and service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit one unit, and service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  unit, and service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit unit, and service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  and service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit and service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit service lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit lines from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit from the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit the point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit point of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit of connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit connection at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit at the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit the building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit building to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit to the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit the point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  point of connection at the main.  Individual unit point of connection at the main.  Individual unit  of connection at the main.  Individual unit of connection at the main.  Individual unit  connection at the main.  Individual unit connection at the main.  Individual unit  at the main.  Individual unit at the main.  Individual unit  the main.  Individual unit the main.  Individual unit  main.  Individual unit main.  Individual unit  Individual unit Individual unit  unit unit tenants shall allow access to the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  shall allow access to the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of shall allow access to the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  allow access to the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of allow access to the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  access to the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of access to the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  to the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of to the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of the units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of units by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of by the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of the property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of property owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of owner and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of and associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of associates as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of as needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of needed for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of for proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of proper maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  maintenance, repair and/or replacement of maintenance, repair and/or replacement of  repair and/or replacement of repair and/or replacement of  and/or replacement of and/or replacement of  replacement of replacement of  of of plumbing lines that are common to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  lines that are common to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the lines that are common to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  that are common to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the that are common to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  are common to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the are common to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  common to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the common to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the to more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the more than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the than one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the one unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the unit.  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the In the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the event the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the property is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the is replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the replatted to allow the sale of individual units within the  to allow the sale of individual units within the to allow the sale of individual units within the  allow the sale of individual units within the allow the sale of individual units within the  the sale of individual units within the the sale of individual units within the  sale of individual units within the sale of individual units within the  of individual units within the of individual units within the  individual units within the individual units within the  units within the units within the  within the within the  the the building(s), the undersigned proprietor, its successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  the undersigned proprietor, its successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant the undersigned proprietor, its successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  undersigned proprietor, its successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant undersigned proprietor, its successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  proprietor, its successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant proprietor, its successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  its successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant its successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant successors and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant and assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant assigns shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant shall establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant establish an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  an owners association and record a restrictive covenant an owners association and record a restrictive covenant  owners association and record a restrictive covenant owners association and record a restrictive covenant  association and record a restrictive covenant association and record a restrictive covenant  and record a restrictive covenant and record a restrictive covenant  record a restrictive covenant record a restrictive covenant  a restrictive covenant a restrictive covenant  restrictive covenant restrictive covenant  covenant covenant obligating such association to repair and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  such association to repair and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from such association to repair and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  association to repair and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from association to repair and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  to repair and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from to repair and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  repair and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from repair and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from and maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from maintain all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from all building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from building plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from plumbing common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from common to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from to more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from more than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from than one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  one unit including the aforesaid service lines from one unit including the aforesaid service lines from  unit including the aforesaid service lines from unit including the aforesaid service lines from  including the aforesaid service lines from including the aforesaid service lines from  the aforesaid service lines from the aforesaid service lines from  aforesaid service lines from aforesaid service lines from  service lines from service lines from  lines from lines from  from from such building(s) to the main prior to sale of an individual unit within such building(s). Tract "I" is to be used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  "I" is to be used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, "I" is to be used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  is to be used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, is to be used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  to be used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, to be used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  be used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, be used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, used and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, and dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, dedicated as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, as private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, private open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, open space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, space, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, common areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, areas and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments,  fencing, subdivision monuments, fencing, subdivision monuments,  subdivision monuments, subdivision monuments,  monuments, monuments, storm water detention and amenities and to be owned and maintained by the Homes Association.  RESTRICTIONS All lots, parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  lots, parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", lots, parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", subject to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", to the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", the Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", Declaration of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", of Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood", Restrictions for "Hills of Leawood",  for "Hills of Leawood", for "Hills of Leawood",  "Hills of Leawood", "Hills of Leawood",  of Leawood", of Leawood",  Leawood", Leawood", which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the of Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the Johnson County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the County, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the  and which shall hereby become a part of the and which shall hereby become a part of the  which shall hereby become a part of the which shall hereby become a part of the  shall hereby become a part of the shall hereby become a part of the  hereby become a part of the hereby become a part of the  become a part of the become a part of the  a part of the a part of the  part of the part of the  of the of the  the the dedication of this plat as though fully set forth herein.     CONSENT TO LEVY The undersigned proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  undersigned proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, undersigned proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  of County Commissioners of Johnson County, of County Commissioners of Johnson County,  County Commissioners of Johnson County, County Commissioners of Johnson County,  Commissioners of Johnson County, Commissioners of Johnson County,  of Johnson County, of Johnson County,  Johnson County, Johnson County,  County, County, Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  land proposed to be dedicated for public ways land proposed to be dedicated for public ways  proposed to be dedicated for public ways proposed to be dedicated for public ways  to be dedicated for public ways to be dedicated for public ways  be dedicated for public ways be dedicated for public ways  dedicated for public ways dedicated for public ways  for public ways for public ways  public ways public ways  ways ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  or parts thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special or parts thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  parts thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special parts thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special  and that the amount of unpaid special and that the amount of unpaid special  that the amount of unpaid special that the amount of unpaid special  the amount of unpaid special the amount of unpaid special  amount of unpaid special amount of unpaid special  of unpaid special of unpaid special  unpaid special unpaid special  special special assessments on such land so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  on such land so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated on such land so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  such land so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated such land so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  land so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated land so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  land fronting or abutting on such dedicated land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  fronting or abutting on such dedicated fronting or abutting on such dedicated  or abutting on such dedicated or abutting on such dedicated  abutting on such dedicated abutting on such dedicated  on such dedicated on such dedicated  such dedicated such dedicated  dedicated dedicated public way or thoroughfare.  EXECUTION IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  TESTIMONY WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, TESTIMONY WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, has caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, caused this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, this instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, instrument to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, to be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  be executed on this _______________ day of ___________, be executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  executed on this _______________ day of ___________, executed on this _______________ day of ___________,  on this _______________ day of ___________, on this _______________ day of ___________,  this _______________ day of ___________, this _______________ day of ___________,  _______________ day of ___________, _______________ day of ___________,  day of ___________, day of ___________,  of ___________, of ___________,  ___________, ___________, 20___ Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C. By: _________________________________                           Mark Simpson, Manager                        ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  STATE OF _____________ )                           ) SS  COUNTY OF ___________  )  BE IT REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  IT REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and IT REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and , 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and 20_______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  the undersigned, a Notary Public in and the undersigned, a Notary Public in and  undersigned, a Notary Public in and undersigned, a Notary Public in and  a Notary Public in and a Notary Public in and  Notary Public in and Notary Public in and  Public in and Public in and  in and in and  and and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person came Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person Mark Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person Simpson, Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person Manager of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person of Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person Leawood Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person Hills Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person Development, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person  who is personally known to me to be such person who is personally known to me to be such person  is personally known to me to be such person is personally known to me to be such person  personally known to me to be such person personally known to me to be such person  known to me to be such person known to me to be such person  to me to be such person to me to be such person  me to be such person me to be such person  to be such person to be such person  be such person be such person  such person such person  person person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  executed, as such officer, the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same executed, as such officer, the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  as such officer, the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same as such officer, the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  such officer, the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same such officer, the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  officer, the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same officer, the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  person duly acknowledged the execution of the same person duly acknowledged the execution of the same  duly acknowledged the execution of the same duly acknowledged the execution of the same  acknowledged the execution of the same acknowledged the execution of the same  the execution of the same the execution of the same  execution of the same execution of the same  of the same of the same  the same the same  same same to be the act and deed of the same.  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above written. Notary Public:_____________________ My Appointment Expires:______________________________  Print Name:________________________________________  APPROVALS Approved by the Planning Commission of the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, this______________ day of_________________ , 20________ .  ____________________________________________________  Marc E. Elkins, Chairman Approved by the Governing Body of the City of Leawood, Kansas, this _______ day of_________________ , 20________.  _____________________________________               Attest:_________________________________ Peggy Dunn, Mayor                                       Debra Harper, City ClerkDebra Harper, City Clerk
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GROSS AREA                     44.1638 ACRES 44.1638 ACRES ZONING     R-1                 R-1                 PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS       70        SINGLE FAMILY LOTS 70        SINGLE FAMILY LOTS DENSITY     1.59  LOTS PER ACRE  1.59  LOTS PER ACRE  LOTS PER ACRE  MINIMUM LOT SIZE    15,000 SF 15,000 SF REQUIRED OPEN SPACE   30% 30% FRONT SETBACK    35 FT 35 FT SIDE SETBACK    15 FT 15 FT CORNER LOT SETBACK   30 FT 30 FT REAR YARD SETBACK   30 FT* 30 FT* LOT FRONTAGE    100 FT 100 FT LOT WIDTH     100 FT 100 FT CUL-DE-SAC RADIUS   45 FT 45 FT MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT  35 FT 35 FT *LOTS 150 FT IN DEPTH OR LESS, AND GREATER THAN 30 FT FOR LOTS GREATER THAN 150 FT IN DEPTH SETBACK DEVIATIONS REQUESTED: REQUIRED PROPOSED REDUCTION PROPOSED REDUCTION REDUCTION FRONT YARD 35'  35'  N/A 35'  35'  N/A 35'  N/A N/A SIDE YARD*  15'  12.75'  15% 15'  12.75'  15% 12.75'  15% 15% REAR YARD* 30'(MIN) VARIES* 15% 30'(MIN) VARIES* 15% VARIES* 15% 15% MIN. REQUIRED PROPOSED PROPOSED AVERAGE LOT SIZE 19,000 SF  19,625 SF 19,000 SF  19,625 SF 19,625 SF *SEE SETBACK TABLE FOR DEVIATIONS. DEVIATION SETBACK AREA: 0.67 ACRES 0.67 ACRES OPEN SPACE PROVIDED:  4.46 ACRES4.46 ACRES
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TRACT SUMMARY: A, B  OPEN SPACE, MONUMENTATION,   OPEN SPACE, MONUMENTATION,   STORMWATER TREATMENT C, E  OPEN SPACE FOR TRAILS OPEN SPACE FOR TRAILS D  STORMWATER DETENTION AND AMENITIES STORMWATER DETENTION AND AMENITIES F, G  OPEN SPACE OPEN SPACE I  AMENITY, STORMWATER DETENTIONAMENITY, STORMWATER DETENTION
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A RESURVEY AND REPLAT OF ALL OF LOTS 11 THRU 17, AND ALL OF LOTS 28 THRU 57, AND PART OF LOTS 9, 10, 18 AND 19, AND ALL OF THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY OF FALMOUTH ROAD AND CANTERBURY ROAD AND PART OF THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 150TH STREET, MISSION HEIGHTS, A PLATTED SUBDIVISION OF LAND IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 3, TOWNSHIP 14 SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 23, AT PAGE 37 IN THE OFFICE OF REGISTER OF DEED, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 3, TOWNSHIP 14 SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST PLAT CORNER OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS AND ALSO BEING THE SOUTHWEST PLAT CORNER OF VILLAS OF IRONWOODS, A PLATTED SUBDIVISION OF LAND IN THE CITY OF OVERLAND PARK, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS; THENCE N 0° 02' 11" E, ALONG THE E, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 3 AND ALSO ALONG THE EAST PLAT LINE OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS AND ALONG THE WEST PLAT LINE OF SAID VILLAS OF IRONWOODS, A DISTANCE OF 40.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE PLATTED NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY  LINE OF 151ST/ STREET, AS NOW ESTABLISHED, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 57; THENCE N 89°47'47" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 57, 42, 41 AND 28 AND ALONG THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID FALMOUTH ROAD AND CANTERBURY ROAD AND ALSO ALONG THE PLATTED NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID 151ST/ STREET,  A DISTANCE OF 966.00 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 28, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 27 OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS; THENCE N 0°13'00" E, ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOTS 28, 29 AND 30, AND ALSO ALONG THE EAST LINE OF LOT 27 OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS, A DISTANCE OF 528.61 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 13, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 27; THENCE S 73°12'50" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 13, 14, 15, 16 AND 17 AND ALSO ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 27 AND ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 26, 25 AND 24 OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS, A DISTANCE OF 679.70 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 17, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 24; THENCE N 89°47'47" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 17, 18 AND 19 AND ALSO ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 23, 22 AND 21 OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS, A DISTANCE OF 319.75 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF EXISTING 100.00 FOOT KANSAS CITY POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY EASEMENT AS SHOWN ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS; THENCE N 23°37'18" E, ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID EASEMENT, A DISTANCE OF 792.39 FEET; THENCE N 50°00'53" W, A DISTANCE OF 104.22 FEET; W, A DISTANCE OF 104.22 FEET; THENCE N 23°37'18" E, A DISTANCE OF 176.21 FEET TO A POINT E, A DISTANCE OF 176.21 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 10, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE NORTH PLAT LINE OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS; THENCE S 89°44'51" E, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 10, 11, 12, 33, 34, 49, 50 AND  ALONG THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID FALMOUTH ROAD AND CANTERBURY ROAD AND ALSO ALONG THE NORTH PLAT LINE OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS, A DISTANCE OF 1627.07 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 50, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE NORTHEAST PLAT CORNER OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS AND THE NORTHWEST PLAT CORNER OF SAID VILLAS OF IRONWOODS AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 3, TOWNSHIP 14 SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST; THENCE S 0°02'11" W, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOTS 50 THRU 57 AND ALSO ALONG THE EAST PLAT LINE OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS  AND ALONG THE WEST PLAT LINE OF SAID VILLAS OF IRONWOODS AND ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 3, A DISTANCE OF 1284.13 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 44.1638 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, OF REPLATTED LAND.
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A RESURVEY AND REPLAT OF ALL OF LOTS 11 THRU 17, AND ALL OF LOTS 28 THRU 57, AND PART OF LOTS 9, 10, 18 AND 19, AND ALL OF THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY OF FALMOUTH ROAD AND CANTERBURY ROAD AND PART OF THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 150TH STREET, MISSION HEIGHTS, A PLATTED SUBDIVISION OF LAND IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 3, TOWNSHIP 14 SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 23, AT PAGE 37 IN THE OFFICE OF REGISTER OF DEED, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 3, TOWNSHIP 14 SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST PLAT CORNER OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS AND ALSO BEING THE SOUTHWEST PLAT CORNER OF VILLAS OF IRONWOODS, A PLATTED SUBDIVISION OF LAND IN THE CITY OF OVERLAND PARK, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS; THENCE N 0° 02' 11" E, ALONG THE E, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 3 AND ALSO ALONG THE EAST PLAT LINE OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS AND ALONG THE WEST PLAT LINE OF SAID VILLAS OF IRONWOODS, A DISTANCE OF 40.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE PLATTED NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY  LINE OF 151ST/ STREET, AS NOW ESTABLISHED, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 57; THENCE N 89°47'47" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 57, 42, 41 AND 28 AND ALONG THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID FALMOUTH ROAD AND CANTERBURY ROAD AND ALSO ALONG THE PLATTED NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID 151ST/ STREET,  A DISTANCE OF 966.00 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 28, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 27 OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS; THENCE N 0°13'00" E, ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOTS 28, 29 AND 30, AND ALSO ALONG THE EAST LINE OF LOT 27 OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS, A DISTANCE OF 528.61 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 13, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 27; THENCE S 73°12'50" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 13, 14, 15, 16 AND 17 AND ALSO ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 27 AND ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 26, 25 AND 24 OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS, A DISTANCE OF 679.70 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 17, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 24; THENCE N 89°47'47" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 17, 18 AND 19 AND ALSO ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 23, 22 AND 21 OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS, A DISTANCE OF 319.75 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF EXISTING 100.00 FOOT KANSAS CITY POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY EASEMENT AS SHOWN ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS; THENCE N 23°37'18" E, ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID EASEMENT, A DISTANCE OF 792.39 FEET; THENCE N 50°00'53" W, A DISTANCE OF 104.22 FEET; W, A DISTANCE OF 104.22 FEET; THENCE N 23°37'18" E, A DISTANCE OF 176.21 FEET TO A POINT E, A DISTANCE OF 176.21 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 10, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE NORTH PLAT LINE OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS; THENCE S 89°44'51" E, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 10, 11, 12, 33, 34, 49, 50 AND  ALONG THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID FALMOUTH ROAD AND CANTERBURY ROAD AND ALSO ALONG THE NORTH PLAT LINE OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS, A DISTANCE OF 1627.07 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 50, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE NORTHEAST PLAT CORNER OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS AND THE NORTHWEST PLAT CORNER OF SAID VILLAS OF IRONWOODS AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 3, TOWNSHIP 14 SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST; THENCE S 0°02'11" W, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOTS 50 THRU 57 AND ALSO ALONG THE EAST PLAT LINE OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS  AND ALONG THE WEST PLAT LINE OF SAID VILLAS OF IRONWOODS AND ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 3, A DISTANCE OF 1284.13 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 44.1638 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, OF REPLATTED LAND.
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ALL OF LOTS 11 THRU 17, AND ALL OF LOTS 28 THRU 57, AND ALL THAT PART OF LOTS 9, 10, 18 AND 19, AND ALL OF THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY OF FALMOUTH ROAD AND CANTERBURY ROAD AND ALL THAT PART OF THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 150TH STREET, MISSION HEIGHTS, A PLATTED SUBDIVISION OF LAND IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 23, AT PAGE 37 IN THE OFFICE OF REGISTER OF DEED, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 57, SAID POINT ALSO BEING A POINT ON THE WEST PLAT LINE OF VILLAS OF IRONHORSE, A PLATTED SUBDIVISION OF LAND IN THE CITY OF OVERLAND PARK, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS; THENCE N 89°43'27" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 57, 42, 41 AND 28 AND ALONG THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID FALMOUTH ROAD AND CANTERBURY ROAD, A DISTANCE OF 968.94 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 28; THENCE N 0°16'33" E, ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOTS 28, 29 AND 30, A DISTANCE OF 508.73 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 13; THENCE S 73°16'33" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 13, 14, 15, 16 AND 17, A DISTANCE OF 679.70 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 17; THENCE N 89°43'27" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 17, 18 AND 19, A DISTANCE OF 319.57 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHEAST LINE OF EXISTING 100.00 FOOT KANSAS CITY POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY EASEMENT AS SHOWN ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF SAID MISSION HEIGHTS; THENCE N 23°41'38" E, ALONG SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID EASEMENT, A DISTANCE OF 794.32 FEET; THENCE N 49°56'33” W, W, A DISTANCE OF 104.22 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID EASEMENT; THENCE N 23°41'38” E, ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID EASEMENT, A DISTANCE OF 174.56 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 10; THENCE S 89°40'05" E, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 10, 11, 12, 33, 34, 49, 50 AND ALONG THE PLATTED RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID FALMOUTH ROAD AND CANTERBURY ROAD, A DISTANCE OF 1628.25 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 50, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE WEST PLAT LINE OF SAID VILLAS OF IRONHORSE; THENCE S 0°02'11" W, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOTS 50 THRU 57 AND ALONG THE WEST PLAT LINE OF SAID VILLAS OF IRONHORSE, A DISTANCE OF 1264.19 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 43.7827 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, OF REPLATTED LAND.
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1 OVERALL STREET TREE LANDSCAPE PLAN
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2)  TIGHTEN WIRE /

CABLE ONLY ENOUGH
TO KEEP FROM

SLIPPING, ALLOW FOR

SOME TRUNK
MOVEMENT PLASTIC

HOSE SHALL BE LONG

ENOUGH TO ACCOM-

MODATE 1
1
2" OF

GROWTH

STAKING REQUIREMENTS:

1)  APPLY 2"THK BED OF MULCH

PERENNIAL PLANTING NOTES:

INITIAL WATERING:

COMPLETE, WATER

MORE IS ABSORBED

WHEN BACKFILL IS 2/3

THOROUGHLY UNTIL NO

GALV, 12-GAUGE 
1)  WIRE / CABLE SHALL BE

3)  STAKES SHALL BE 2"x

2" HARDWOOD OR EQUAL

BACKFILL w/ SUITABLE

2)  THOROUGHLY MIX PEAT IN

TO A DEPTH OF 12"
4)  PROVIDE NEW TOPSOIL

TO A DEPTH OF 24"
3)  BREAK UP EXISTING SOIL

TOP 3-4" OF SOIL

SHRUB PLANTING NOTES:

1)  SET SHRUB AT SAME DEPTH
AT WHICH IT GREW IN THE FIELD
OR CONTAINER

2)  PRUNE, THIN & SHAPE SHRUBS
IN ACCORDANCE w/ STANDARD
HORTICULTURAL PRACTICE

DO NOT COVER PLANTS
ON PERENNIAL PLANT BED,

TREE PLANTING NOTES:

WHENEVER POSSIBLE

OF THE ROOT BALL w/ SOIL
DO NOT COVER THE TOP
VISIBLE SHALL BE REJECTED. 

w/ TREE TRUNK

7)  PLACE ALL ROOT BALLS ON UN-

ROOT BALL (REMOVE WIRE BASKETS)

6)  REMOVE ALL TWINE, ROPE, WIRE
AND BURLAP FROM THE UPPER 1/3 OF

5)  EACH TREE MUST BE PLANTED
SUCH THE TRUNK FLARE IS VISIBLE
AT THE TOP OF THE ROOT BALL.
TREES WHERE THE FLARE IS NOT

4)  APPLY 4"THK WOOD MULCH, DO NOT
PLACE MULCH IN DIRECT CONTACT

3)  SET TOP OF ROOT BALL 1-2 INCHES
HIGHER THAN SURROUNDING GRADE

TREE TO FACE NORTH AT THE SITE
TREE IN THE NURSERY, AND ROTATE
2)  MARK THE NORTH SIDE OF THE

EXTEND TO THE EDGE OF THE CROWN

TERMINAL BUDS OF BRANCHES THAT
MAY BE PRUNED.  DO NOT REMOVE THE

SOME INTERIOR TWIGS & LATERAL BRANCHES
LEADERS, & BROKEN OR DEAD BRANCHES.

PRUNE ONLY CROSSOVER  LIMBS, CO-DOMINANT
1)  DO NOT HEAVILY PRUNE THE TREE,

4

EXCAVATED OR TAMPED SOIL, TYP TOPSOIL, TYP

PLANTING INSTALLATION DETAILS
ROOT BALL

SPECIFIED BACKFILL MIXTURE

EXISTING UNDISTURBED SUBSOIL

IS IN LANDSCAPE BED

CONTINUOUS SAUCER, RIM FOR WATER & MULCH

CUT & REMOVE BURLAP FROM TOP 1/3 OF BALL.

1/2 DIAM.OF BALL

TREE TIE SYSTEM, SEE STAKING REQUIREMENTS

PRUNE DAMAGED OR DEAD WOOD 

IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO PLANTING.  NEVER LEAVE 

LEAVE "V" CROTCHES OR DOUBLE LEADER.

PLANT ROOT BALL 2" HIGHER THAN GRADE 

AS SHOWN.  SPACE EQUIDISTANT AROUND TREE.
3 METAL STAKES.  PLACE NEXT TO ROOT BALL 

INSTALL WEED CONTROL FABRIC IF TREE

AT WHICH TREE GREW.

4" MIN. SPECIFIED MULCH

DO NOT PRUNE LEADER
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Hills of Leawood

Leawood KS

15245 Metcalf Ave.

Overland Park, KS 66223

913.787.2817

LANDSCAPE

ME ERI
ARCHITECTURE

Project #: 488

Landscape Calculations
One Street tree is required for every 35' of street frontage:

Requirements Met.

3 TRACT 'D' WATERFALL SKETCH

1.  Location of all existing utilities needs to done before commencing work.

2.  The planting plan graphically illustrates overall plant massings. Each plant species massing shall be placed in the

field to utilize the greatest coverage of ground plane. The following applies for individual plantings:

a. Creeping groundcover shall be a minimum of 6" from paving edge.

b. All trees shall be a minimum of 3' from paving edge.

c. All plants of the same species shall be equally spaced apart and placed for best aesthetic viewing.

d. All shrubs shall be a minimum of 2' from paved edge.

3. Mulch all planting bed areas to a minimum depth of 3". Mulch individual trees to a minimum depth of 4".

4. Note: If plants are not labeled - they are existing and shall remain.

5. In the event of work in or on a JCW sanitary main, any trees or plantings placed within the sewer easement may be removed

without replacement or compensation there-of and shall be replaced by the property owner as required by the City

6. All landscaped areas in ROW shall be sodded and irrigated unless otherwise specified.

7.All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected.

8.All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.

9.Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the landscape architect and the City

of Leawood, prior to installation.

10.All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials.

Materials:

1. Plant material shall be healthy, vigorous, and free of disease and insects as per AAN standards.

2. Shredded bark mulch installed at trees shall be finely chipped and shredded hardwood chips, consisting of pure   wood

products and free of all other foreign substances. Pine bark compost mulch installed at planting bed areas shall be free of all

other foreign substances.

Installation:

1. All planting beds shall be amended with 1 cubic yard of peat moss per 1,000 square feet. Till peat moss into soil to a  6"

depth. A 10-10-10 fertilizer shall be spread over all planting areas prior to planting, at a rate of 50 pounds per 2,000 square

feet.

2. After plants have been installed, all planting beds shall be treated with Dacthal pre-emergent herbicide prior to mulch

application.

3. Plant pit backfill for trees and shrubs shall be 50% peat or well composted manure and 50% topsoil.

4. Plant material shall be maintained and guaranteed for a period of one year after Owner's acceptance of finished job.   All

dead or damaged plant material shall be replaced at Landscape Contractor's expense.

6. Landscape contractor shall maintain all plant material until final acceptance, at which point the one year guarantee begins.

Planting Notes

Landscape Schedule
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1. Location of all existing utilities needs to done before commencing work.

2. The planting plan graphically illustrates overall plant massings. Each plant species massing shall be placed in

the

field to utilize the greatest coverage of ground plane. The following applies for individual plantings:

a. Creeping groundcover shall be a minimum of 6" from paving edge.

b. All trees shall be a minimum of 3' from paving edge.

c. All plants of the same species shall be equally spaced apart and placed for best aesthetic viewing.

d. All shrubs shall be a minimum of 2' from paved edge.

3. Mulch all planting bed areas to a minimum depth of 3". Mulch individual trees to a minimum depth of 4".

4. Note: If plants are not labeled - they are existing and shall remain.

5. In the event of work in or on a JCW sanitary main, any trees or plantings placed within the sewer easement may

be removed without replacement or compensation there-of and shall be replaced by the property owner as

required by the City

6. All landscaped areas in ROW shall be sodded and irrigated unless otherwise specified.

Materials:

1. Plant material shall be healthy, vigorous, and free of disease and insects as per AAN standards.

2. Shredded bark mulch installed at trees shall be finely chipped and shredded hardwood chips, consisting of pure

wood products and free of all other foreign substances. Pine bark compost mulch installed at planting bed areas

shall be free of all other foreign substances.

Installation:

1. All planting beds shall be amended with 1 cubic yard of peat moss per 1,000 square feet. Till peat moss into soil

to a  6" depth. A 10-10-10 fertilizer shall be spread over all planting areas prior to planting, at a rate of 50 pounds

per 2,000 square feet.

2. After plants have been installed, all planting beds shall be treated with Dacthal pre-emergent herbicide prior to

mulch application.

3. Plant pit backfill for trees and shrubs shall be 50% peat or well composted manure and 50% topsoil.

4. Plant material shall be maintained and guaranteed for a period of one year after Owner's acceptance of finished

job.   All dead or damaged plant material shall be replaced at Landscape Contractor's expense.

6. Landscape contractor shall maintain all plant material until final acceptance, at which point the one year

guarantee begins.

Planting Notes

15245 Metcalf Ave.

Overland Park, KS 66223
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2 CHARACTER IMAGES OF PAVILION AND DECK FURNITURE

2 DETENTION AREA PLANTINGS (ENLARGEMENT PLAN)

Landscape Schedule
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1 ENTRY AREA LANDSCAPE PLAN

Date: 2.21.19

2)  TIGHTEN WIRE /

CABLE ONLY ENOUGH
TO KEEP FROM

SLIPPING, ALLOW FOR

SOME TRUNK
MOVEMENT PLASTIC

HOSE SHALL BE LONG

ENOUGH TO ACCOM-

MODATE 1
1

2" OF
GROWTH

STAKING REQUIREMENTS:

1)  APPLY 2"THK BED OF MULCH

PERENNIAL PLANTING NOTES:

INITIAL WATERING:

COMPLETE, WATER

MORE IS ABSORBED

WHEN BACKFILL IS 2/3

THOROUGHLY UNTIL NO

GALV, 12-GAUGE 
1)  WIRE / CABLE SHALL BE

3)  STAKES SHALL BE 2"x

2" HARDWOOD OR EQUAL

BACKFILL w/ SUITABLE

2)  THOROUGHLY MIX PEAT IN

TO A DEPTH OF 12"
4)  PROVIDE NEW TOPSOIL

TO A DEPTH OF 24"
3)  BREAK UP EXISTING SOIL

TOP 3-4" OF SOIL

SHRUB PLANTING NOTES:

1)  SET SHRUB AT SAME DEPTH
AT WHICH IT GREW IN THE FIELD
OR CONTAINER

2)  PRUNE, THIN & SHAPE SHRUBS
IN ACCORDANCE w/ STANDARD
HORTICULTURAL PRACTICE

DO NOT COVER PLANTS
ON PERENNIAL PLANT BED,

TREE PLANTING NOTES:

WHENEVER POSSIBLE

OF THE ROOT BALL w/ SOIL
DO NOT COVER THE TOP
VISIBLE SHALL BE REJECTED. 

w/ TREE TRUNK

7)  PLACE ALL ROOT BALLS ON UN-

ROOT BALL (REMOVE WIRE BASKETS)

6)  REMOVE ALL TWINE, ROPE, WIRE
AND BURLAP FROM THE UPPER 1/3 OF

5)  EACH TREE MUST BE PLANTED
SUCH THE TRUNK FLARE IS VISIBLE
AT THE TOP OF THE ROOT BALL.
TREES WHERE THE FLARE IS NOT

4)  APPLY 4"THK WOOD MULCH, DO NOT
PLACE MULCH IN DIRECT CONTACT

3)  SET TOP OF ROOT BALL 1-2 INCHES
HIGHER THAN SURROUNDING GRADE

TREE TO FACE NORTH AT THE SITE
TREE IN THE NURSERY, AND ROTATE
2)  MARK THE NORTH SIDE OF THE

EXTEND TO THE EDGE OF THE CROWN

TERMINAL BUDS OF BRANCHES THAT
MAY BE PRUNED.  DO NOT REMOVE THE

SOME INTERIOR TWIGS & LATERAL BRANCHES
LEADERS, & BROKEN OR DEAD BRANCHES.

PRUNE ONLY CROSSOVER  LIMBS, CO-DOMINANT
1)  DO NOT HEAVILY PRUNE THE TREE,

3

EXCAVATED OR TAMPED SOIL, TYP TOPSOIL, TYP

PLANTING INSTALLATION DETAILS

ROOT BALL

SPECIFIED BACKFILL MIXTURE

EXISTING UNDISTURBED SUBSOIL

IS IN LANDSCAPE BED

CONTINUOUS SAUCER, RIM FOR WATER & MULCH

CUT & REMOVE BURLAP FROM TOP 1/3 OF BALL.

1/2 DIAM.OF BALL

TREE TIE SYSTEM, SEE STAKING REQUIREMENTS

PRUNE DAMAGED OR DEAD WOOD 

IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO PLANTING.  NEVER LEAVE 

LEAVE "V" CROTCHES OR DOUBLE LEADER.

PLANT ROOT BALL 2" HIGHER THAN GRADE 

AS SHOWN.  SPACE EQUIDISTANT AROUND TREE.
3 METAL STAKES.  PLACE NEXT TO ROOT BALL 

INSTALL WEED CONTROL FABRIC IF TREE

AT WHICH TREE GREW.

4" MIN. SPECIFIED MULCH

DO NOT PRUNE LEADER
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1. Location of all existing utilities needs to done before commencing work.

2. The planting plan graphically illustrates overall plant massings. Each plant species massing shall be

placed in the

field to utilize the greatest coverage of ground plane. The following applies for individual plantings:

a. Creeping groundcover shall be a minimum of 6" from paving edge.

b. All trees shall be a minimum of 3' from paving edge.

c. All plants of the same species shall be equally spaced apart and placed for best aesthetic viewing.

d. All shrubs shall be a minimum of 2' from paved edge.

3. Mulch all planting bed areas to a minimum depth of 3". Mulch individual trees to a minimum depth of 4".

4. Note: If plants are not labeled - they are existing and shall remain.

5. In the event of work in or on a JCW sanitary main, any trees or plantings placed within the sewer

easement may be removed without replacement or compensation there-of and shall be replaced by the

property owner as required by the City

6. All landscaped areas in ROW shall be sodded and irrigated unless otherwise specified.

Materials:

1. Plant material shall be healthy, vigorous, and free of disease and insects as per AAN standards.

2. Shredded bark mulch installed at trees shall be finely chipped and shredded hardwood chips, consisting

of pure   wood products and free of all other foreign substances. Pine bark compost mulch installed at

planting bed areas shall be free of all other foreign substances.

Installation:

1. All planting beds shall be amended with 1 cubic yard of peat moss per 1,000 square feet. Till peat moss

into soil to a  6" depth. A 10-10-10 fertilizer shall be spread over all planting areas prior to planting, at a

rate of 50 pounds per 2,000 square feet.

2. After plants have been installed, all planting beds shall be treated with Dacthal pre-emergent herbicide

prior to mulch application.

3. Plant pit backfill for trees and shrubs shall be 50% peat or well composted manure and 50% topsoil.

4. Plant material shall be maintained and guaranteed for a period of one year after Owner's acceptance of

finished job.   All dead or damaged plant material shall be replaced at Landscape Contractor's expense.

6. Landscape contractor shall maintain all plant material until final acceptance, at which point the one year

guarantee begins.

Planting Notes Landscape Calculations
Trees are required to be provided at not less than one per 10,000 square feet of site area.

Existing trees count towards landscaping requirements.

_ s.f. total site area

76 trees required

120 trees provided

Requirement Met

Turf Area

Cultivated Edge: 6" 

Finish Grade

Undisturbed
Existing 

Planting

Bed

12"

Subsoil

Prepared

Mulch

2 CULTIVATED EDGE DETAIL
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Date: 2.15.19
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6 WALL 'D' DETAIL

1 WALL A DETAIL 2 WALL ELEVATION

5 WALL 'C' DETAIL

4 WALL 'B' DETAIL

7 SIGN AND LOGO ENLARGEMENT

LIGHTING/ELECTRICAL LEGEND
Landscape floodlight fixture

Model: GR-3006-B-W-FL-M  Brand: Vista Professional
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2 SECONDARY MONUMENT LAYOUT PLAN

1 ENTRY MONUMENT AREA ENLARGEMENT LANDSCAPE PLAN

6 WALL 'E' ELEVATION

5 WALL 'F' ELEVATION

4 WALL 'G' ELEVATION

3 MAIN ENTRY MEDIAN COLUMN DETAIL
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8 WALL DETAIL WITH GRADE

Landscape Schedule

LIGHTING/ELECTRICAL LEGEND
Landscape floodlight fixture

Model: GR-3006-B-W-FL-M  Brand: Vista Professional



FIXTURE SPECIFICATIONS:

Type:

Model:

Project:
SPECIFICATION SHEET

1625 Surveyor Avenue • Simi Valley, CA 93063 • (805) 527-0987 • (800) 766-VISTA (8478)
FAX: (888) 670-VISTA (8478) • email@vistapro.com • www.vistapro.com

Vista Professional Outdoor Lighting reserves the right to modify the design and/or construction of the fixture shown without further notification.

DIMENSIONS:

Medium Shroud (M) No Shroud (N)

3⅞”
98mm

3⅜”
84mm

3⅜”
84mm

3⅜”
84mm5”

127mm

®C UL
LISTED

US

MODEL 3006     Landscape Series  •  Up & Accent Lights

HOUSING:
Die-cast, copper free aluminum.
SHROUD:
Available with medium shroud (M) or no shroud (N).
FINISH:
Polyester powder-coat finish available in Black, Verde, Architectural 
Brick, Architectural Bronze, Light Bronze, Dark Bronze, Granite, Pewter, 
Terracotta, Rust, Hunter Green, Mocha, Weathered Bronze, Weathered 
Iron, and White.
LENS:
Clear soda lime glass.
LAMP TYPE:
Six (6) White High Output LED emitters, with Vista exclusive driver, 
powered to operate for 50,000 hours. Available in Warm (W) or Cool (C) 
color temperatures.
OPTICS:
Injection-molded optical grade acrylic available in Spot (SP), Flood (FL), 
and Wide Flood (WF) distributions.
ELECTRICAL:
12VAC input, constant current driver output, consuming 10 system 
watts.

MOUNTING:
Injection-molded, Noryl® GTX adjustable knuckle with ½” NPS stem. 
Fixture may be mounted into threaded hubs in junction boxes, ground 
stakes (GR), tree mount boxes (TR), or mounting canopies (WR).
FASTENERS:
All fasteners are stainless steel.
WIRING:
Prewired with a three-foot pigtail of 18-2 direct-burial cable and 
underground connectors for a secure connection to supply cable.
CERTIFICATION:
UL Listed to U.S. and Canadian safety standards for low voltage landscape 
luminaires (UL 8750). Maximum wattages allowed by Underwriters 
Laboratories (UL) for U.S. and Canadian markets may vary. Maximum 
wattages specified are Underwriters Laboratories U.S. standard. Please 
contact Vista for any questions about  maximum wattages allowed by UL 
Canadian standards.

All Vista luminaires are MADE IN  U.S.A.



1625 Surveyor Avenue • Simi Valley, CA 93063 • (805) 527-0987 • (800) 766-VISTA (8478)
FAX: (888) 670-VISTA (8478) • email@vistapro.com • www.vistapro.com

FIXTURE ORDERING INFORMATION

TO ORDER FIXTURE: Select appropriate choice from each column as in the following example.

EXAMPLE: GR-3006-B-W-FL-M

Fixtures shipped with standard lamp, unless otherwise specified.
Fixtures shipped with specified mounting hardware.

SPECIFICATION SHEET

3006  12.12

Vista Professional Outdoor Lighting reserves the right to modify the design and/or construction of the fixture shown without further notification.

MODEL 3006     Landscape Series  •  Up & Accent Lights

MOUNTING MODEL FINISH COLOR TEMP DISTRIBUTION SHROUD ACCESSORIES

GR - ABS ground stake
TR - Tree mount J-box
WR - Wall-mount canopy

3006 B - Black
G - Verde
BR - Architectural Brick
Z - Architectural Bronze
LZ - Light Bronze
DZ - Dark Bronze
GT - Granite
TC - Terracotta
R - Rust
HG - Hunter Green
M - Mocha
WB - Weathered Bronze
WI - Weathered Iron
W - White

W - Warm
C - Cool

SP - Spot
FL - Flood
WF - Wide Flood

M - Medium
N - No shroud

LS - Long Shroud
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:   February 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   February 4, 2019 
 

HILLS OF LEAWOOD – SALES TRAILER – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE 
PERMIT FOR A TEMPORARY SALES TRAILER – Located east of Mission Road and North of 151st 
Street.         Case 10-19  **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 10-19, Hills of Leawood, a request for 
approval of a Special Use Permit for a temporary sales trailer, with the stipulations outlined in the staff 
report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Mark Simpson with Leawood Hills Development, LLC. 

 The engineer is Tim Tucker with Phelps Engineering. 

 The landscape architect is Jason Meier with Meier Landscape Architects. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Special Use Permit to allow the use of a temporary sales 
office for the Hills of Leawood residential subdivision.   

 The Hills of Leawood is a 70 lot single family subdivision that currently has an application requesting 
approval from the Planning Commission and Governing Body for a Revised Preliminary Plan, 
Revised Preliminary Plat, Final Plan and Final Plat (Case 01-19).  The Hills of Leawood is proposing 
to replat a portion of the existing subdivision of Mission Heights that was platted in the 1960s, but 
never fully developed. 

 
ZONING:  

 The property is currently zoned as R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Low Density Residential. 
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LOCATION: 

 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North To the north is vacant land that is proposed for the first phase of the Hills of Leawood.  
Further to the north is Ironwoods Park owned by the City of Leawood, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation).  

 South To the south is vacant land that is proposed for the first phase of the Hills of Leawood.  
Further to the south is 151st Street and the single family subdivision of The Reserve if 
Ironhorse zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential District).  

 East Directly to the east is vacant land that is proposed for the first phase of the Hills of 
Leawood. Further to the east is the single family residential subdivision of Villas of 
Ironwoods, currently under construction, within the City of Overland Park, Kansas.  

 West To the west is vacant land that is proposed for the second phase of the Hills of Leawood. 
Further to the west is the remainder of the single family residential subdivision of Mission 
Heights, zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District). Beyond 
Mission Heights and across Mission Road, is the single family residential subdivision of 
Pavilions of Leawood, zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential District).  

 
SITE PLAN: 

 The applicant is proposing a temporary sales trailer on Lot 40 within the first phase of the Hills of 
Leawood residential subdivision. 

 The trailer is approximately 56’ long X 22’ wide and 12’ tall with an attached 20’ X 20’ wood deck. 

 The trailer is approximately 30’ from the north property line and 38’ from the east property line. All 
required setbacks have been met.   

 Two entrances are proposed into the trailer, both located on the eastern facade. The northern-most 
entrance will be accessible by an ADA ramp. 

 Three parking spaces are proposed along the east property line of the proposed Lot 40, one of which 
will be ADA accessible. 

 A 7’ sidewalk will be located in front of the parking stalls located along the eastern boundary of the 
lot. 

 Two 5’ sidewalks will connect the parking to the sales trailer.  One sidewalk will lead directly to the 
trailer, the other leads to an ADA ramp to access the trailer.  

Hills of Leawood –  
Residential Subdivision 

Lot 40 
 (Proposed site for trailer) 
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 The hours of operation for the sales office will be 12 PM to 6 PM – 7 days a week. 
 
BULK REGULATIONS: 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 35’ 38’ Complies 
Side Setback (Corner Lot) 30’ 30’ Complies 
Rear Setback 30’ 102’ Complies 
Height Limit 35’ 14’ Complies 

 
PARKING: 

 Three parking spaces are proposed on the site, one of which will be an ADA space. 

 The parking area will be constructed of asphalt with yellow striping and rubber parking bumpers. 
 

SIGNAGE: 

 The logo of the development will be placed onto the awnings proposed over a portion of the exterior 
wooden deck and the awnings on top of each entrance into the trailer. 

 No additional signage is proposed with this application. 
 

LIGHTING: 

 No lighting is proposed with this application. 
 
ELEVATIONS: 

 The trailer is proposed to be covered with a light beige wood siding along with a light beige vinyl skirt 
around the base of the trailer. 

 All stairs and ramps are to be constructed of rough cedar wood ramps. 

 Two awnings are proposed over both entrances into the sales trailer. An additional awning is 
proposed over a large portion of the wooden deck. The awning is proposed to be green in color with 
the development’s logo. 
 

LANDSCAPING: 

 The applicant has provided a landscape plan to enhance the eastern facade of the proposed trailer. 
The landscape plan includes the following plants located at the main entrance and the northern and 
southern corners: 

o 7 Little Quick Fire Hydrangeas 
o 4 Bloomerang Purple Lilacs 
o 10 Sea Green Junipers 

 
INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held on February 7, 2019. A sign-in sheet and summary of the meeting is 
attached. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve case 40-10, 
Estates of Old Leawood, with the following stipulations: 
1. The Special Use Permit is limited to a term of one year from the date of Governing Body approval. 
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2. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance at the time of planting, shade trees shall be a minimum of 
2 ½” caliper, ornamental trees shall be a minimum of 1 ½” caliper, evergreens shall be a minimum of 
6’ in height and shrubs shall be a minimum of 24” in height.   

3. No exterior lighting is approved with this application. 
4. No signage is approved with this application.  
5. The trailer must meet building codes and all ADA requirements. 
6. The developer/property owner agrees to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they 

agree to stipulations one through six. 
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Description (Sales Trailer)

All that part of Lots 39, 40, 56 and platted right-of-way of Canterbury Road, MISSION

HEIGHTS, a platted subdivision of land in the Southwest Quarter of said Section 3,

Township 14 South, Range 25 East, in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas,

being more particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the Southeast corner of the Southwest Quarter of said Section

3; thence S 89°47’47” W, along the South line of the Southwest Quarter of said

Section 3, a distance of 397.79 feet; thence N 0°12’13” E, a distance of 325.70

feet to the point of beginning; thence N 9°06'26" W, a distance of 128.67 feet;

thence Northeasterly on a curve to the left said curve having an initial tangent

bearing of N 77°41’15” E and a radius of 340.00 feet, an arc distance of 138.24

feet; thence S 39°49'07" E, a distance of 84.16 feet; thence Southeasterly on a

curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described course and

having a radius of 175.00 feet, an arc distance of 56.75 feet; thence S

69°41'00" W, a distance of 200.14 feet to the point of beginning, containing

21868 square feet or 0.5020 acres, more or less, of replatted land.
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IN ACCORDANCE w/ STANDARD
HORTICULTURAL PRACTICE

DO NOT COVER PLANTS
ON PERENNIAL PLANT BED,

TREE PLANTING NOTES:

WHENEVER POSSIBLE

OF THE ROOT BALL w/ SOIL
DO NOT COVER THE TOP
VISIBLE SHALL BE REJECTED. 

w/ TREE TRUNK

7)  PLACE ALL ROOT BALLS ON UN-

ROOT BALL (REMOVE WIRE BASKETS)

6)  REMOVE ALL TWINE, ROPE, WIRE
AND BURLAP FROM THE UPPER 1/3 OF

5)  EACH TREE MUST BE PLANTED
SUCH THE TRUNK FLARE IS VISIBLE
AT THE TOP OF THE ROOT BALL.
TREES WHERE THE FLARE IS NOT

4)  APPLY 4"THK WOOD MULCH, DO NOT
PLACE MULCH IN DIRECT CONTACT

3)  SET TOP OF ROOT BALL 1-2 INCHES
HIGHER THAN SURROUNDING GRADE

TREE TO FACE NORTH AT THE SITE
TREE IN THE NURSERY, AND ROTATE
2)  MARK THE NORTH SIDE OF THE

EXTEND TO THE EDGE OF THE CROWN
TERMINAL BUDS OF BRANCHES THAT

MAY BE PRUNED.  DO NOT REMOVE THE
SOME INTERIOR TWIGS & LATERAL BRANCHES

LEADERS, & BROKEN OR DEAD BRANCHES.
PRUNE ONLY CROSSOVER  LIMBS, CO-DOMINANT
1)  DO NOT HEAVILY PRUNE THE TREE,

3

EXCAVATED OR TAMPED SOIL, TYP TOPSOIL, TYP

PLANTING INSTALLATION DETAILS

ROOT BALL

SPECIFIED BACKFILL MIXTURE

EXISTING UNDISTURBED SUBSOIL

IS IN LANDSCAPE BED

CONTINUOUS SAUCER, RIM FOR WATER & MULCH

CUT & REMOVE BURLAP FROM TOP 1/3 OF BALL.

1/2 DIAM.OF BALL

TREE TIE SYSTEM, SEE STAKING REQUIREMENTS

PRUNE DAMAGED OR DEAD WOOD 

IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO PLANTING.  NEVER LEAVE 

LEAVE "V" CROTCHES OR DOUBLE LEADER.

PLANT ROOT BALL 2" HIGHER THAN GRADE 

AS SHOWN.  SPACE EQUIDISTANT AROUND TREE.
3 METAL STAKES.  PLACE NEXT TO ROOT BALL 

INSTALL WEED CONTROL FABRIC IF TREE

AT WHICH TREE GREW.

4" MIN. SPECIFIED MULCH

DO NOT PRUNE LEADER

Sales Center Plan
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PROJECT
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ME ERI
ARCHITECTURE

Project #: 488

Turf Area

Cultivated Edge: 6" 

Finish Grade

Undisturbed
Existing 

Planting

Bed

12"

Subsoil

Prepared

Mulch

2 CULTIVATED EDGE DETAIL

Landscape Schedule
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LIGHT BEIGE WOOD SIDING

LIGHT BEIGE VINYL SKIRT
WOOD DECK STAIRS
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Project #: 488

2 ELEVATION VIEW OF TRAILER

1.  Location of all existing utilities needs to done before commencing work.

2.  The planting plan graphically illustrates overall plant massings. Each plant species massing shall be placed in the

field to utilize the greatest coverage of ground plane. The following applies for individual plantings:

a. Creeping groundcover shall be a minimum of 6" from paving edge.

b. All trees shall be a minimum of 3' from paving edge.

c. All plants of the same species shall be equally spaced apart and placed for best aesthetic viewing.

d. All shrubs shall be a minimum of 2' from paved edge.

3. Mulch all planting bed areas to a minimum depth of 3". Mulch individual trees to a minimum depth of 4".

4. Note: If plants are not labeled - they are existing and shall remain.

5. In the event of work in or on a JCW sanitary main, any trees or plantings placed within the sewer easement may be removed

without replacement or compensation there-of and shall be replaced by the property owner as required by the City

6. All landscaped areas in ROW shall be sodded and irrigated unless otherwise specified.

7.All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected.

8.All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.

9.Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the landscape architect and the City of

Leawood, prior to installation.

10.All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials.

Materials:

1. Plant material shall be healthy, vigorous, and free of disease and insects as per AAN standards.

2. Shredded bark mulch installed at trees shall be finely chipped and shredded hardwood chips, consisting of pure   wood products

and free of all other foreign substances. Pine bark compost mulch installed at planting bed areas shall be free of all other foreign

substances.

Installation:

1. All planting beds shall be amended with 1 cubic yard of peat moss per 1,000 square feet. Till peat moss into soil to a  6" depth. A

10-10-10 fertilizer shall be spread over all planting areas prior to planting, at a rate of 50 pounds per 2,000 square feet.

2. After plants have been installed, all planting beds shall be treated with Dacthal pre-emergent herbicide prior to mulch application.

3. Plant pit backfill for trees and shrubs shall be 50% peat or well composted manure and 50% topsoil.

4. Plant material shall be maintained and guaranteed for a period of one year after Owner's acceptance of finished job.   All dead or

damaged plant material shall be replaced at Landscape Contractor's expense.

6. Landscape contractor shall maintain all plant material until final acceptance, at which point the one year guarantee begins.

Planting Notes
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    February 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   February 18, 2019 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA – CHASE BANK – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED FINAL PLAN – 
Located north of 119th Street and west of Roe Avenue – Case 11-19  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of case 11-19, Town Center Plaza – Chase Bank – request for approval of a 
Revised Final Plan with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Yosef Howley with Core States Group.   

 The property is owned by KF Investments, LLC. 

 The developer is Chris Foit with J.P. Morgan Chase 

 The engineer is Patrick Bennett with Core States Group. 

 The architect is Bruce LaSurs with Core States Group 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan for the conversion of the former Dean 
and Deluca site at Town Center Plaza into a multi-tenant building containing two tenants, a bank and 
a future office tenant.  The application includes the following modifications: 

 An ancillary drive-thru ATM within the southeast corner of site. 

 The existing building to be split into two tenant spaces. 

 The removal of a plaza area at the southeast corner of the building to be replaced by three 
parking stalls. 

 Modifications to the parking lot. 

 Sidewalk along the northern property line and a pedestrian path from Roe Avenue to the east 
entrance of the building. 

 Façade updates to the east and south sides of the existing building. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly to the north is the main center of the Town Center Plaza development 
zoned SD-CR. To the north of Town Center Plaza is 117th Street and Town Center 
Drive. Further to the north is Park Place, a mixed use development zoned MXD 
(Mixed Use District) and Leawood City Hall zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster 
Residential). 
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 South Directly south is 119th Street.  On the south side of 119th Street is Hawthorne Plaza, 
a retail shopping center within Overland Park. 

 East Directly to the east is Roe Avenue. On the east side of Roe Avenue is the Camelot 
Court shopping center within Leawood, zoned SD-CR. 

 West Directly to the west is Restoration Hardware and other retail pad sites within the 
Town Center Plaza development, zoned SD-CR. 

 
LOCATION: 

 
 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:   

 The site is located on an 88,246 sq.ft. (2.03 acre) lot at the southeast corner of the Town Center 
Plaza development. Roe Avenue is directly adjacent to the east and 119th Street is located directly to 
the south. The remainder of the Town Center Plaza development is located to the north and west.   

 The applicant proposes to modify an existing building (former Dean and Deluca building) that is 9,037 
sq.ft. and faces to the east towards Roe Avenue.   

 The existing building would be split into two tenant spaces. The eastern half of the building will 
contain the Chase Bank (3,617 sq. ft.). The western half of the building is proposed to contain a 
future office tenant (5,420 sq. ft.). 

 The new entrance into the Chase Bank tenant space will be located on the east side of the building, 
centered within the façade. The new entrance into the second tenant space is located on the south 
side of the building also centered within the existing façade of the building and will be accessed by a 
ramp and steps. 

 Existing driveways into the site are located at the southwest corner of the site off of 119th Street, and 
at the northeast corner of the site that provides an interior connection with the remainder of the Town 
Center Plaza development.  

 The site currently has 75 parking stalls.  The applicant is proposing to modify the location of some of 
the parking spaces, keeping 64 parking spaces.  Eleven additional parking spaces are proposed to 
be land banked for a total of 75 proposed and potential future parking spaces.  

 A new ATM drive-thru is proposed at the southeast corner of the site and will require the removal of 
12 existing parking spaces. Vehicular access to the ATM drive-thru from the east, under a proposed 
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canopy, and will exit at the west end of the ATM drive, then turning north.  The ATM is proposing to 
have a cuing capacity of three (3) vehicles. 

 The existing plaza area at the southeast corner of the existing building is proposed to be removed to 
make room for three parking spaces.  

 The proposed striped parking will wrap around the south and east sides of the building. 

 An existing retaining wall runs along the perimeter of the southwest corner of the site, on the west 
side of the driveway off of 119th Street. 

 A direct pedestrian connection to the front of the building is proposed from Roe Avenue. This 
connection will be constructed of brick pavers with a design to match the existing pedestrian 
connections within Town Center Plaza. 

 The applicant is proposing to construct a sidewalk along the northern boundary of the site. The 
pedestrian crossing across the northern entrance from Town Center Plaza, will match the existing 
crosswalks within Town Center Plaza. 

 Two bicycle parking spaces are proposed south of the main entrance into the proposed Chase Bank 
location. The bicycle racks are in an inverted “U” shape to allow for two points of contact for each 
bicycle to be parked. 
 

BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the project: 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 
Exterior Structure Setback 40’ 146’ Complies 
Interior Structure Setback 10’ 32’ Complies 
Exterior Parking Setback 25’ 25’ Complies 
Interior Parking Setback 10’ 28’ Complies 
Open Space 30% 44% Complies 
Maximum Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.) 0.25 0.10 

0.22** 
Complies 

Height Limit 50 ft. 26 ft. – 6 in. Complies 
Maximum % of Paved Frontage 40% Roe Ave. - 71.6%* 

119th St. – 85.0%* 
Legal Non-
Conforming 

* Legal Non-Conforming  
** Overall Town Center Plaza Development 

 
PARKING:   

 The Town Center Plaza development was constructed under a previous Leawood Development 
Ordinance that had a minimum parking ratio of 5 parking spaces/1,000 sq.ft. of building.  The Town 
Center Plaza development has a cross access parking easement between the main center and all 
out lots within the development. 

 Per the current Leawood Development Ordinance, parking provided within the SD-CR district shall be 
between 3.5 to 4.5 parking spaces per 1,000 sq.ft. of building area. The project consists of a 9,037sq. 
ft. multi-tenant building. The parking required for the building is between 32 and 41 parking spaces.  

 The site has an existing 75 existing parking spaces (8.2 parking spaces per 1,000 sq. ft.).   

 This application is proposing to construct 64 permanent parking spaces with this project and is 
showing 11 land banked parking spaces as land banked parking that may be installed with City 
approval if it is determined that the parking is needed.  Six land banked parking spaces are shown at 
the northeast corner of the site along Roe Ave., and  5 are shown on the west side of the building. 
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ELEVATIONS:   

 The existing building is primarily constructed of red brick and stucco accented by an existing blue 
canopy fabric and aluminum canopies at the ends of the building. 

 The existing glass above the canopies are to remain as part of this project. 

 The north and west elevations will not be altered with this application. 

 The east side of the building will be the main entrance into the proposed bank.  The existing entrance 
on the east elevation will be moved to be more centrally located on the façade. The new entrance will 
be constructed of a new aluminum storefront to match the existing doors and windows on the 
building. 

 An entrance is being proposed on the south elevation of the building. This entrance will be the main 
entrance into the second tenant of the building. This new entrance will be accessed by either a ramp 
from the east or stairs from the west.  

 The existing windows and awnings are to remain with no additional changes to be made. 

 The ATM Canopy is proposed to be 15’ 4” in height and 20’ in depth and 17’ 4” in width. The canopy 
will be supported by four (4) bricked columns (two columns on the north side of the drive and two on 
the south) with stone bases. The ATM will be located along the north side of the canopy between the 
two columns along that same side. 

 The new ATM Canopy will be constructed of a Savannah Stone base with Brick Veneer columns to 
match the existing building.  

 The canopy portion will be constructed of metal in a latte color with blue color with blue trim.   

 Concrete filled metal bollards used to protect the canopy are proposed to be painted blue. 
 
SIGNAGE:   

 Town Center Plaza has approved sign criteria for the development. Signage is reviewed 
administratively.  

 No signage is proposed with this application.  
 
LANDSCAPING:    

 The applicant is proposing to conform to the currently approved landscape plan for the site.  Since 
the applicant is not proposing to enlarge the building or increase the intensity of the use, they are not 
required to meet the current landscaping requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance.   

 Generally, the current landscape plans show shade and ornamental trees along the perimeter of the 
site, shrubs screening the parking areas, trees within the parking lot landscaped islands, and shrubs 
around the building.    

 
LIGHTING: 

 The applicant is proposing to replace the parking lot light poles with a smaller light pole that meets 
the maximum 18 ft. in height of the Leawood Development Ordinance. The applicant is proposing a 
KAD LED light fixture that is similar to the fixtures within the Town Center Development. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The Town Center Plaza development was constructed under a previous Leawood Development 
Ordinance that had a minimum parking ratio of 5 parking spaces/1,000 sq.ft. of building.  The current 
site has 75 striped parking spaces. The applicant is proposing 64 striped spaces with an additional 
11 spaces proposed to be land banked, for a total of 75 proposed and land banked parking spaces. 
The land banked parking spaces may be installed with City approval if it is determined that they are 
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needed through a Revised Final Plan application. The land banked parking spaces are located to the 
west of the building (5 parking spaces) and in the northwest corner of the site, by the northern 
entrance (6 parking spaces). The current Leawood Development Ordinance requires a parking ratio 
of 3.5 to 4.5 parking spaces per 1,000 sq.ft., which is 32-41 parking for this site. (Stipulation 3) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 11-19, Town Center Plaza – Chase Bank, 
request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, with the following stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to the approval of a bank with drive-up ATM, the conversion of a single tenant 

building to a multi-tenant building, façade changes, and modification to the parking lot and pedestrian 
paths.  

2. The applicant/owner shall construct a 5 ft. sidewalk along the full length of the north property line 
connecting the site to Roe Avenue and the existing sidewalk on the property to the west. 

3. The applicant shall land bank the proposed parking to the west of the existing building and by the 
northern entrance of the site. The land banked parking may only be installed with Governing Body 
approval through a Revised Final Development Plan.   

4. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines 
adjacent to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground.  This must be 
done prior to final occupancy of any building within the project. 

5. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of less than 55 
inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, shall be 
installed only with the prior approval of the Director of Planning as being in compliance with the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. 

6. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of 55 inches or 
greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, shall 
be installed only with the prior recommendation of the Planning Commission as being in compliance 
with the Leawood Development Ordinance based on review of a site plan containing such final 
development plan information as may be required by the City, and approved by the Governing Body.  
The City may impose conditions on approval, including but not limited to duration or renewal 
requirements, where the circumstances are sufficiently unusual to warrant the conditions.   

7. All pedestrian crosswalks shall be demarcated from the adjacent street pavement to match the 
existing crosswalks constructed of brick pavers at Restoration Hardware, directly to the west within 
the Town Center Plaza development. 

8. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment including, but not limited to, mechanical 
equipment, utilities, meter banks and air conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the building 
and screened from public view with landscaping or with an architectural treatment compatible with 
the building structure. 

9. All rooftop equipment shall be screened from the public view with the existing architectural treatment, 
which is compatible with the building architecture. The height of the rooftop utilities must be lower 
than the current screen.   

10. In accordance with the Leawood Development Ordinance, all trash enclosures shall be screened 
from public view with a 6 foot solid masonry structure to match the materials used in the buildings 
and shall be architecturally attached to the individual buildings and accented with appropriate 
landscaping.  The gates of the trash enclosures shall be painted, sight obscuring, decorative steel. 

11. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance all parking lot light fixtures shall be a maximum of 18 ft. in 
height from grade, inclusive of base.   
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12. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the source of illumination of all proposed light fixtures 
shall not be visible. 

13. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance the maximum foot-candles at the property line shall be 0.5 
foot-candles.   

14. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance the parking lot lighting shall have a uniformity ratio of 4 to 
1 average/minimum. 

15. All parking lot light fixtures shall be a similar style to the existing rectangular shoebox style and shall 
be similar in color of the existing parking lot light fixtures within the Town Center Plaza development.   

16. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
17. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all medium and large deciduous trees (including street 

trees), shall be 2 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, all small deciduous and ornamental 
trees shall be a minimum of 1 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, conifers and evergreen 
trees shall be a minimum of 6’ in height, and shrubs shall be a 24” in height at the time of planting. 

18. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening the 
ground mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, with lower 
shrubs in the foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

19. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 
a) All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b) All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
c) Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
d) All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 

20. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior to 
final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape plan 
and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

21. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior to 
final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape plan 
and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

22. An erosion control plan for both temporary and permanent measures to be taken during and after 
construction shall be required at the time of application for building permit. 

23. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
24. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
25. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
26. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect except 

to the extent expressly modified herein. 
27. A sign permit from the Planning Department shall be obtained prior to installation of any signs. 
28. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to 
stipulations one through twenty-eight. 
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DOCUMENTS PREPARED BY CORESTATES, INC.,

INCLUDING THIS DOCUMENT, ARE TO BE USED

ONLY FOR THE SPECIFIC PROJECT AND SPECIFIC

USE FOR WHICH THEY WERE INTENDED.  ANY

EXTENSION OF USE TO ANY OTHER PROJECTS,

BY OWNER OR BY ANY OTHER PARTY, WITHOUT

THE EXPRESSED WRITTEN CONSENT OF

CORESTATES, INC. IS DONE UNLAWFULLY AND

AT THE USERS OWN RISK.  IF USED IN A WAY

OTHER THAN THAT SPECIFICALLY INTENDED,

USER WILL HOLD CORESTATES, INC. HARMLESS

FROM ALL CLAIMS AND LOSSES.
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THE CONTRACTOR IS SPECIFICALLY CAUTIONED THAT THE LOCATION AND/OR

ELEVATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS IS BASED ON DESIGN

DRAWINGS, RECORDS OF THE VARIOUS UTILITY COMPANIES, AND WHERE POSSIBLE,

MEASUREMENTS TAKEN IN THE FIELD.  CORE STATES, INC. DOES NOT GUARANTEE

THAT LOCATIONS SHOWN ARE EXACT.  THE CONTRACTOR MUST CONTACT THE

APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANIES AT LEAST 72 HOURS BEFORE ANY EXCAVATION TO

REQUEST EXACT FIELD LOCATIONS OF UTILITIES.
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ALERT TO CONTRACTOR:

1.  THE SITE WORK FOR THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SHALL

MEET OR EXCEED ALL TOWN AND/OR COUNTY AND STATE

STANDARDS FOR SITE WORK.

1

REVISION NUMBER

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT CONTACTS:

APPLICANT/OWNER JPMORGAN CHASE

10 S. DEARBORN

5TH FLOOR

CHICAGO, IL 60603

CONTACT: CHRIS FOIT

(708) 912-3913

CIVIL ENGINEER CORE STATES GROUP

6500 CHIPPEWA STREET SUITE 200

ST. LOUIS, MO 63109

CONTACT: PATRICK BENNETT, P.E.

(314) 843-4320

ARCHITECT CORE STATES GROUP

6500 CHIPPEWA STREET SUITE 200

ST. LOUIS, MO 63109

CONTACT: BRUCE LASURS, A.I.A.

(314) 843-4320

SURVEYOR SCHMIDT, BECK & BOYD

1415 SW TOPEKA BOULEVARD

TOPEKA, KS 66612

CONTACT: RICHARD T. SCHMIDT, L.S.

(785) 215-8630

GOVERNING AGENCIES CONTACTS:

CODES ADMINISTRATION CITY OF LEAWOOD

4800 TOWN CENTER DR

LEAWOOD, KS 66211

(913) 663-9166

PLANNING SERVICES CITY OF LEAWOOD

4800 TOWN CENTER DR

LEAWOOD, KS 66211

(913) 663-9163

ENGINEERING DIVISION CITY OF LEAWOOD

4800 TOWN CENTER DR

LEAWOOD, KS 66211

(913) 663-6700

UTILITY CONTACTS:

GAS COMPANY KANSAS GAS SERVICE

(800) 794-4780

WATER WATER DISTRICT #1 OF JOHNSON COUNTY

(913)-895-1800

ELECTRIC KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT

(816) 471-5275
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USE FOR WHICH THEY WERE INTENDED.  ANY

EXTENSION OF USE TO ANY OTHER PROJECTS,

BY OWNER OR BY ANY OTHER PARTY, WITHOUT

THE EXPRESSED WRITTEN CONSENT OF

CORESTATES, INC. IS DONE UNLAWFULLY AND

AT THE USERS OWN RISK.  IF USED IN A WAY

OTHER THAN THAT SPECIFICALLY INTENDED,

USER WILL HOLD CORESTATES, INC. HARMLESS

FROM ALL CLAIMS AND LOSSES.
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SHEET TITLE

THE CONTRACTOR IS SPECIFICALLY CAUTIONED THAT THE LOCATION AND/OR

ELEVATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS IS BASED ON DESIGN

DRAWINGS, RECORDS OF THE VARIOUS UTILITY COMPANIES, AND WHERE POSSIBLE,

MEASUREMENTS TAKEN IN THE FIELD.  CORE STATES, INC. DOES NOT GUARANTEE

THAT LOCATIONS SHOWN ARE EXACT.  THE CONTRACTOR MUST CONTACT THE

APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANIES AT LEAST 72 HOURS BEFORE ANY EXCAVATION TO

REQUEST EXACT FIELD LOCATIONS OF UTILITIES.
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GENERAL SITE NOTES:

1. ALL CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS AND TECHNIQUES OF INSTALLATION SHALL MEET  PERFORMANCE VALUES

OF THE MATERIALS SPECIFIED AND COMPLY WITH ALL CITY/COUNTY REGULATIONS AND CODES AND O.S.H.A.

STANDARDS.

2. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ENSURING THAT THIS  PROJECT IS CONSTRUCTED

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THESE DOCUMENTS AND IN  COMPLIANCE WITH CODES INDICATED HEREIN. THE

QUALITY OF WORKMANSHIP AND INSTALLATION OF MATERIALS SPECIFIED BY THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER ARE

THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR. THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER WILL NOT BE HELD RESPONSIBLE

FOR ANY SUBSTANDARD OR INSUFFICIENT WORKMANSHIP, MATERIALS, OR SERVICES PROVIDED IN THE

EXECUTION OF ANY PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT.

3. ALL MATERIALS ARE TO BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURER'S   REQUIREMENTS. THE

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE THAT ALL MANUFACTURER'S WARRANTIES WILL BE HONORED.

4. ALL CONDITIONS SHOWN TO BE "EXISTING" SHALL BE VERIFIED IN THE FIELD BY THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR

PRIOR TO START OF CONSTRUCTION.  ANY DISCREPANCIES SHALL BE NOTED AND SUBMITTED TO THE

OWNER AND THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER FOR REVIEW.  CHANGES TO THE ORIGINAL DESIGN OF THE PROJECT

DUE TO EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS MUST BE APPROVED BY BOTH THE OWNER AND THE

ARCHITECT/ENGINEER PRIOR TO MAKING ANY CHANGES.

5. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR HAVING A THOROUGH  KNOWLEDGE OF EXISTING

FIELD CONDITIONS AND OF ALL DRAWINGS AND  SPECIFICATIONS RELATED TO THEIR FIELD. THE FAILURE TO

ACQUAINT HIMSELF WITH THIS PROJECT AND HIS FIELD OF SERVICE SHALL NOT RELIEVE HIM OF ANY

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PERFORMING HIS WORK PROPERLY. NO ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION SHALL BE

ALLOWED DUE TO THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR'S FAILURE TO CONVEY THE NECESSARY KNOWLEDGE TO

FAMILIARIZE WORKERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS WITH THIS PROJECT.

6. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ENSURING THE SAFETY OF ALL PERSONS ON THE

JOB SITE AT ALL TIMES INCLUDING (BUT NOT LIMITED TO) SUBCONTRACTORS, FACILITY EMPLOYEES,

VENDORS, DESIGN STAFF PROFESSIONALS AND INSPECTION PERSONNEL.

7. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE DUMPSTERS, PORTABLE TOILETS AND TEMPORARY POWER

FOR UNRESTRICTED PROJECT RELATED USE BY OTHERS FOR THE DURATION OF THE PROJECT.

8. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE PROJECT PHASING AND STORAGE OF MATERIALS WITH

THE OWNER.

9. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR RECEIVING, UNLOADING, STORING AND PROTECTING OF

MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT SUPPLIED BY THE OWNER UNTIL IT HAS BEEN INSTALLED AND ACCEPTED BY

THE OWNER.

10. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR KEEPING THE AREA CLEAN AND FREE OF DEBRIS

AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL POWER WASH THE ENTIRE

CONSTRUCTION AREA PRIOR TO TURNOVER TO THE OWNER.

11. EXISTING PAVING THAT WILL REMAIN AFTER CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE PROTECTED FROM DAMAGE. AREAS

OF EXISTING PAVING THAT ARE DAMAGED DURING CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE SAWCUT, THEN REMOVED AND

REPLACED.

12. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY THE EXACT LOCATION OF ALL PUBLIC AND PRIVATE

UTILITIES, INCLUDING IRRIGATION, SPECIFIC TO THIS PROJECT PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION OR

CONSTRUCTION. SHOULD ANY UTILITY REQUIRE RELOCATION, CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH THE

OWNER AND THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER.

13. SAWCUT AND REMOVE PORTIONS OF EXISTING PAVING ONLY AS REQUIRED TO  INSTALL NEW UTILITIES OR

TO CONSTRUCT PROPOSED FACILITIES PER THIS PLAN. REPLACE PORTIONS REMOVED TO MATCH EXISTING

FLUSH AND SMOOTH.

14. IF REQUESTED BY THE OWNER, PROVIDE TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION FENCING, MINIMUM 6'-0" HIGH,

AROUND ENTIRE AREA OF CONSTRUCTION OR PER THE CLIENTS STANDARDS. FIELD VERIFY EXACT

LOCATION AND SPECIFICATIONS OF FENCE WITH THE OWNER PRIOR TO START OF CONSTRUCTION.  REMOVE

FENCING AT COMPLETION OF PROJECT AND PATCH PAVING AS REQUIRED AT FENCE POST HOLES.

15. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO GROUND LEVEL IMPROVEMENTS (FACE OF CURB, CONCRETE SLAB, ETC UNLESS

NOTED OTHERWISE).

16. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PROTECTION OF ALL PROPERTY CORNERS.

17. CONTRACTOR SHALL MATCH PROPOSED CURB AND GUTTER, CONCRETE, AND PAVEMENT TO EXISTING IN

GRADE AND ALIGNMENT.

18. CONSTRUCTION SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL GOVERNING CODES AND BE CONSTRUCTED TO SAME.

19. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REPAIRING THE DAMAGE DONE TO ANY EXISTING ITEM TO REMAIN

DURING CONSTRUCTION, SUCH AS, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, DRAINAGE, UTILITIES, PAVEMENT, STRIPING, CURB,

ETC.  REPAIRS SHALL BE EQUAL TO, OR BETTER THAN, EXISTING CONDITIONS.  CONTRACTOR IS

RESPONSIBLE TO DOCUMENT ALL EXISTING DAMAGE AND NOTIFY OWNER PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION START.

20. CONTRACTOR SHALL REFER TO THE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR EXACT LOCATIONS AND DIMENSIONS OF

BUILDING APPURTENANCES, STAIRS, RAMPS, SLOPE PAVING, SIDEWALKS, PRECISE BUILDING DIMENSIONS

AND EXACT BUILDING UTILITY ENTRANCE LOCATIONS.

21. ALL DISTURBED AREAS ARE TO RECEIVE FOUR INCHES OF TOPSOIL, SEED OR SOD, MULCH AND WATER

UNTIL A HEALTHY STAND OF GRASS IS ESTABLISHED.

22. EXISTING STRUCTURES WITHIN CONSTRUCTION LIMITS ARE TO BE ABANDONED, REMOVED OR RELOCATED

AS NECESSARY. ALL COST SHALL BE INCLUDED IN BASE BID.

23. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL RELOCATIONS, (UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON PLANS)

INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ALL UTILITIES, STORM DRAINAGE, SIGNS, TRAFFIC SIGNALS & POLES, ETC.

AS REQUIRED.  ALL WORK SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNING AUTHORITIES REQUIREMENTS AND

PROJECT SITE WORK SPECIFICATIONS AND SHALL BE APPROVED BY SUCH. ALL COST SHALL BE INCLUDED IN

BASE BID.

24. THE SITE WORK FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL MEET OR EXCEED THE SPECIFICATIONS IN THE CONTRACT

DOCUMENTS.

25. ANY DISCREPANCIES ON THE DRAWINGS SHALL BE IMMEDIATELY BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE

OWNER AND ENGINEER OF RECORD BEFORE COMMENCING WORK. NO FIELD CHANGES OR DEVIATIONS

FROM THE DESIGN ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL.

26. IN THE EVENT THE CONSTRUCTION IS ABANDONED PRIOR TO THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT, ALL

CONSTRUCTION AND STOCKPILED VEGETATIVE DEBRIS AND FILL SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE SITE AND

THE SITE SHALL BE STABILIZED PER THE PERMIT FOR STORM WATER DISCHARGE FROM LARGE AND SMALL

CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES (NPDES).

27. THESE PLANS ARE INTENDED TO AND SHALL COMPLY WITH AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT.

28. ALL VEGETATION FROM CLEARING AND GRUBBING SHALL BE DISPOSED OF OFF-SITE.

29. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PERMITTING, INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF ALL MAINTENANCE

OF TRAFFIC OPERATIONS DURING CONSTRUCTION. MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC SHALL CONFORM TO

GOVERNING AGENCY STANDARDS.

30. ALL DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION MUST CONFORM TO THE MINIMUM STANDARDS SET DOWN IN THE CITY OF

LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT CODE, ZONING, AND/OR RELATED ORDINANCES, AND MINIMUM TESTING

FREQUENCY REQUIREMENTS.

31. CONC CURB:

A. CONCRETE CURBS SHALL BE INSTALLED ALONG EVERY STREET WITHIN A DEVELOPMENT AND AT

INTERSECTIONS WITH LOCAL ROADS, COUNTY ROADS AND STATE HIGHWAYS. THE STANDARD CURB

SECTION TO BE USED SHALL BE NOT MORE THAN 10 FEET IN LENGTH, SHALL BE SET IN ACCORDANCE

WITH APPROVED LINES AND GRADES, AND RADIAL CURBS SHALL BE FORMED IN AN ARC SEGMENT, IN A

SMOOTH CURVE. CHORD SEGMENTS ARE PROHIBITED. CONCRETE CURBS SHALL BE EIGHT INCHES BY

SIX INCHES BY 18 INCHES (SIX-INCH EXPOSED FACE), USING CLASS B CONCRETE HAVING

TWENTY-EIGHT-DAY COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH OF 4,500 POUNDS PER SQUARE INCH AND SHALL BE

AIR-ENTRAINED. AT LOCATIONS SPECIFIED BY THE APPROVING AUTHORITY, THE CURBING SHALL BE

DESIGNED TO PROVIDE A RAMP FOR BICYCLES AND/OR WHEELCHAIRS.

B. CONCRETE GUTTERS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED AS A MONOLITHIC STRUCTURE WITH THE CURB WHEN

THE GRADE OF THE STREET HAS LESS THAN A ONE-PERCENT SLOPE. THE DIMENSIONS OF THE

PARTICULAR PARTS OF THE COMBINED CURB AND GUTTER SHALL BE AS FOLLOWS:

(1) THE TOP OF THE CURB SHALL BE SIX INCHES IN WIDTH.

(2) THE REAR FACE OF THE CURB SHALL BE 18 INCHES IN HEIGHT.

(3) THE WIDTH OF THE CURB AT THE GUTTER ELEVATION SHALL BE SEVEN 

INCHES.

(4) THE WIDTH OF THE GUTTER SHALL BE 12 INCHES.

(5) THE HEIGHT OF THE CURB FACE AT THE GUTTER SHALL BE SIX INCHES, AND THE 

DEPTH OF THE GUTTER AT THE STREET FACE SHALL ALSO BE SIX INCHES.

(6) ALL EXPOSED EDGES SHALL BE ROUNDED WITH A RADIUS OF 3/4 INCH TO ONE INCH.

32. PREVIOUS SITE PLAN REMAINS IN EFFECT EXCEPT AS MODIFIED BY THE PROPOSED REVISIONS.

33. EXISTING CONDITION, INCLUDING PROPERTY LINES, LEGAL DESCRIPTION, EXISTING UTILITIES, SITE

TOPOGRAPHIC WITH SPOT ELEVATIONS, OUTSTANDING PHYSICAL FEATURES AND EXISTING STRUCTURE

LOCATIONS WERE TAKEN FROM BOUNDARY AND TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY:

34. ALL PHASES OF THE SITE WORK FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL MEET OR EXCEED THE OWNER/DEVELOPER SITE

WORK SPECIFICATIONS

35. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REMOVAL OF EXISTING STRUCTURES, RELATED UTILITIES,

PAVING, UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANKS AND ANY OTHER EXISTING IMPROVEMENTS AS NOTED. SEE SITE

WORK SPECIFICATIONS.

36. CONTRACTOR IS TO REMOVE AND DISPOSE OF ALL DEBRIS, RUBBISH AND OTHER MATERIALS RESULTING

FROM PREVIOUS AND CURRENT DEMOLITION OPERATIONS. DISPOSAL WILL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL

LOCAL, STATE AND/OR FEDERAL REGULATIONS GOVERNING SUCH OPERATIONS.

37. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR WILL BE HELD SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR AND SHALL TAKE ALL PRECAUTIONS

NECESSARY TO AVOID PROPERTY DAMAGE TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES DURING THE CONSTRUCTION

PHASES OF THIS PROJECT.

38. SAFETY NOTICE TO CONTRACTOR:  IN ACCORDANCE WITH GENERALLY ACCEPTED CONSTRUCTION

PRACTICES, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE SOLELY AND COMPLETELY RESPONSIBLE FOR CONDITIONS OF THE

JOB SITE, INCLUDING SAFETY OF ALL PERSONS AND PROPERTY DURING PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK. THIS

REQUIREMENT WILL APPLY CONTINUOUSLY AND NOT BE LIMITED TO NORMAL WORKING HOURS. ANY

CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION BY THE ENGINEER OF THE CONTRACTOR'S PERFORMANCE IS NOT INTENDED

TO INCLUDE REVIEW OF THE ADEQUACY OF THE CONTRACTOR'S SAFETY MEASURES ON OR NEAR THE

CONSTRUCTION SITE.

39. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR KEEPING THE AREA CLEAN AND FREE FROM DEBRIS AT ALL

TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION.

DEMOLITION NOTES:

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LAWS AND CODES AND OBTAIN

ALL REQUIRED PERMITS FOR ANY CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY.

2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY EXISTING CONDITIONS SHOWN ON THIS PLAN PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY

CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT ANY MARK-OUT COMPANY BEFORE PERFORMING ANY EXCAVATION

WORK.

4. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL ALL ORANGE CONSTRUCTION FENCING AND EROSION AND SEDIMENT

CONTROL DEVICES PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION OR CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY.

5. ALL STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, SITE IMPROVEMENTS AND TREES DESIGNATED ON THE DRAWINGS OR

DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER TO REMAIN SHALL BE PROTECTED FROM DAMAGE BY ALL CONSTRUCTION

OPERATIONS BY ERECTING BARRIERS, GUARDS AND ENCLOSURES AS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS OR OTHER

APPROVED MEANS. PROTECTION SHALL BE MAINTAINED UNTIL ALL WORK IN THE VICINITY OF THE WORK

BEING PROTECTED HAS BEEN COMPLETED.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL DEMOLITION AND NEW CONSTRUCTION INSPECTIONS AS

REQUIRED BY FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LAWS, REGULATIONS AND BUILDING CODES.

7. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DEMOLITION, REMOVAL, AND DISPOSAL (IN A LOCATION

APPROVED BY ALL GOVERNING AUTHORITIES) OF ALL STRUCTURES, PADS, WALLS, FLUMES, FOUNDATIONS,

PARKING, DRIVES, DRAINAGE, STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, ETC., SUCH  THAT THE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN ON

THE REMAINING PLANS CAN BE CONSTRUCTED. ALL  FACILITIES TO BE REMOVED SHALL BE UNDERCUT TO

SUITABLE MATERIAL AND BROUGHT TO  GRADE WITH SUITABLE COMPACTED FILL MATERIAL PER THE

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

8. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL DEBRIS FROM THE SITE AND DISPOSING THE DEBRIS

IN A LAWFUL MANNER. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING ALL PERMITS REQUIRED FOR

DEMOLITION AND DISPOSAL.

9. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH RESPECTIVE UTILITY COMPANIES PRIOR  TO THE REMOVAL

AND/OR RELOCATION OF UTILITIES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH THE UTILITY COMPANY

CONCERNING PORTIONS OF WORK WHICH MAY BE PERFORMED BY THE UTILITY COMPANY'S FORCES AND

ANY FEES WHICH ARE TO BE PAID TO THE UTILITY COMPANY FOR THEIR SERVICES. THE CONTRACTOR IS

RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYING ALL FEES AND CHARGES.

10. THE LOCATIONS OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN HAVE BEEN DETERMINED FROM THE BEST

INFORMATION AVAILABLE AND ARE GIVEN FOR THE CONVENIENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR. THE ENGINEER

ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR ACCURACY. PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION ACTIVITY,

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE UTILITY COMPANIES FOR ONSITE LOCATIONS OF EXISTING UTILITIES.

11. ALL EXISTING SEWERS, PIPING AND UTILITIES SHOWN ARE NOT TO BE INTERPRETED AS THE EXACT

LOCATION, OR AS THE ONLY OBSTACLES THAT MAY OCCUR ON THE SITE. VERIFY  EXISTING CONDITIONS AND

PROCEED WITH CAUTION AROUND ANY ANTICIPATED FEATURES.   GIVE NOTICE TO ALL UTILITY COMPANIES

REGARDING DESTRUCTION AND REMOVAL OF ALL  SERVICE LINES AND CAP ALL LINES BEFORE PROCEEDING

WITH THE WORK. UTILITIES DETERMINED TO BE ABANDONED AND LEFT IN PLACE SHALL BE GROUTED IF

UNDER BUILDING.

12. ELECTRICAL, TELEPHONE, CABLE, WATER, FIBER OPTIC CABLE AND/OR GAS LINES NEEDING TO  BE REMOVED

OR RELOCATED SHALL BE COORDINATED WITH THE AFFECTED UTILITY COMPANY AND REMOVED TO THE

PROPERTY LINE. ADEQUATE TIME SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR RELOCATION AND CLOSE COORDINATION WITH

THE  UTILITY COMPANY IS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE A SMOOTH TRANSITION IN UTILITY SERVICE.

CONTRACTOR SHALL PAY CLOSE ATTENTION TO EXISTING UTILITIES WITHIN ANY ROAD RIGHT OF WAY

DURING CONSTRUCTION.

13. CONTRACTOR MUST PROTECT THE PUBLIC AT ALL TIMES WITH FENCING, BARRICADES, ENCLOSURES, ETC.,

(AND OTHER APPROPRIATE BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES) AS APPROVED BY THE OWNER.

14. PRIOR TO DEMOLITION OCCURRING, ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES ARE TO BE INSTALLED.

15. CONTRACTOR SHALL LIMIT SAW-CUT & PAVEMENT REMOVAL TO ONLY THOSE AREAS WHERE IT IS REQUIRED

AS SHOWN ON THESE CONSTRUCTION PLANS BUT IF ANY DAMAGE IS INCURRED  ON ANY OF THE

SURROUNDING PAVEMENT, ETC. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ITS REMOVAL AND REPAIR.

16. DAMAGE TO ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS DESIGNATED TO REMAIN WILL BE REPLACED AT CONTRACTOR'S

EXPENSE.

17. ALL DEAD AND DAMAGED SHRUBS TO BE REPLACED IN KIND.

GENERAL UTILITY NOTES:

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE ANY DISRUPTIONS TO EXISTING UTILITY SERVICES WITH ADJACENT

PROPERTY OWNERS.

2. ALL ELECTRIC, TELEPHONE AND GAS EXTENSIONS INCLUDING SERVICE LINES SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED TO

THE APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANY SPECIFICATIONS.  ALL UTILITY DISCONNECTIONS SHALL BE

COORDINATED WITH THE DESIGNATED UTILITY COMPANIES.

3. CONSTRUCTION SHALL NOT START ON ANY PUBLIC UTILITY SYSTEM UNTIL WRITTEN APPROVAL HAS BEEN

RECEIVED BY THE ENGINEER FROM THE APPROPRIATE GOVERNING AUTHORITY AND CONTRACTOR HAS

BEEN NOTIFIED BY SAID ENGINEER.

4. PRIOR TO THE CONSTRUCTION OF OR CONNECTION TO ANY STORM DRAIN, SANITARY SEWER, WATER MAIN

OR ANY OF THE DRY UTILITIES, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL EXCAVATE, VERIFY AND CALCULATE ALL POINTS OF

CONNECTION AND ALL UTILITY CROSSINGS AND INFORM THE ENGINEER AND THE OWNER/DEVELOPER OF

ANY CONFLICT OR REQUIRED DEVIATIONS FROM THE PLAN.  NOTIFICATION SHALL BE MADE A MINIMUM OF 72

HOURS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  THE ENGINEER AND ITS CLIENTS SHALL BE HELD HARMLESS IN THE

EVENT THAT THE CONTRACTOR FAILS TO MAKE SUCH NOTIFICATION.

5. PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION, THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THAT "STUB OUTS" FOR POWER,

TELEPHONE, FIBER OPTICS, WATER AND SEWER (IF APPLICABLE) HAVE BEEN PROVIDED BY OTHERS AT THE

AREA ADJACENT TO THE PROPOSED BUILDING.  THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR

FINAL CONNECTIONS AT THE BUILDING.

6. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATING THE SCHEDULE FOR

INSTALLATION WITH THE UTILITY COMPANIES AND THE OWNER.  ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS THAT ARE

REMOVED OR DISRUPTED DURING THE PLACEMENT OF NEW UTILITIES SHALL BE REPLACED OR REPAIRED TO

MATCH ORIGINAL CONDITIONS.  ANY EXISTING UTILITIES DISRUPTED DURING  PLACEMENT OF NEW UTILITIES

SHALL BE REPAIRED AND OPERATING NORMALLY THE SAME DAY OF DISRUPTION.  ITEMS THAT MAY NEED TO

BE REPLACED OR REPAIRED INCLUDE BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO:  EXISTING ASPHALT PAVING, EXISTING

CONCRETE PAVING, WATER LINES, IRRIGATION LINES, GRASS AREAS, LANDSCAPING, AND SITE LIGHTING.

THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY THE EXACT LOCATION OF ALL EXISTING ITEMS THAT WILL

BE DISRUPTED DURING THE PLACEMENT OF NEW UTILITIES AND PROVIDE THE OWNER A DETAILED PHASING

SCHEDULE OUTLINING THE TIMELINE FOR INSTALLATION OF NEW UTILITIES INCLUDING THE PROPOSED

TIMES THAT EXISTING ITEMS WILL BE DISRUPTED.  THE NEW UTILITIES TRENCH WIDTH AND DEPTH SHALL

MEET ALL LOCAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DISPLACEMENT OF ALL UTILITIES.  IF DIRECTIONAL

BORING IS USED FOR INSTALLATION, THE ABOVE LISTED ITEMS ARE STILL REQUIRED TO BE SUBMITTED TO

THE OWNER.

7. IF ANY EXISTING STRUCTURES TO REMAIN ARE DAMAGED DURING CONSTRUCTION, IT SHALL BE THE

CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO REPAIR AND/OR REPLACE THE EXISTING STRUCTURE AS NECESSARY

TO RETURN IT TO EXISTING CONDITIONS OR BETTER.

8. ALL FILL MATERIAL IS TO BE IN PLACE, AND COMPACTED BEFORE INSTALLATION OF PROPOSED UTILITIES.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE UTILITY AUTHORITIES INSPECTORS 72 HOURS BEFORE CONNECTING TO

ANY EXISTING LINE.

10. UNDERGROUND UTILITY LINES SHALL BE INSTALLED, INSPECTED AND APPROVED BEFORE BACKFILLING.

11. ALL CONCRETE FOR ENCASEMENTS SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM 28 DAY COMPRESSION STRENGTH AT 4000 P.S.I.

12. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COMPLYING TO THE SPECIFICATIONS OF THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES WITH

REGARDS TO MATERIALS AND INSTALLATION OF THE WATER AND SEWER LINES.

13. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH ALL UTILITY COMPANIES FOR INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS AND

SPECIFICATIONS.

14. DRAWINGS DO NOT PURPORT TO SHOW ALL EXISTING UTILITIES.

15. EXISTING UTILITIES SHALL BE VERIFIED IN FIELD PRIOR TO INSTALLATION OF ANY NEW LINES.

16. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONSTRUCT GRAVITY SEWER LATERALS, MANHOLES, GRAVITY SEWER LINES AND

DOMESTIC WATER AND FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEM AS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

FURNISH ALL NECESSARY MATERIALS, EQUIPMENT, MACHINERY, TOOLS, MEANS OF TRANSPORTATION AND

LABOR NECESSARY TO COMPLETE THE WORK IN FULL AND COMPLETE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SHOWN,

DESCRIBED AND REASONABLY INTENDED REQUIREMENTS OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND

JURISDICTIONAL AGENCY REQUIREMENTS. IN THE EVENT THAT THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND THE

JURISDICTIONAL AGENCY REQUIREMENTS ARE NOT IN AGREEMENT, THE MOST STRINGENT SHALL GOVERN.

17. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE ALL DISTURBED VEGETATION IN KIND, UNLESS SHOWN OTHERWISE.

18. DEFLECTION OF PIPE JOINTS AND CURVATURE OF PIPE SHALL NOT EXCEED THE MANUFACTURER'S

SPECIFICATIONS. SECURELY CLOSE ALL OPEN ENDS OF PIPE AND FITTINGS WITH A WATERTIGHT PLUG

WHEN WORK IS NOT IN PROGRESS. THE INTERIOR OF ALL PIPES SHALL BE CLEAN AND JOINT SURFACES

WIPED CLEAN AND DRY AFTER THE PIPE HAS BEEN LOWERED INTO THE TRENCH. VALVES SHALL BE PLUMB

AND LOCATED ACCORDING TO THE PLANS.

19. ALL UTILITY AND STORM DRAIN TRENCHES LOCATED UNDER AREAS TO RECEIVE PAVING SHALL BE

COMPLETELY BACKFILLED AND COMPACTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SPECIFICATIONS. IN THE EVENT THAT

THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND JURISDICTIONAL AGENCY REQUIREMENTS ARE NOT IN AGREEMENT, THE

MOST STRINGENT SHALL GOVERN.

20. SHOP DRAWINGS FOR ALL MATERIALS AND APPURTENANCE SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO AND APPROVED BY

THE GOVERNING UTILITY DEPARTMENT. CONTRACTOR TO COPY THE ENGINEER OF RECORD WITH

APPROVED DRAWINGS AS REQUIRED. NO WORK IS TO BEGIN UNTIL SHOP DRAWINGS HAVE BEEN REVIEWED,

APPROVED AND RETURNED TO THE CONTRACTOR.

21. AT LEAST THREE WEEKS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE CITY/COUNTY

AND THE UTILITY COMPANY AND SUPPLY THEM WITH ALL REQUIRED SHOP DRAWINGS, THE CONTRACTOR'S

NAME, STARTING DATE, PROJECTED SCHEDULE AND OTHER INFORMATION AS REQUIRED. THE CITY/COUNTY

ENGINEERING INSPECTION OFFICE SHOULD ALSO BE CONTACTED FIVE DAYS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION TO

ENSURE AVAILABILITY OF INSPECTION PERSONAL. ANY WORK PREFORMED PRIOR TO NOTIFYING THE

CITY/COUNTY ENGINEERING INSPECTION OFFICE OR WITHOUT A DEPARTMENT INSPECTOR PRESENT MAY BE

SUBJECT TO REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT AT THE SOLE EXPENSE OF THE CONTRACTOR.

22. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING EXISTING WATER MAINS, FORCE MAINS,

SANITARY SEWER AND STORM MAINS AND MAINTAIN A MINIMUM CLEARANCE BETWEEN WATER MAINS AND

OTHER UTILITIES AT ALL POINTS ALONG THEIR LENGTH AS REQUIRED IN THE PLANS, DETAILS, AND

SPECIFICATIONS.

23. SANITARY SEWER, FORCE MAINS, SEWER LATERALS, AND STORM SEWERS SHOULD CROSS UNDER WATER

MAINS AND/OR WATER SERVICES WHENEVER POSSIBLE. SANITARY SEWERS, FORCE MAINS, SEWER

LATERALS, AND STORM SEWERS CROSSING WATER MAINS SHALL BE LAID TO PROVIDE A MINIMUM VERTICAL

DISTANCE OF 18 INCHES BETWEEN THE BOTTOM OF THE UPPER PIPE AND THE TOP OF THE LOWER PIPE.

24. A MINIMUM HORIZONTAL DISTANCE OF TEN FEET SHOULD BE MAINTAINED BETWEEN WATER LINES AND

SEWER LINES OR OTHER SOURCES OF CONTAMINATION.  WATER LINES AND SEWERS SHALL NOT BE LAID IN

THE SAME TRENCH EXCEPT ON THE WRITTEN APPROVAL OF THE AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION.  WATER

MAINS NECESSARILY IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO SEWERS MUST BE PLACED SO THAT THE BOTTOM OF THE

WATER LINE WILL BE AT LEAST 18 INCHES ABOVE THE TOP OF THE SEWER LINE AT ITS HIGHEST POINT.  IF

THIS DISTANCE MUST UNAVOIDABLY BE REDUCED, THE WATER LINE OR THE SEWER LINE MUST BE ENCASED

IN WATERTIGHT PIPE WITH SEALED WATERTIGHT ENDS EXTENDING AT LEAST TEN FEET EITHER SIDE OF THE

CROSSING.  ANY JOINT IN THE ENCASEMENT PIPE IS TO BE MECHANICALLY RESTRAINED.  THE ENCASEMENT

PIPE MAY BE VENTED TO THE SURFACE IF CARRYING WATER OR SEWER UNDER PRESSURE.  WHERE A

WATER LINE MUST UNAVOIDABLY PASS BENEATH THE SEWER LINE, AT LEAST 18 INCHES OF SEPARATION

MUST BE MAINTAINED BETWEEN THE OUTSIDE OF THE TWO PIPES IN ADDITION TO THE PRECEDING

ENCASEMENT REQUIREMENT.  EXCEPTIONS TO THIS MUST BE APPROVED IN WRITING BY THE AUTHORITY

HAVING JURISDICTION.

25. A MINIMUM HORIZONTAL DISTANCE OF THREE FEET SHALL BE MAINTAINED BETWEEN WATER LINES AND

OTHER UNDERGROUND OF A NONSANITARY NATURE (GAS, ELECTRIC, ETC.)  EXCEPTIONS TO THIS MUST BE

APPROVED IN WRITING BY THE AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION.

26. A MINIMUM 10 FOOT HORIZONTAL SEPARATION SHALL BE MAINTAINED BETWEEN ANY TYPE OF SEWER AND

WATER MAIN IN PARALLEL INSTALLATIONS WHENEVER POSSIBLE.

27. ALL DIP SHALL BE CLASS 50 OR HIGHER, DUCTILE IRON FITTINGS SHALL BE CLASS 350. ADEQUATE

PROTECTIVE MEASURES AGAINST CORROSION SHALL BE USED.

28. TREES SHALL BE PLACED SO AS TO AVOID BURIED UTILITIES.

29. ALL UTILITY MAIN LENGTHS SHOWN ARE APPROXIMATE. ALL MANHOLE TOP ELEVATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE.

CONTRACTOR SHALL SET MANHOLE TOP LEVEL WITH FINISH PAVEMENT GRADES.

30. PRESSURE PIPE TESTING SPECIFICATIONS SHALL REFERENCE THE CITY/COUNTY AND/OR FIRE DEPARTMENT.

31. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL NECESSARY INSPECTIONS AND/OR CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED BY

CODES AND/OR UTILITY SERVICE COMPANIES. THIS AND THE FINAL CONNECTIONS OF THE SERVICE SHALL BE

COMPLETED 30 DAYS PRIOR TO POSSESSION.

32. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH ALL UTILITY COMPANIES FOR INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS AND

SPECIFICATIONS.

33. REFER TO BUILDING PLANS FOR SITE ELECTRICAL PLAN.

GENERAL PAVING AND GRADING NOTES:

1. ALL PAVING AND GRADING CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS AND METHODS SHALL MEET THE STANDARD

SPECIFICATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION.

2. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR DEMOLITION OF EXISTING STRUCTURES INCLUDING REMOVAL OF ANY

EXISTING UTILITIES SERVING THE STRUCTURE. UTILITIES ARE TO BE REMOVED TO THE RIGHT-OF-WAY,

UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

3. THE CONTRACTOR IS SPECIFICALLY CAUTIONED THAT THE LOCATION AND/OR ELEVATION OF EXISTING

UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS IS BASED ON RECORDS OF THE VARIOUS UTILITY COMPANIES, AND

WHERE POSSIBLE, MEASUREMENTS TAKEN IN THE FIELD. THE INFORMATION IS NOT TO BE RELIED ON AS

BEING EXACT OR COMPLETE. THE CONTRACTOR MUST CALL THE APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANIES AT

LEAST 72 HOURS BEFORE ANY EXCAVATION TO REQUEST EXACT FIELD LOCATION OF UTILITIES. IT SHALL BE

THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO RELOCATE ALL EXISTING UTILITIES WHICH CONFLICT WITH

THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN ON THE PLANS.

4. ALL CUT OR FILL SLOPES SHALL BE 3:1 OR FLATTER UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

5. PRECAST STRUCTURES MAY BE USED AT CONTRACTORS OPTION AND SHALL MEET ALL AUTHORITY HAVING

JURISDICTION REQUIREMENTS/SPECIFICATIONS AT A MINIMUM.

6. IF ANY EXISTING STRUCTURES TO REMAIN ARE DAMAGED DURING CONSTRUCTION IT SHALL BE THE

CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITY TO REPAIR AND/OR REPLACE THE EXISTING STRUCTURE AS NECESSARY TO

RETURN IT TO EXISTING CONDITIONS OR BETTER.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ADHERE TO ALL TERMS & CONDITIONS AS OUTLINED IN THE EPA OR APPLICABLE

STATE GENERAL NPDES PERMIT FOR STORM WATER  DISCHARGE ASSOCIATED WITH CONSTRUCTION

ACTIVITIES.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL ADJUST AND/OR CUT EXISTING PAVEMENT AS NECESSARY TO ASSURE A SMOOTH FIT

AND CONTINUOUS GRADE.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL ASSURE POSITIVE DRAINAGE AWAY FROM BUILDINGS FOR ALL NATURAL AND PAVED

AREAS.

10. TOPOGRAPHIC INFORMATION IS TAKEN FROM A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY BY A LICENSED PROFESSIONAL

SURVEYOR AND MAPPER.  IF THE CONTRACTOR DOES NOT ACCEPT EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY AS SHOWN ON

THE PLANS, WITHOUT EXCEPTION, THEN THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SUPPLY, AT THEIR EXPENSE, A

TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY BY A REGISTERED LAND SURVEYOR TO THE OWNER FOR REVIEW.

11. ALL UNSURFACED AREAS DISTURBED BY GRADING OPERATION SHALL RECEIVE 4 INCHES OF TOPSOIL.

CONTRACTOR SHALL APPLY STABILIZATION FABRIC TO ALL SLOPES 3H:1V OR STEEPER.  CONTRACTOR

SHALL STABILIZE DISTURBED AREAS IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNING SPECIFICATIONS UNTIL A HEALTHY

STAND OF VEGETATION IS OBTAINED.

12. CONSTRUCTION SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL APPLICABLE GOVERNING CODES AND BE CONSTRUCTED TO SAME.

13. ALL PAVING, CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS, AND WORKMANSHIP WITHIN RIGHT-OF-WAY SHALL BE IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION SPECIFICATIONS AND STANDARDS (LATEST

EDITION) RESPECTIVELY.

14. ALL REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE SHALL BE CLASS III UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED AND INSTALLED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPROPRIATE APPROVING AUTHORITIES LATEST REQUIREMENTS AND

SPECIFICATIONS OR AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION SPECIFICATIONS, WHICHEVER IS MORE STRINGENT.

15. ALL CONCRETE USED ON THE SITE SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH OF 4,500 PSI  IN 28

DAYS. ALL CONCRETE SIDEWALKS SHALL HAVE CONTROL JOINTS CUT ON 5-FOOT CENTERS AND EXPANSION

JOINTS PLACED ON 60-FOOT CENTERS, CHANGES IN DIRECTION, AND ABUTTING SEPARATE POURS.

CONTRACTION JOINT SPACING MATCHES WIDTH OF SIDEWALK AND EXPANSION JOINTS ARE REQUIRED AT A

MAXIMUM OF 25 FEET.  THIS WOULD MEAN 24 FEET FOR A 6 INCH CURB.  PAVEMENT JOINTS SHALL BE

SPACED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS AND/OR DETAILS.

16. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE THAT ALL PLANTING AREAS (INTERIOR ISLANDS, FOUNDATION PLANTING

AREAS, ETC.) ARE NOT COMPACTED AND DO NOT CONTAIN LIMEROCK OR OTHER MATERIAL (CLAY,

SUBGRADE MATERIAL, MARL, ETC.) WHICH MAY ADVERSELY AFFECT DRAINAGE OF GREEN AREAS. THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL ALSO EXCAVATE AND REMOVE ALL UNDESIRABLE MATERIAL FROM ALL AREAS ON THE

SITE TO BE PLANTED AND BACKFILL WITH CLEAN, FREE DRAINING TOPSOIL.

17. CONTRACTOR IS SPECIFICALLY CAUTIONED, DEPENDING ON THE TIME OF YEAR AND PROJECT LOCATION,

DEWATERING MAY BY REQUIRED.

18. IF DEWATERING IS REQUIRED, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL OBTAIN ANY APPLICABLE REQUIRED PERMITS. THE

CONTRACTOR IS TO COORDINATE WITH THE OWNER AND ARCHITECT/ENGINEER PRIOR TO EXCAVATION.

19. STRIP TOPSOIL AND ORGANIC MATTER AND PAVING MATERIAL FROM ALL AREAS TO BE IMPERVIOUS.

TOPSOIL SHALL BE STOCKPILED ON SITE FOR REPLACEMENT ON SLOPES AND ALL OTHER GREEN AND

LANDSCAPE AREAS.

20. FIELD DENSITY TESTS SHALL BE TAKEN AT FREQUENCY AS REQUIRED IN THE SPECIFICATIONS OR AS

REQUIRED BY THE GOVERNING REGULATORY AGENCY, WHICH EVER IS MORE STRINGENT.

21. CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE POSITIVE FLOW TO ALL INLETS WITHIN DRAINAGE BASINS TO PRECLUDE

PONDED WATER.

22. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE ALL MEASURES NECESSARY TO CONTROL SEDIMENT, INCLUDING BUT NOT

LIMITED TO THE INSTALLATION OF BARRIERS AT ALL LOCATIONS WHERE THE POSSIBILITY OF TRANSFERRING

SUSPENDED SOLIDS INTO THE RECEIVING WATER BODY EXISTS DUE TO THE PROPOSED WORK. BARRIERS

MUST BE MAINTAINED IN EFFECTIVE CONDITION AT ALL LOCATIONS UNTIL CONSTRUCTION IS COMPLETED.

GATEWAY LAND SERVICES, INC.

9378 OLIVE BLVD.

ST. LOUIS, MO 63132

DATE: OCTOBER 01, 2018

ALTA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY

A TRACT OF LAND IN BLOCK 7

WASHINGTON HEIGHTS,

PB 17, PG 118 CITY BLOCK 5421

 

STANDARD ABBREVIATIONS
AC ACRES

ADA

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITY ACT

ARCH

ARCHITECTURAL

BC

BOTTOM OF CURB

BF

BASEMENT FLOOR

BK

BLOCK

BL

BASELINE

BLD

BUILDING

BOL

BOLLARD

BM

BENCH MARK

BRL

BUILDING RESTRICTION LINE

CF

CUBIC FEET

CL

CENTERLINE

CMP

CORRUGATED METAL PIPE

CONN

CONNECTION

CONC

CONCRETE

CPP

CORRUGATED PLASTIC PIPE

CY

CUBIC YARDS

DEC

DECORATIVE

DEP

DEPRESSED

DIP

DUCTILE IRON PIPE

DOM

DOMESTIC

ELEC

ELECTRIC

ELEV

ELEVATION

EP

EDGE OF PAVEMENT

ES

EDGE OF SHOULDER

EW

END OF WALL

EX

EXISTING

FES

FLARED END SECTION

FF

FINISH FLOOR ELEVATION

FH

FIRE HYDRANT

FG

FINISHED GRADE

G

GRADE

GF

GARAGE FLOOR

GH

GRADE HIGH SIDE OF WALL

GL

GRADE LOW SIDE OF WALL

GRT

GRATE

GV

GATE VALVE

HDPE

HIGH DENSITY POLYETHYLENE PIPE

HP

HIGH POINT

HOR

HORIZONTAL

HW

HEADWALL

INT

INTERSECTION

INV

INVERT

LF

LINEAR FOOT

LOC

LIMITS OF CLEARING

LOD

LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE

LOS

LINE OF SIGHT

LP

LOW POINT

LS

LANDSCAPE

MAX

MAXIMUM

MIN

MINIMUM

MH

MANHOLE

MJ

MECHANICAL JOINT

OC

ON CENTER

PC

POINT OF CURVATURE

PCCR
POINT OF COMPOUND CURVATURE, CURB RETURN

PI

POINT OF INTERSECTION

POG

POINT OF GRADE

POI

POINT OF INTEREST

PROP

PROPOSED

PT

POINT OF TANGANCY

PTCR

POINT OF TANGENCY, CURB RETURN

PVC

POLYVINYL CHLORIDE PIPE

PVI

POINT OF VERTICAL INTERSECTION

PVT

POINT OF VERTICAL TANGENCY

R

RADIUS

RCP

REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE

RCPR REINFORCED CONCRETE WITH RUBBER GASKET

RET-WALL

RETAINING WALL

R/W

RIGHT OF WAY

S

SLOPE

SAN

SANITARY SEWER

SF

SQUARE FEET

STA

STATION

STM

STORM

TBR

TO BE REMOVED

TBRL

TO BE RELOCATED

TC

TOP OF CURB

TEL

TELEPHONE

TP

TREE PROTECTION

TW

TOP OF WALL

TYP

TYPICAL

UG

UNDERGROUND

UP

UTILITY POLE

W/L

WATER LINE

W/M

WATER METER

±

PLUS OR MINUS

°

DEGREE

Ø

DIAMETER

#

NUMBER

SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL NOTES:

1. ALL APPLICABLE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE IN PLACE PRIOR TO ANY

GRADING OPERATION AND/OR INSTALLATION OF PROPOSED STRUCTURES OR UTILITIES.

2. SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES ON THIS PLAN SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARDS FOR SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL IN KANSAS.

3. APPLICABLE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE LEFT IN PLACE UNTIL

CONSTRUCTION IS COMPLETED AND/OR THE AREA IS STABILIZED.

4. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PERFORM ALL WORK, FURNISH ALL MATERIALS AND INSTALL ALL

MEASURES REQUIRED TO REASONABLY CONTROL SOIL EROSION RESULTING FROM CONSTRUCTION

OPERATIONS AND PREVENT EXCESSIVE FLOW OF SEDIMENT FROM THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.

5. ANY DISTURBED AREA THAT IS TO BE LEFT EXPOSED FOR MORE THAN THIRTY (30) DAYS AND NOT

SUBJECT TO CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC SHALL IMMEDIATELY RECEIVE A TEMPORARY SEEDING AND

FERTILIZATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE KANSAS STANDARDS AND THEIR RATES SHOULD BE

INCLUDED IN THE NARRATIVE. IF THE SEASON PROHIBITS TEMPORARY SEEDING, THE DISTURBED

AREAS WILL BE MULCHED WITH SALT HAY OR EQUIVALENT AND ANCHORED.

6. ALL SEDIMENTATION STRUCTURES WILL BE INSPECTED AND MAINTAINED ON A REGULAR BASIS AND

AFTER EVERY STORM EVENT.

7. PAVED AREAS MUST BE KEPT CLEAN AT ALL TIMES.

8. ALL CATCH BASIN INLETS WILL BE PROTECTED ACCORDING TO THE CERTIFIED PLAN.

9. ALL STORM DRAINAGE OUTLETS WILL BE STABILIZED, AS REQUIRED, BEFORE THE DISCHARGE POINTS

BECOME OPERATIONAL.

10. MULCHING IS REQUIRED ON ALL SEEDED AREAS TO INSURE AGAINST EROSION BEFORE GRASS IS

ESTABLISHED TO PROMOTE EARLIER VEGETATION COVER.

11. OFFSITE SEDIMENT DISTURBANCE MAY REQUIRE ADDITIONAL CONTROL MEASURES TO BE

DETERMINED BY THE EROSION CONTROL INSPECTOR.

12. THE CITY OF LEAWOOD SHALL BE NOTIFIED 72 HOURS PRIOR TO ANY LAND DISTURBANCE.

13. ANY CONVEYANCE OF THIS PROJECT PRIOR TO ITS COMPLETION WILL TRANSFER FULL

RESPONSIBILITY FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE CERTIFIED PLAN TO ANY SUBSEQUENT OWNERS.

14. MAXIMUM SIDE SLOPES OF ALL EXPOSED SURFACES SHALL NOT BE CONSTRUCTED STEEPER THAN

3:1 UNLESS OTHERWISE APPROVED BY THE DISTRICT.

15. ADJOINING PROPERTIES SHALL BE PROTECTED FROM EXCAVATION AND FILLING OPERATIONS ON

THE PROPOSED SITE.

16. USE STAGED CONSTRUCTION METHODS TO MINIMIZE EXPOSED SURFACES, WHERE APPLICABLE.

17. ALL VEGETATIVE MATERIAL SHALL BE SELECTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AMERICAN STANDARDS FOR

NURSERY STOCK OF THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF THE NURSERYMAN.

18. NATURAL VEGETATION AND SPECIES SHALL BE RETAINED WHERE SPECIFIED ON THE LANDSCAPING

PLAN.

19. THE SOIL EROSION INSPECTOR MAY REQUIRE ADDITIONAL SOIL EROSION MEASURES TO BE

INSTALLED, AS DIRECTED BY THE INSPECTOR.

20. NO MATERIALS SHALL BE STORED ON SITE DURING CONSTRUCTION. ALL MATERIAL EXCAVATED

SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE SITE THAT SAME DAY.

02/20/19
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DOCUMENTS PREPARED BY CORESTATES, INC.,

INCLUDING THIS DOCUMENT, ARE TO BE USED

ONLY FOR THE SPECIFIC PROJECT AND SPECIFIC

USE FOR WHICH THEY WERE INTENDED.  ANY

EXTENSION OF USE TO ANY OTHER PROJECTS,

BY OWNER OR BY ANY OTHER PARTY, WITHOUT

THE EXPRESSED WRITTEN CONSENT OF

CORESTATES, INC. IS DONE UNLAWFULLY AND

AT THE USERS OWN RISK.  IF USED IN A WAY

OTHER THAN THAT SPECIFICALLY INTENDED,

USER WILL HOLD CORESTATES, INC. HARMLESS

FROM ALL CLAIMS AND LOSSES.
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THE CONTRACTOR IS SPECIFICALLY CAUTIONED THAT THE LOCATION AND/OR

ELEVATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS IS BASED ON DESIGN

DRAWINGS, RECORDS OF THE VARIOUS UTILITY COMPANIES, AND WHERE POSSIBLE,

MEASUREMENTS TAKEN IN THE FIELD.  CORE STATES, INC. DOES NOT GUARANTEE

THAT LOCATIONS SHOWN ARE EXACT.  THE CONTRACTOR MUST CONTACT THE

APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANIES AT LEAST 72 HOURS BEFORE ANY EXCAVATION TO

REQUEST EXACT FIELD LOCATIONS OF UTILITIES.
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CORESTATES, INC. IS DONE UNLAWFULLY AND

AT THE USERS OWN RISK.  IF USED IN A WAY

OTHER THAN THAT SPECIFICALLY INTENDED,

USER WILL HOLD CORESTATES, INC. HARMLESS

FROM ALL CLAIMS AND LOSSES.
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THE CONTRACTOR IS SPECIFICALLY CAUTIONED THAT THE LOCATION AND/OR

ELEVATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS IS BASED ON DESIGN

DRAWINGS, RECORDS OF THE VARIOUS UTILITY COMPANIES, AND WHERE POSSIBLE,

MEASUREMENTS TAKEN IN THE FIELD.  CORE STATES, INC. DOES NOT GUARANTEE

THAT LOCATIONS SHOWN ARE EXACT.  THE CONTRACTOR MUST CONTACT THE

APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANIES AT LEAST 72 HOURS BEFORE ANY EXCAVATION TO

REQUEST EXACT FIELD LOCATIONS OF UTILITIES.

Call before you dig.
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GRAPHIC SCALE

DEMOLITION &

SOIL EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

C-3

1" = 20'

EXISTING BLOCK NUMBER

EXISTING TREE

EXISTING LOT NUMBER

PROPERTY BOUNDARY LINE

CENTER LINE OF EXISTING ROADWAY

EXISTING EDGE OF PAVEMENT

ADJOINING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING 1' INTERVAL CONTOUR LINE

EXISTING 5' INTERVAL CONTOUR LINE

EXISTING UTILITY POLE

EXISTING WATER MAIN

EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING WATER VALVE

EXISTING GAS MAIN

EXISTING FENCE

EXISTING TREE LINE

EXISTING CURB

EXISTING OVERHEAD WIRES

EXISTING TELEPHONE

EXISTING UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC

EXISTING LEGEND

EXISTING SANITARY

DEMO CURB

EXISTING STORM

EXISTING STORM STRUCTURES

EXISTING SANITARY STRUCTURES

LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE
LOD LOD

DEMO GRAVEL ROAD

DEMO ASPHALT

DEMO PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED SAWCUT LINE

DEMO TREE

DEMO UTILITY POLE

DEMOLITION KEY NOTES:

A. EXISTING CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER TO BE

REMOVED.

B. EXISTING CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER TO REMAIN.

CONTRACTOR TO PROTECT IN PLACE.

C. EXISTING HARDSCAPE TO BE REMOVED.

D. EXISTING WALK TO BE SAWCUT/REMOVED TO CLOSEST

JOINT(S).

E. EXISTING WALK TO REMAIN. CONTRACTOR TO PROTECT

IN PLACE.

F. SAWCUT LINE.

G. EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED.

H. EXISTING STRIPING TO BE REMOVED.

I. EXISTING LIGHT POLE TO BE REMOVED.

SS

IP

SOX

E&S LEGEND

SILT SOXX. REFER TO SHEET

CD-1 FOR DETAIL

INLET PROTECTION. REFER

TO SHEET CD-1 FOR DETAIL

LIMIT OF DISTURBANCE

(AREA  15,633 SF / 0.359 AC)

LOD

GENERAL NOTES:

1. THIS PROJECT REFERENCES A SURVEY PREPARED BY:

SCHMIDT, BECK & BOYD

1415 SW TOPEKA BOULEVARD

TOPEKA, KANSAS 66612

DATE: OCTOBER 26, 2018

ATLA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY

LOT 1, TOWN CENTER PLAZA

4700 W 119TH STREET

CITY OF LEAWOOD

COUNTY OF JOHNSON

STATE OF KANSAS

2. CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITY

LOCATIONS PRIOR TO COMMENCING ANY WORK.

MAINTENANCE

ALL MEASURES STATED ON THIS PLAN SHALL BE MAINTAINED IN

FULLY FUNCTIONAL CONDITION UNTIL NO LONGER REQUIRED FOR

A COMPLETED PHASE OF WORK OR FINAL STABILIZATION OF THE

SITE. ALL EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION CONTROL MEASURES

SHALL BE CHECKED BY A QUALIFIED PERSON IN ACCORDANCE

WITH THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS OR THE APPLICABLE PERMIT,

WHICHEVER IS MORE STRINGENT, AND REPAIRED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING:

1. INLET PROTECTION SHALL BE REPAIRED TO THEIR ORIGINAL

CONDITION IF DAMAGED. SEDIMENT SHALL BE REMOVED

FROM THE INLET PROTECTION WHEN CLOGGING BECOMES

APPARENT.

2. SILT SOXX SHALL BE REPAIRED TO THEIR ORIGINAL

CONDITION IF DAMAGED.

LIMIT OF DISTURBANCE

(AREA  24,564 SF/0.564 AC)

SEQUENCE OF CONSTRUCTION:

PHASE I

1. INSTALL TEMPORARY INLET PROTECTION(S) AND SILT SOXX.

2. PREPARE TEMPORARY PARKING AND STORAGE AREA AT

LOCATION IN PARKING LOT DESIGNATED BY OWNER.

3. BEGIN DEMOLITION ACTIVITIES HARDSCAPE REMOVAL.

4. START CONSTRUCTION OF BUILDING.

PHASE II

1. TEMPORARILY SEED OR MULCH, THROUGHOUT

CONSTRUCTION, DENUDED AREAS THAT WILL BE INACTIVE

FOR 7 DAYS OR MORE.

2. INSTALL CURB AND PAVEMENT SUBBASE.

3. PERMANENTLY STABILIZE AREAS TO BE VEGETATED AS THEY

ARE BROUGHT TO FINAL GRADE.

4. PREPARE SITE FOR PAVING.

5. PAVE SITE AND INSTALL SIGNAGE.

6. COMPLETE GRADING AND INSTALLATION OF PERMANENT

STABILIZATION OVER ALL AREAS.

7. CALL ENGINEER OF RECORD AFTER THE SITE APPEARS TO BE

FULLY STABILIZED FOR AN INSPECTION.

8. REMOVE ALL TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL

DEVICES AFTER APPROVAL OF THE ENGINEER OF RECORD

AND STABILIZE ANY AREAS DISTURBED BY THE REMOVAL OF

THE BMP.

9. CONTINUE DAILY INSPECTION REPORTS UNTIL THE FINAL

DAILY INSPECTION IS SIGNED OFF BY THE OWNER THAT THE

SITE IS FULLY STABILIZED AND THE PERMIT MAY BE

TERMINATED.

NOTE: THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR MAY COMPLETE

CONSTRUCTION-RELATED ACTIVITIES CONCURRENTLY

ONLY IF ALL PRECEDING BMPS HAVE BEEN COMPLETELY

INSTALLED.

02/20/19
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DOCUMENTS PREPARED BY CORESTATES, INC.,

INCLUDING THIS DOCUMENT, ARE TO BE USED

ONLY FOR THE SPECIFIC PROJECT AND SPECIFIC

USE FOR WHICH THEY WERE INTENDED.  ANY

EXTENSION OF USE TO ANY OTHER PROJECTS,

BY OWNER OR BY ANY OTHER PARTY, WITHOUT

THE EXPRESSED WRITTEN CONSENT OF

CORESTATES, INC. IS DONE UNLAWFULLY AND

AT THE USERS OWN RISK.  IF USED IN A WAY

OTHER THAN THAT SPECIFICALLY INTENDED,

USER WILL HOLD CORESTATES, INC. HARMLESS

FROM ALL CLAIMS AND LOSSES.
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DOCUMENT

REV DATE COMMENT BY

CLIENT

CHECKED BY:

SHEET NO.

JOB #:

SCALE:

DRAWN BY:

DATE:

SHEET TITLE

THE CONTRACTOR IS SPECIFICALLY CAUTIONED THAT THE LOCATION AND/OR

ELEVATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS IS BASED ON DESIGN

DRAWINGS, RECORDS OF THE VARIOUS UTILITY COMPANIES, AND WHERE POSSIBLE,

MEASUREMENTS TAKEN IN THE FIELD.  CORE STATES, INC. DOES NOT GUARANTEE

THAT LOCATIONS SHOWN ARE EXACT.  THE CONTRACTOR MUST CONTACT THE

APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANIES AT LEAST 72 HOURS BEFORE ANY EXCAVATION TO

REQUEST EXACT FIELD LOCATIONS OF UTILITIES.
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KEYED NOTES:

A. PROPOSED DRIVE-UP ATM.

B. PROPOSED ADA COMPLIANT PERPENDICULAR RAMP.

C. PROPOSED 9' X 18' PARKING SPACE.

D. PROPOSED 9' X 18' ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACE.

E. NOT USED.

F. PROPOSED ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGNAGE.

G. PROPOSED RETAINING WALL SEE SHEET C-7 FOR DETAILS.

H. PROPOSED STOP AND DO NOT ENTER BAR.

I. PROPOSED CROSSWALK SURFACE SHALL BE CONCRETE PAVERS.

COLOR AND PATTERN SHALL MATCH EXISTING CROSSINGS IN TOWN

CENTER PLAZA. PAVERS SHALL BE SET ON CONCRETE BASE.

J. PROPOSED CONCRETE PAD.

K. PROPOSED CONCRETE SIDEWALK.

L. PROPOSED GRASSED/LANDSCAPED AREA.

M. PROPOSED CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER.

N. PROPOSED ASPHALT PAVEMENT.

O. PROPOSED 4 PARKING SPACE BIKE RACK. SEE SHEET C-7 FOR DETAIL.

P. FUTURE HANDRAIL.

Q. FUTURE SIDEWALK.

R. PROPOSED TRAFFIC CIRCULATION PATTERN. CONTRACTOR NOT TO

ADD PAVEMENT MARKING.

S. PROPOSED CROSSWALK STRIPING.

T. PROPOSED SITE LIGHT POLE.

U. FUTURE BUILDING ENTRANCE.

V. FUTURE STAIRS.

W. PROPOSED FENCE TO BE INSTALLED AT TOP OF RETAINING WALL.

X. PROPOSED DRIVE-THRU CANOPY.

Y. CONTRACTOR TO REPLACE TRASH ENCLOSURE DOORS WITH LDO

APPROVED MATERIALS.

Z. PROPOSED CURB INLET PER CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

AA. PROPOSED 18" RCP PER CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

BB.  FUTURE PARKING SPACES

CC. FUTURE CURB AND GUTTER

DD. FUTURE HANDRAIL

EXISTING PROPERTY BOUNDARY LINE

EXISTING ROAD CENTERLINE

EXISTING ADJOINING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING CURB

SITE LEGEND

PROPOSED CURB

PROPOSED MOUNTABLE

PROPOSED STORM STRUCTURES

PROPOSED SANITARY STRUCTURES

EXISTING SANITARY STRUCTURES

PROPOSED ROAD CENTERLINE

PROPOSED RIP RAP

PROPOSED CONCRETE

PROPOSED DITCH CENTERLINE

PROPOSED LIMITS OF BMP / DETENTION

WV

EXISTING WATER STRUCTURES

MB

PROPOSED WATER STRUCTURES

PROPOSED PARKING COUNT

PROPOSED BUILDING

X

PROPOSED ASPHALT

GENERAL NOTES:

1. THIS PROJECT REFERENCES A SURVEY PREPARED BY:

SCHMIDT, BECK & BOYD

1415 SW TOPEKA BOULEVARD

TOPEKA, KANSAS 66612

DATE: OCTOBER 26, 2018

ATLA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY

LOT 1, TOWN CENTER PLAZA

4700 W 119TH STREET

CITY OF LEAWOOD

COUNTY OF JOHNSON

STATE OF KANSAS

2. CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITY

LOCATIONS PRIOR TO COMMENCING ANY WORK.

PARKING CALCULATIONS:

REQUIRED PARKING SPACES FOR ZONE SD-CR COMMERCIAL SERVICE USE:

4.5 PARKING SPACES PER 1,000 SF GFA

9,037 SF GFA x (4.5 SPACES / 1,000 SF GFA) = 41 SPACES REQUIRED

75 SPACES EXISTING

64 SPACES PROVIDED

11 FUTURE SPACES

                                                                                           75 TOTAL FUTURE

PARKING NOTE:

FUTURE PARKING TO BE LAND BANKED FOR FUTURE USE. IF TENANTS ARE

IN NEED OF ADDITIONAL PARKING THESE SPACES WILL BE USE TO FULFILL

THE PARKING NEED BY FILING A NEW REVISED FINAL PLAN APPLICATION.

OPEN SPACE CALCULATION:

TOTAL AREA: 88,246 SQUARE FEET

EXISTING: 38,669 SQUARE FEET = 43.82%

PROPOSED: 38,814 SQUARE FEET = 43.98%

INCREASE: 145 SQUARE FEET = 0.16%

ZONING DATA  (PLANNED GENERAL RETAIL - SD-CR)

ITEM REQUIRED EXISTING PROPOSED COMMENT

MIN. BUILDING FRONT SETBACK 40 FEET 96.56 FEET 96.56 FEET COMPLIANT

MIN. BUILDING SIDE SETBACK 40 FEET 32.48 FEET 32.48 FEET NOT COMPLIANT

1

MIN. BUILDING REAR SETBACK 40 FEET N/A N/A COMPLIANT

MAX. FAR 0.25 0.10 0.10 COMPLIANT

MAX. IMPERVIOUS COVERAGE 70% 56.18% 56.03% COMPLIANT

MAX. BUILDING HEIGHT 50 FEET 26.6 FEET 26.6 FEET COMPLIANT

1: EXISTING NONCONFORMITY

PROPOSED VEHICLE CIRCULATION PATTERN

MILL AND OVERLAY ENTIRE LOT

COLD MILL SURFACE 1.5 - 2.5 INCHES AND REPLACE

WITH HOT MIX ASPHALT - COMMERCIAL SURFACE MIX.

AREA = 25,314 SF

PROPOSED MILL AND OVERLAY
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PROPOSED CHASE BANK

SPACE = +/- 3,617 SF

FUTURE OFFICE TENANT

SPACE = +/- 5,420 SF
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DOCUMENTS PREPARED BY CORESTATES, INC.,

INCLUDING THIS DOCUMENT, ARE TO BE USED

ONLY FOR THE SPECIFIC PROJECT AND SPECIFIC

USE FOR WHICH THEY WERE INTENDED.  ANY

EXTENSION OF USE TO ANY OTHER PROJECTS,

BY OWNER OR BY ANY OTHER PARTY, WITHOUT

THE EXPRESSED WRITTEN CONSENT OF

CORESTATES, INC. IS DONE UNLAWFULLY AND

AT THE USERS OWN RISK.  IF USED IN A WAY

OTHER THAN THAT SPECIFICALLY INTENDED,

USER WILL HOLD CORESTATES, INC. HARMLESS

FROM ALL CLAIMS AND LOSSES.
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PROPOSED CHASE BANK

SPACE = +/- 3,617 SF

FUTURE OFFICE TENANT
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LUMINAIRE SCHEDULE

SYMBOL MANUFACTURER MODEL CATALOG QTY DISTRIBUTION

MOUNT

HT.

GE ECRA E-CSA04A-W50W 2 TYPE 5 10'-8"

GE

ROUND DI

SERIES

DI4R10930FL1V/2V10 12 TYPE 5 9'-0"

LITHONIA

LIGHTING

KAD LED

KADLED-20C-530-30K-R3-

MVOLT-SPD04

16 TYPE 3 18'-0"

LITHONIA

LIGHTING

KAD LED

KADLED-20C-530-30K-R5-

MVOLT-SPD04

12 TYPE 5 18'-0"

LIGHTING NOTES

LIGHTING PLAN LUMINANCE LEVELS CALCULATED AT 3' ABOVE GRADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LEAWOOD

LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCES.

ALL PROPOSED FIXTURES ON TIMER TO OPERATE DURING NIGHT TIME HOURS, 30 MINUTES AFTER SUBSET

AND 30 MINUTES BEFORE SUNRISE.

CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL FIXTURE ON LITHONIA LIGHTING POLE 4" SQUARE POLE. MOUNT HEIGHTS ARE

BASED ON HEIGHT ABOVE FINISHED ASPHALT GRADE.

CALCULATION SUMMARY

AREA AVERAGE MAX MIN AVG/MIN

PROPERTY

ANALYSIS

1.30 23.3 0.0 N/A

PARKING

ANALYSIS

1.92 16.4 0.5 3.84
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DOCUMENTS PREPARED BY CORESTATES, INC.,

INCLUDING THIS DOCUMENT, ARE TO BE USED

ONLY FOR THE SPECIFIC PROJECT AND SPECIFIC

USE FOR WHICH THEY WERE INTENDED.  ANY

EXTENSION OF USE TO ANY OTHER PROJECTS,

BY OWNER OR BY ANY OTHER PARTY, WITHOUT

THE EXPRESSED WRITTEN CONSENT OF

CORESTATES, INC. IS DONE UNLAWFULLY AND

AT THE USERS OWN RISK.  IF USED IN A WAY

OTHER THAN THAT SPECIFICALLY INTENDED,

USER WILL HOLD CORESTATES, INC. HARMLESS

FROM ALL CLAIMS AND LOSSES.
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THE CONTRACTOR IS SPECIFICALLY CAUTIONED THAT THE LOCATION AND/OR

ELEVATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS IS BASED ON DESIGN

DRAWINGS, RECORDS OF THE VARIOUS UTILITY COMPANIES, AND WHERE POSSIBLE,

MEASUREMENTS TAKEN IN THE FIELD.  CORE STATES, INC. DOES NOT GUARANTEE

THAT LOCATIONS SHOWN ARE EXACT.  THE CONTRACTOR MUST CONTACT THE

APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANIES AT LEAST 72 HOURS BEFORE ANY EXCAVATION TO

REQUEST EXACT FIELD LOCATIONS OF UTILITIES.
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DETAILS

C-7

NONE

INLET PROTECTION DETAIL

SECURE LIFTING LOOPS

TO OR UNDER

SURROUNDING SURFACE.

FINISH GRADE

2"X2"X3/4" RUBBER

BLOCK (TYP)

1/4" BRIGHTLY COLORED

NYLON ROPE EXPANSION

RESTRAINT

L

E

N

G

T

H

=

L

W

I

D

T

H

=

W

D

E

P

T

H

=

D

INLET GRATE

LOOPS SIZED FOR 1" REBAR.

LIFT FILTER BAG FROM INLET

USING REBAR FOR HANDLES.

GEOTEXTILE BAG

OVERFLOW HOLES

(OPTIONAL)

LOOPS SIZED FOR 1" REBAR. USE REBAR

FOR A HANDLE TO EMPTY FILTER SACK AT

A SEDIMENT COLLECTION LOCATION.

NOTES:

1.  REMOVE TRAPPED SEDIMENT WHEN BRIGHTLY COLORED EXPANSION 

RESTRAINT CAN NO LONGER BE SEEN.

2.  GEOTEXTILE SHALL BE A WOVEN POLYPROPYLENE FABRIC THAT MEETS

OR EXCEEDS REQUIREMENTS IN THE SPECIFICATIONS TABLE.

3.  PLACE AN OIL ADSORBENT PAD OR PILLOW OVER INLET GRATE WHEN OIL

SPILLS ARE A CONCERN.

4.  INSPECT PER REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS.

5.  THE WIDTH, "W", OF THE FILTER SACK SHALL MATCH THE INSIDE WIDTH 

OF THE GRATED INLET BOX.

6.  THE DEPTH, "D", OF THE FILTER SACK SHALL BE BETWEEN 18 INCHES AND

36 INCHES.

7.  THE LENGTH, "L", OF THE FILTER SACK SHALL MATCH THE INSIDE LENGTH

OF THE GRATED INLET BOX.

DO NOT USE IN PAVED AREAS WHERE PONDING

     MAY CAUSE TRAFFIC HAZARDS.

LOW TO MODERATE FLOW GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SPECIFICATION TABLE

PROPERTIES TEST METHOD UNITS

GRAB TENSILE STRENGTH

GRAB TENSILE ELONGATION

PUNCTURE

MULLEN BURST

TRAPEZOID TEAR

UV RESISTANCE

APPARENT OPENING SIZE

FLOW RATE

PERMITTIVITY

ASTM D-4632

ASTM D-4632

ASTM D-4833

ASTM D-3786

ASTM D-4533

ASTM D-4355

ASTM D-4751

ASTM D-4491

ASTM D-4491

300 LBS

20 %

120 LBS

800 PSI

120 LBS

80 %

40 US SIEVE

40 GAL/MIN/SQ FT

0.55 SEC -1

MODERATE TO HIGH FLOW GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SPECIFICATION TABLE

PROPERTIES TEST METHOD UNITS

GRAB TENSILE STRENGTH

GRAB TENSILE ELONGATION

PUNCTURE

MULLEN BURST

TRAPEZOID TEAR

UV RESISTANCE

APPARENT OPENING SIZE

FLOW RATE

PERMITTIVITY

ASTM D-4632

ASTM D-4632

ASTM D-4833

ASTM D-3786

ASTM D-4533

ASTM D-4355

ASTM D-4751

ASTM D-4491

ASTM D-4491

265 LBS

20 %

135 LBS

420 PSI

45 LBS

90 %

20 US SIEVE

200 GAL/MIN/SQ FT

1.5 SEC -1

SECTION VIEW

  PROFILE VIEW OF

INSTALLED FILTER SACK

ISOMETRIC VIEW

N.T.S.

SECTION

PLAN

1. ALL MATERIAL TO MEET SPECIFICATIONS.

2. FILTER MEDIA TO MEET APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS.

3. FILTER MEDIA TO BE DISPERSED ON SITE, AS DETERMINED BY

ENGINEER.

SiltSoxxTM (8" , 12", or 18" TYPICAL)

AREA TO BE PROTECTED

WORK AREA

WORK AREA

AREA TO BE

PROTECTED

SiltSoxxTM (8", 12", 18" TYPICAL)

WATER FLOW

CONCRETE BLOCKS SIZED AS

NEEDED (10' O.C.)

CONCRETE BLOCKS SIZED AS NEEDED (10'

O.C.)

PAVEMENT OR IMPERVIOUS

SURFACE

NOTES

SILT SOXX ON PAVEMENT (SS)

N.T.S.

RESTRICTED PARKING SIGN DETAIL

NTS

GRADE

FINISH
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F
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E
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SUBSEQUENT OFFENSES

TOW-AWAY ZONE

COMMUNITY SERVICE

UP TO 90 DAYS

$250 MIN. AND/OR

$250 1ST OFFENSE

PENALTY

PARKING

RESERVED

3
'
-
8
"
 
M

I
N

.

(TYP.)

FLAG MOUNTED SIGNS. SEE

RESTRICTED PARKING SIGN

DETAIL (TYP.)

2" X 3" RECTANGULAR

ALUMINUM TUBE WITH

.063" ALUM. CAP PLATE.
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F

 
W
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T
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N

 
P

E
D

E
S

T
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N
 
W
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L
K

W
A

Y

1'-6"

· ALL EXPOSED PAINTED SURFACES SHALL BE

COATED WITH MATTHEWS #282-208SP VOC GLOSS

CLEAR, WITH MINIMUM 2 MILS DRY FILM

THICKNESS (DFT) PER MATTHEWS APPLICATIONS

SPECIFICATIONS.

· EMBEDDED PORTION OF POST SHALL BE PRIMED

AND PAINTED FOR CORROSION PROTECTION

· SIGN DETAIL SHOWN FOR GUIDANCE PURPOSES.

CONTRACTOR TO REFER TO CHASE SIGNAGE

PERMIT ATTAINED BY OTHERS.

BIKE RACK DETAIL

PARKING STRIPING DETAIL

NTS

STANDARD 90°

ACCESSIBLE SPACE

4" TRAFFIC BLUE

STRIPING 2'-0" O.C. (TYP.)

4" TRAFFIC WHITE

STRIPING (TYP.)

9.0'

(VAN)

1
8
.
0

'

9.0'

CONCRETE CURB WITH GUTTER DETAIL

CURB

30"

HANDHOLE

BASE COVER

GRADE

#6 AWG

MANUFACTURER

BOLTS BY FIXTURE

FOUR (4) ANCHOR

PITCH TOP

POLE

30"

2'-0" MIN.

POLE BASE DETAIL

N.T.S.

LAWN AREAS: 6"

ABOVE GRADE

3500 PSI REINFORCED

CONCRETE FOUNDATION

3/4" X 10'-0"

GROUND ROD

EXOTHERMIC

WELD (CADWELD)

#4 TIES @

12" O.C.

45° CHAMFER ALL

AROUND

6-#4 VERTICAL

REINFORCING BARS

6'-0" MIN. BELOW

GRADE

PVC CONDUITS

TWO (2) MINIMUM

WIDTH (SEE PLAN)

FINISHED GRADE SHALL BE

FLUSH WITH ABUTTING

CONCRETE SURFACE

6' X 6' GRID. W2.9 X W2.9

WELDED WIRE MESH

4" THICK, AIR ENTRAINED

CONCRETE 4,500 PSI AT 28

DAYS

EXISTING COMPACTED

SUBGRADE

MEET GRADE AT PERIMETER

OF CONCRETE MAT

6" THICK CLEAN

CRUSHED STONE

CONCRETE PAD AND SIDEWALK DETAIL

NTS

NOTE: PROVIDE CONCRETE CONTROL AND

EXPANSION JOINTS AS REQUIRED. CONTROL

JOINTS SHALL BE AT EVERY 5 FEET,

EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE EVERY 30 FEET

AT FULL DEPTH.

NOTE:

USE NON-REFLECTIVE WHITE PAINT, TYP. BUT USE YELLOW PAINT

ON WHEN WHITE PAINT DOES NOT PROVIDE SUFFICIENT CONTRAST.

1'-6" 1'-6"8"
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'
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4" MIN

6" MAX

1
8

'
-
0

"
 
O

R
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S
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E
Q

U
I
R

E
D

)

20°'

STRIPING DETAIL

ARROW DETAIL

PAVEMENT STRIPING DETAIL

CONTRACTOR TO CONSTRUCT

DETECTABLE WARNINGS ONLY

WHEN SIDEWALK INTERSECTS A

VEHICULAR TRAVELED WAY.

DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACES

SHALL CONSIST OF RAISED

TRUNCATED DOMES WITH A

BOTTOM DIAMETER OF NOMINAL

0.9 IN. AND A TOP DIAMETER OF 0.4

IN. A HEIGHT OF NOMINAL 0.2 IN.

AND A CENTER TO CENTER

SPACING OF NOMINAL 2.35 IN. AND

SHALL CONTRAST VISUALLY WITH

ADJOINING SURFACES, EITHER

LIGHT ON DARK OR DARK ON

LIGHT.

NOTES:

1.) CURB RAMPS MAY NOT EXTEND

INTO ANY PORTION OF THE

PARKING SPACE OR ASSOCIATED

STRIPED ISLAND.

2.) CURB RAMPS, PAVEMENT

MARKINGS, & APPLICABLE

SIGNAGE SHALL BE

CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE

WITH THE LATEST A.D.A.

ACCESSIBILITY GUIDELINES.

3.) A LEVEL LANDING AREA 5.0' (60

INCHES) IN LENGTH SHALL BE

PROVIDED BEHIND THE RAMP.

ADA CONCRETE RAMP DETAILS

CURB TO BE

FLUSH WITH

PAVEMENT
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* IF DIMENSION IS LESS

THAN 4.0' THEN THE SLOPE

OF THE FLARED SIDE

SHALL NOT EXCEED 1:12.
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6"x12"

COMMUNITY SERVICE

UP TO 90 DAYS

$250 MIN. AND/OR

SUBSEQUENT OFFENSES

$250 1ST OFFENSE

PENALTY

12"x18"

PARKING

RESERVED

CURB WIDTH TO

MATCH EXISTING

ON SITE

02/20/19
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USE FOR WHICH THEY WERE INTENDED.  ANY

EXTENSION OF USE TO ANY OTHER PROJECTS,

BY OWNER OR BY ANY OTHER PARTY, WITHOUT

THE EXPRESSED WRITTEN CONSENT OF

CORESTATES, INC. IS DONE UNLAWFULLY AND

AT THE USERS OWN RISK.  IF USED IN A WAY

OTHER THAN THAT SPECIFICALLY INTENDED,

USER WILL HOLD CORESTATES, INC. HARMLESS

FROM ALL CLAIMS AND LOSSES.
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KEYED NOTES:

A. PROPOSED DRIVE-UP ATM.

B. PROPOSED ADA COMPLIANT PERPENDICULAR RAMP.

C. PROPOSED 9' X 18' PARKING SPACE.

D. PROPOSED 9' X 18' ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACE.

E. NOT USED.

F. PROPOSED ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGNAGE.

G. PROPOSED RETAINING WALL SEE SHEET C-7 FOR DETAILS.

H. PROPOSED STOP AND DO NOT ENTER BAR.

I. PROPOSED CROSSWALK SURFACE SHALL BE CONCRETE PAVERS.

COLOR AND PATTERN SHALL MATCH EXISTING CROSSINGS IN TOWN

CENTER PLAZA. PAVERS SHALL BE SET ON CONCRETE BASE.

J. PROPOSED CONCRETE PAD.

K. PROPOSED CONCRETE SIDEWALK.

L. PROPOSED GRASSED/LANDSCAPED AREA.

M. PROPOSED CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER.

N. PROPOSED ASPHALT PAVEMENT.

O. PROPOSED 4 PARKING SPACE BIKE RACK. SEE SHEET C-7 FOR DETAIL.

P. FUTURE HANDRAIL.

Q. FUTURE SIDEWALK.

R. PROPOSED TRAFFIC CIRCULATION PATTERN. CONTRACTOR NOT TO

ADD PAVEMENT MARKING.

S. PROPOSED CROSSWALK STRIPING.

T. PROPOSED SITE LIGHT POLE.

U. FUTURE BUILDING ENTRANCE.

V. FUTURE STAIRS.

W. PROPOSED FENCE TO BE INSTALLED AT TOP OF RETAINING WALL.

X. PROPOSED DRIVE-THRU CANOPY.

Y. CONTRACTOR TO REPLACE TRASH ENCLOSURE DOORS WITH LDO

APPROVED MATERIALS.

Z. PROPOSED CURB INLET PER CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

AA. PROPOSED 18" RCP PER CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

BB.  FUTURE PARKING SPACES

CC. FUTURE CURB AND GUTTER

DD. FUTURE HANDRAIL

EXISTING PROPERTY BOUNDARY LINE

EXISTING ROAD CENTERLINE

EXISTING ADJOINING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING CURB

SITE LEGEND

PROPOSED CURB

PROPOSED MOUNTABLE

PROPOSED STORM STRUCTURES

PROPOSED SANITARY STRUCTURES

EXISTING SANITARY STRUCTURES

PROPOSED ROAD CENTERLINE

PROPOSED RIP RAP

PROPOSED CONCRETE

PROPOSED DITCH CENTERLINE

PROPOSED LIMITS OF BMP / DETENTION

WV

EXISTING WATER STRUCTURES

MB

PROPOSED WATER STRUCTURES

PROPOSED PARKING COUNT

PROPOSED BUILDING

X

PROPOSED ASPHALT

GENERAL NOTES:

1. THIS PROJECT REFERENCES A SURVEY PREPARED BY:

SCHMIDT, BECK & BOYD

1415 SW TOPEKA BOULEVARD

TOPEKA, KANSAS 66612

DATE: OCTOBER 26, 2018

ATLA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY

LOT 1, TOWN CENTER PLAZA

4700 W 119TH STREET

CITY OF LEAWOOD

COUNTY OF JOHNSON

STATE OF KANSAS

2. CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITY

LOCATIONS PRIOR TO COMMENCING ANY WORK.

PARKING CALCULATIONS:

REQUIRED PARKING SPACES FOR ZONE SD-CR COMMERCIAL SERVICE USE:

4.5 PARKING SPACES PER 1,000 SF GFA

9,037 SF GFA x (4.5 SPACES / 1,000 SF GFA) = 41 SPACES REQUIRED

75 SPACES EXISTING

64 SPACES PROVIDED

11 FUTURE SPACES

                                                                                           75 TOTAL FUTURE

PARKING NOTE:

FUTURE PARKING TO BE LAND BANKED FOR FUTURE USE. IF TENANTS ARE

IN NEED OF ADDITIONAL PARKING THESE SPACES WILL BE USE TO FULFILL

THE PARKING NEED BY FILING A NEW REVISED FINAL PLAN APPLICATION.

OPEN SPACE CALCULATION:

TOTAL AREA: 88,246 SQUARE FEET

EXISTING: 38,669 SQUARE FEET = 43.82%

PROPOSED: 38,814 SQUARE FEET = 43.98%

INCREASE: 145 SQUARE FEET = 0.16%

ZONING DATA  (PLANNED GENERAL RETAIL - SD-CR)

ITEM REQUIRED EXISTING PROPOSED COMMENT

MIN. BUILDING FRONT SETBACK 40 FEET 96.56 FEET 96.56 FEET COMPLIANT

MIN. BUILDING SIDE SETBACK 40 FEET 32.48 FEET 32.48 FEET NOT COMPLIANT

1

MIN. BUILDING REAR SETBACK 40 FEET N/A N/A COMPLIANT

MAX. FAR 0.25 0.10 0.10 COMPLIANT

MAX. IMPERVIOUS COVERAGE 70% 56.18% 56.03% COMPLIANT

MAX. BUILDING HEIGHT 50 FEET 26.6 FEET 26.6 FEET COMPLIANT

1: EXISTING NONCONFORMITY

PROPOSED VEHICLE CIRCULATION PATTERN

MILL AND OVERLAY ENTIRE LOT

COLD MILL SURFACE 1.5 - 2.5 INCHES AND REPLACE

WITH HOT MIX ASPHALT - COMMERCIAL SURFACE MIX.

AREA = 25,314 SF

PROPOSED MILL AND OVERLAY
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Lot 1

88251 sf

2.03 Ac. M/L

N88°34'15"E

8.90'(M)  9.04'(P)

N87°59'30'E  86.69'(P
)
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N48°33'53"E
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Lot 2

Town Center Plaza

Leawood Lot 2, LLC

(owner)

Lot 12

Town Center Plaza

Leawood TCP, LLC

(owner)

*Potential Encroachment
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*Potential Encroachment

*Potential
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Sanitary Sewer Easement

(By Plat)(Exception 7)
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Easement to Kansas City

Power & Light Company

(Bk. 5361, Pg. 651)

(Exception 17)
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4700 W 119th Street

One-story Brick Building

9037 sf
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Concrete Traffic Island
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(By Plat)(Exception 7)
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Fnd 2 1/2" Brass Cap,
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491 ID Cap
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Benchmark
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Storm Sewer Junction Box

Rim = 907.55
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LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS:
Tract I:
Lot 1, TOWN CENTER PLAZA, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, according to the recorded plat thereof.
Tract II:
Non Exclusive easements for ingress, egress, access and utilities as granted in that certain Declaration of Reciprocal Easements and Restrictions filed as File No.
2487460, in Volume 4576, at Page 890.
Tract II:
Nonexclusive Easements for Parking as granted in that certain Declaration of Reciprocal Easements regarding Customer Parking filed as Instrument No. 2517280 in
Book 4657, Page 800.
COMMITMENT FOR TITLE INSURANCE:
Fidelity National Title, LLC
Order Number: 186873
Commitment Date: September 11, 2018 at 08:00 AM
SCHEDULE B, PART II EXCEPTIONS:
6. General Taxes for the year 2018 and all subsequent years.

General taxes for the year 2017, in the amount of $80,436.00, PAID
FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY:
Tax Code No.: HP98200000 0001
2017 Mill Levy: .130684000
2018 Assessed Value: $615,500.00
2017 General taxes include the following installments for special assessments: None
Special assessments, if any, levied by the City of Leawood which are not due and payable at the office of the County Treasurer.
The following ordinance or resolution creating a district with the power to impose special assessments against the Land has been recorded in conformity with
K.S.A. 40-1134:
Ordinance No. 1745 by the City of Leawood for road improvement filed in Book 5852, Page 981; corrected in Book 5890, Page 1.
(Subject tract is within the boudaries of the desribed area of the document)

7. Building lines, restrictions, utility, drainage, storm sewer, sanitary sewer, variable site clearance and waterline easements shown on the plat recorded Plat
Book 91, Page 25. (Are plotted hereon)

8. Terms and provisions of Declaration of Reciprocal Easements and Restrictions but omitting any covenants or restrictions, if any, including but not limited to
those based upon race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, familial status, marital status, disability, handicap, national origin, ancestry, source of income,
gender, gender identity, gender expression, medical condition or genetic information, as set forth in applicable state or federal laws, except to the extent that
said covenant or restriction is permitted by applicable law, as set forth in the document Recording No: Book 4576, Page 890 .
(Subject tract is within the described boundary of the document)

9. Terms andprovisions of the Declaration of Reciprocal Easements regarding customer parking, filed in Book 4657, Page 800, as described in said instrument.
(Subject tract is within the described boundary of the document)

10. An unrecorded lease with certain terms, covenants, conditions and provisions set forth therein as disclosed by the document
Entitled: Notice of Lease
Lessor: Town Center Plaza
Lessee: Jacobsen Stores, Inc., a Michigan Corporation
Recording No: Book 4576, Page 899 .
(Subject tract is within the boundaries of the "Shopping Center Parcel" as described in the document)

11. An unrecorded lease with certain terms, covenants, conditions and provisions set forth therein as disclosed by the document
Entitled: Memorandum of Lease
Lessor: Specialty Development Corporation
Lessee: Barnes and Noble Superstores, Inc., a Delaware Corporation
Recording No: Book 4549, Page 708 .
(Subject tract is within the boundaries of the "No Build Area" as described in the document)

12. Terms and provisions of the Construction, Operation and Reciprocal Easement Agreement filed in Book 4825, Page 930, as described in said instrument.
(Subject tract is within the described boundary of the document)(Out lot #1)

13. Terms and provisions of the Construction, Operation and Reciprocal Easement Agreement filed in Book 4895, Page 108, as described in said instrument.
First Amendment filed November 13, 2014, in Book 201411, Page 003095. (Subject tract is within the described boundary of the document)

14. Declaration of Reciprocal Easements and Restrictions but omitting any covenants or restrictions, if any, including but not limited to those based upon race,
color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, familial status, marital status, disability, handicap, national origin, ancestry, source of income, gender, gender identity,
gender expression, medical condition or genetic information, as set forth in applicable state or federal laws, except to the extent that said covenant or
restriction is permitted by applicable law, as set forth in the document Recording No: Book 4935, Page 874.
(Subject tract is the property as described in the document)

15. An unrecorded lease with certain terms, covenants, conditions and provisions set forth therein as disclosed by the document
Entitled: Memorandum of Lease
Lessor: George Kaplan, Trustee of the George Kaplan Trust U/T/A dated April 8, 1992, and Alice
Kaplan, Trustee of the Alice Kaplan Trust U/T/A dated April 8, 1992
Lessee: Dean & DeLuca Leawood, Ltds., a Kansas Corporation
Recording No: Book 4991, Page 831 .
(Subject tract is the property as described in the lease)

16. Terms and provisions of Personal Property Located on or Affixed to Real Property by the instrument filed January 20, 2009, in Book 200901, Page 003797.
(Subject tract is the property as described in the document)

17. Easement(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto, as granted in a document:
Granted to: Kansas City Power and Light Company
Recording No: Book 5361, Page 651
Affects: as described in said instrument
(Is plotted hereon)

18. Ordinance No. 1745 by the City of Leawood for road improvement filed in Book 5852, Page 981; corrected in Book 5890, Page 1.
(Subject tract is within the described boundary of the document)

NOTES:
1. The basis of the bearing system for this survey is based on the subdivision plat of Town Center Plaza.
2. Vertical Control Datum: Johnson County Public Works Benchmark 250, Elev. = 1016.40, NAVD 88 datum.

On-Site Benchmark: Chiseled square along the back of curb of the concrete traffic island on W 119th Street, located 90.7' South & 59.0' West of the
Southwest corner of the subject tract. Elev. 904.10, NAVD 88 datum.
Chiseled square at the Southwest corner of the concrete electric transformer base, located near the Northwest corner of the subject tract. Elev. 924.63,
NAVD 88 datum.

3. Utilities were located through Kansas One Call tickets No. 18455044 dated September 26, 2018, no response ticket No. 18472117 dated October 4, 2018,
and ticket No. 18499525 dated October 22, 2018, along with maps provided by Kansas Gas Service, The City of Leawood, and Johnson County Water One.

4. According to the Flood Insurance Rate Map "FIRM" Community Map Number 20091C0069G, effective date of August 3, 2009, the subject tract is within
Flood Zone X, area of minimal flood hazard.

5. Property ownership information is shown as per the online AIMS map used by Johnson County.
6. The field location of objects on this survey are those that are only visible above ground.  No research or investigation has been made with regards to any

potential underground encroachments.
7. The subject tract has a total of 72 parking stalls, 69 regular stalls and 3 designated as ADA accessable
8. At the time of the field survey there was no observed evidence of recent earth moving, building construction, or building additions.
9. A zoning report has not been provided to this surveyor.  According to Johnson County AIMS Mapping the subject property is zoned SD-CR. The zoning

requirements are shown in the SD-CR Zoning District table that is shown on the face of this document.

Encroachments:

1. The utility manhole, traffic signal line, and concrete walk at the Southeast property corner encroaches onto subject tract.
2. The underground utility vaults located approximatley 100' East of the Southwest property corner encroaches onto subject tract.
3. The landscaping along the West property line encroaches onto subject tract.
4. The retaining wall, fire line vault and light pole located in the Northwest corner of subject tract encroaches into the Sanitary Sewer Easement.
5. The underground cable TV line encroaches out of the right-of-way along Roe Ave.

SW Corner

Sec. 16-13-25

Fnd 2" Brass Cap,

In Monument Box

NE Cor SW 1/4

Sec. 16-13-25

Fnd 2 1/2" Disc,

In Monument Box

SD-CR Zoning District

City of Leawood Development Ordinance

Requirements
Minimum Distance/Area

Front Yard Setback:

Structures: 40 feet

Surface Parking (Loading and Service Areas prohibited):

25 feet

Side Yard Setback:

Structures: 40 feet

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas: 25 feet

Interior Property Line Setback

Structures: 10 feet

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas: 10 feet

Rear Yard Setback:

Structures: 40 feet

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas: 25 feet

Open Space
30% minimum

Floor Area Ratio .25 maximum

Height Limit:

50 feet

Town Center Plaza

CERTIFICATION

 AND

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY

This is to certify that this map or plat and the survey on which it is based were made in accordance with the 2016 Minimum

Standard Detail Requirements for ALTA/NSPS Land Title Surveys, jointly established and adopted by ALTA and NSPS, and

includes Items 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6(a), 6(b), 7(a), 7(b1), 8, 9, 10(a), 11, 13, 14, 16, 19, and 20 of Table A thereof. The field work

was completed on October 31, 2018.

Date of Plat or Map:                                     

RICHARD T. SCHMIDT, L.S. 919

Schmidt, Beck & Boyd Engineering, LLC

1415 SW Topeka Boulevard

Topeka, Kansas 66612

email: rick.schmidt@sbbeng.com

Corporate CLS 263
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R-7

R-7

R-7
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2
A1.3.1

ROOF EQUIPMENT CURB
3" = 1'-0"

HVAC UNIT- ROOF SCUTTLE SIMILAR

24 GA. PRE-FINISHED METAL
COUNTERFLASHING, 3" MIN. FACE

18" CURB FLASHING, TURN ROOFING
MEMBRANE, OVERLAP 6" MIN.

BONDING ADHESIVE

WELDED SPLICE PER MANUFACTURER'S
RECOMMENDATIONS

ROOFING MEMBRANE

BONDING ADHESIVE

GASKETED FASTENER
@ 12" O.C. MAX.

FASTENER @ 12" O.C.
MAX. W/ ROOFING
SEALANT - ALONG
ENTIRE EDGE OF
CURB FLANGE

WOOD NAILER

NOTE: INSTALL METAL WORK IN ACCORDANCE
WITH CURRENT SMACNA RECOMMENDATIONS

ROOF PLAN NOTES
1 G.C. TO COORDINATE WITH LANDLORD REPRESENTATIVE

ALL ROOF MODIFICATIONS REQUIRE FOR HVAC SYSTEM .

ROOF PLAN KEYNOTES
R-1 EXISTING MEMBRANE ROOF FINISH AND STRUCTURE TO

REMAIN AS IS.
R-2 APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF EXISTING ROOF DRAIN.

R-3 APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF EXISTING ROOF HATCH. TO
REMAIN AS IS.

R-4 EXISTING PRE-FABRICTED CANOPY TO REMAIN AS-IS.

R-5 EXISTING PARAPET CAP TO REMAIN AS-IS.

R-6 NEW DEMISING WALL BELOW.

R-7 MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT:
VENTILATION UNIT, PACKAGED ROOFTOP HEATING AND
COOLING UNIT OR SPLIT-SYSTEM A/C UNIT MOUNTED TO
SHOP-FAB. VIBRATION-ISOLATING RAIL OR INSULATED CURB
UNIT- LAP FLASH WATER-TIGHT TO ROOFING MEMBRANE

R-8 PLUMBING STACK VENT:
PVC SIZED AS REQD. WITH PRE-FABRICATED COMPATIBLE
FLASHING BOOT ADHERED TO ROOF MEMBRANE- EXTEND
VENT TO ALIGN WITH ADJACENT PARAPET COPING AND
PROVIDE LATERAL BRACING AS REQD.

R-9 SURFACE-MOUNT MECHANICAL PIPING:
GAS AND REFRIGERANT PIPING SUPPORTED ON ROOFING
BY B-LINE DURA-BLOK PRE-FAB. RUBBER-BASE GALVANIZED
STEEL UNISTRUT PIPE SUPPORTS AT 8'-0" o.c. MAX.

R-10 SURFACE-MOUNT SIGNAGE EQUIPMENT ENCLOSURE:
WATER-TIGHT SHOP-FABRICATED METAL SIGNAGE
ENCLOSURE BY SIGN VENDOR- SECURE TO BACKSIDE OF
PARAPET WALL WITH MINIMAL PENETRATIONS OF ROOFING
MEMBRANE- PROVIDE PERIMETER WATER-TIGHT SEALANT
COMPATIBLE WITH ROOF MEMBRANE

R-11 NEW AIR HANDLING UNIT.  COORDINATE WITH MECHANICAL
DRAWINGS.

R-12 NEW ROOF MOUNTED CONDENSER UNIT.  COORDINATE WITH
MECHANICAL DRAWINGS.

R-13 NEW EXHAUST FAN.  COORDINATE WITH MECHANICAL
DRAWINGS.

R-14 SCUTTLE:
PRE-FAB. INSULATED ROOF SCUTTLE WITH RETRACTABLE
SAFETY POST- FLASH WATER-TIGHT TO ROOFING
MEMBRANE- PROVIDE CARABINER THROUGH LATCH

R-15 SCUTTLE: PRE-FAB. INSULATED ROOF SCUTTLE WITH
RETRACTABLE SAFETY POST-FLASH WATER-TIGHT TO
ROOFING MEMBRANE- PROVIDE CARABINER THROUGH
LATCH
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JPMC Express Banking Drive‐up ATM (2043) Site Preparation

 

B006‐7271‐A000DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT



NCR Proprietary Information ‐ not to be disclosed or reproduced without written consent. © 2014 by NCR Corporation, Duluth, Georgia, U.S.A. http://www.ncr.com.All Rights Reserved B006‐7271‐A000

 JPMC Express Banking Drive‐up ATM Site Preparation ‐ 1st Draft ‐ to be used for review purposes only

8 ‐ 1Variant Details ‐ All Variants

PACKAGE DIMENSIONS

WEIGHT AND FLOOR LOADING

ATM DIMENSIONS SECURITY BOLTS

The island, or base, must be capable of withstanding the loading imposed by 
the anchor points for the bolts. Bolts and anchors must be supplied by the 
owning organisation.

To meet security standards the ATM must be bolted to the island, or base, 
through all of the bolt holes, using bolts with anchor washers as specified 
below. Bolts and anchor washers are to be supplied by the owning organisation.

Make sure that the island, or base, is capable of withstanding the loading 
imposed by the anchor points for these bolts.

If an adjustable plinth is used, it must be bolted to the island, or base, to the 
same specification as the ATM.

The minimum specification for bolts and washers to secure the ATM is:

 Bolts

 Type ‐ either resin anchor or shield anchor bolts

 Size ‐ M16 (5/8 in.)

 Minimum Length ‐ 150 mm (5.9 in.) 

 Strength ‐ high tensile (minimum ISO property class 8,8).

 Washers

 Type ‐ flat, steel (as per DIN7349 or equivalent)

 Size ‐ M16 (5/8 in.) 

 Outer diameter ‐ no greater than 40 mm (1.58 in.)

 Minimum thickness ‐ 6 mm (0.2 in.).

BOLT HOLES

The illustration below shows the location of the six security enclosure bolt 
holes.

CEN 1

Maximum weight
 kg
( lb.)

Floor loading
 kg/m2 
( lb./ft2)

1977 mm
(77.83 in.)

1415 mm
(55.71 in.) 1060 mm

(41.73 in.)

1060 mm
(41.73 in.)

1415 mm
(55.71 in.)

1922 mm
(75.67 in.)

770 mm
(30.31 in.)

1070 mm
(42.13 in.)

1852 mm
(72.91 in.) 1701 mm

(66.97 in.)

915 mm
(36.02 in.)

772 mm
(30.39 in.)

380 mm
(1 . in.)4 96

630 mm
( . in.)24 80

772 mm
( . in.)30 39

200 mm
( . in.)7 87

130 mm
( . in.)5 12

135 mm
(5. 1 in.)3

250 mm
( . in.)9 84

385 mm
( . in.)15 16
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AXIS P3807-PVE Network Camera

User Manual



AXIS P3807-PVE Network Camera

Product overview

Product overview

1 Network connector
2 SD card slot
3 Grounding contact
4 Control button
5 Status LED indicator
6 Roll ±10°
7 Tilt 0°, 35°, 45°, 55°
8 Pan ±180°

3



AXIS P3807-PVE
Panoramic camera for seamless, 180° coverage

AXIS P3807-PVE Network Camera is a fixed dome camera with multiple sensors, providing an easy, reliable and cost-effi-
cient one-camera installation – reducing installation time, cabling and VMS license costs. Thanks to its excellent image
sensors, along with Forensic WDR and Lightfinder technology, it provides great video quality in any light conditions. Its
four sensors give a seamless 180° panoramic overview, at up to 30 fps in 8 MP resolution. The camera is easy to install
as recessed, flush, pendant, back-to-back, and comes with adjustable pre-set camera positions.

> 180° panoramic overview and 90° vertical coverage

> Cost-efficient one-camera installation

> 8 MP resolution at full frame rate

> Axis Lightfinder and Forensic WDR

> Axis Zipstream for reduced bandwidth and storage needs

PRELIMINARY Datasheet
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    February 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   February 14, 2019 
 

VILLAGE OF SEVILLE – NEW APOSTOLIC CHURCH USA – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A PLACE OF WORSHIP – Located north of 133rd Street and west of 
State Line Road – Case 12-19        **Public Hearing** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 12-19, Village of Seville – request for approval of a Special Use Permit 
for a church, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant and architect is David Eskov with Klover Architects, Inc. 

 The property is owned by 133 State Line 2003 LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Special Use Permit for a 5,041 sq.ft. worship and meeting 
space, located within two single-level joined suites at the Village of Seville retail plaza.  

 No changes to the exterior of the retail center are proposed.  
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Adjacent to the north property line of the Village of Seville are the Leawood South 
Townhomes, zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster Residential under a previous version of the 
Leawood Development Ordinance) and Leawood Square, a commercial development 
zoned SD-CR (Planned Commercial Retail).   

 South Adjoining the south property line of the Village of Seville is 133rd Street.  On the south side 
of 133rd Street is vacant land (formerly used as an airport) zoned SD-O. 

 East State Line Road is adjacent to the east property line.  On the east side of State Line Road is 
commercial development within Kansas City, Missouri. 

 West Directly to the west of Village of Seville is the Enclave at Cedar Point, Zoned RP-2 (Planned 
Cluster Detached Residential District) and Greenbrier of Leawood, a single-family 
subdivision zoned R-1 (Planned Single-family Low Density Residential). 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:   

 The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit to locate a place of worship within the Village of 
Seville Development. Per Section 16-2-7, Table of Uses of the Leawood Development Ordinance, this 
use is permitted within an SD-CR zoned district with the issuance of a Special Use Permit. 

 A Preliminary Plan for the Village of Seville Development was approved on July 19, 2004 with 
Ordinance 2070 (Case 35-04). A Final Plan was approved on December 6, 2004 with Ordinance 2342 
(Case 71-04). 

 The church is proposed to be located within the existing retail space located at the southwest corner 
of the Village of Seville development and is not proposing any changes to the existing site. 

 The applicant will utilize two single-level joined suites, comprising 5,041 sq.ft. 

 No exterior changes are proposed to building. 

 The space will generally be utilized as follows: 

 Sunday: 9:00 AM – 1:00 PM 

 Wednesday (1 per month): 7:30 PM – 9:00 PM 

 Holy Days (Christmas, Good Friday, Ascension Day etc.) 7:30 PM – 9:00 PM. 
 

PARKING: 

 The New Apostolic Church USA leases 5,041 sq.ft. with 120 seats. Per the Leawood Development 
Ordinance 16-4-5.4(B) the 120 seats requires 40 parking spaces (1 space for every 3 seats). The 
building has a cross access agreement with the Village of Seville Development that allows for shared 
parking within the entire development. 

 There are currently 213 spaces constructed within the Village of Seville Development, of a planned 
389 parking spaces. Staff has estimated that the development will meet the minimum parking 
requirement for the SD-CR zoning district at full build-out. 

 Parking approved with the hospital at the southeast corner of the Village of Seville development with 
Planning Commission Case 75-16 approved by the Governing Body on August 15, 2016, is reserved 
for the hospital and shall not be utilized by attendees or employees of the church, or other businesses.  
The parking reserved for the hospital shall include the parking along the north side of the hospital 
building and the row of parking directly to the west of the hospital building as shown in Exhibit A. 

 
SIGNAGE: 

 The Village of Seville has signage guidelines recommended by the Planning Commission and 
approved by the Governing Body.  
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 No signage is proposed with this application. Signage is approved administratively through a separate 
application. 

 
INTERACT MEETING: 

 An Interact Meeting was held on February 12, 2019. A summary of the meeting and sign in sheet are 
attached. 

 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The character of the neighborhood is commercial uses, including a mix of retail and restaurants. The 
subject property is located on the south western edge of the Village of Seville Development at 133rd Street 
and State Line Road.  Commercial developments are located to the north and east of the development.  
Single-family residential properties are located to the north and west. 
 
The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North Adjacent to the north property line of the Village of Seville are the Leawood South 
Townhomes, zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster Residential under a previous version of the 
Leawood Development Ordinance) and Leawood Square, a commercial development 
zoned SD-CR (Planned Commercial Retail).   

 South Adjoining the south property line of the Village of Seville is 133rd Street.  On the south side 
of 133rd Street is vacant land (formerly used as an airport) zoned SD-O. 

 East State Line Road is adjacent to the east property line.  On the east side of State Line Road is 
commercial development within Kansas City, Missouri. 

 West Directly to the west of Village of Seville is the Enclave at Cedar Point, Zoned RP-2 (Planned 
Cluster Detached Residential District) and Greenbrier of Leawood, a single-family 
subdivision zoned R-1 (Planned Single-family Low Density Residential). 

 
The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
Commercial properties surround the subject site to the north and east with residential to the west. The 
applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for a place of worship within the commercial development. 
The subject property is suitable for the restricted uses.  
 
The time for which the property has been vacant: 
The property is not vacant.  There are existing structures on this property, although the Village of Seville is 
not fully developed. 
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 
The project is suitable to this site, but the required Special Use Permit and stipulations recommended for 
approval with this application are necessary to ensure a high quality development.   
 
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
Denial of this application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safety and welfare because 
this project does not propose a disruptive use or any changes to the site. 
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The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
Staff is recommending approval of Case 12-19, Village of Seville – New Apostolic Church USA, request for 
approval of a Special Use Permit for a place of worship. 
 
Conformance of the requested change to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as retail.  The zoning is SD-CR.  The use is allowed 
with a Special Use Permit. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 12-19, Village of Seville – New Apostolic 
Church USA – request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a place of worship, with the following 
stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to the approval of a Special Use Permit for a place of worship within the Village 

of Seville, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
2. The Special Use Permit shall be issued to the National Organization of the New Apostolic Church of 

North America and shall be limited to a term of 20 years from the date of Governing Body approval. 
3. This application does not include any exterior alterations to the existing building or site and is limited 

to a place of worship within a 5,041 sq.ft. space containing 120 seats. 
4. Parking approved with the hospital at the southeast corner of the Village of Seville development with 

Planning Commission Case 75-16 approved by the Governing Body on August 15, 2016, shall be 
reserved for the hospital.  As shown on Exhibit A, parking along the north side of the hospital building 
and the row directly to the west are not to be used by church employees or attendees.   

5. In the event the allowed use is discontinued for a period of three months or more, the Special Use shall 
be determined abandoned, and this permit shall become null and void. 

6. A sign permit from the Planning Department shall be obtained prior to the erection of any signs. No 
signage is approved with this application. 

7. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect except 
to the extent expressly modified herein. 

8. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and 
to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through eight.   



SIGN

SIGN

SIGNSIGN SIGN SIGN

10955 LOWELL AVENUE, SUITE 700   •   OVERLAND PARK, KS 66210 
ph: 913.649.8181   •   fx: 913.649.1275   •   www.klover.net 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    February 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   February 14, 2019 
 

BROOKWOOD ELEMENTARY SCHOOL – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
FOR A BEFORE-AND-AFTER SCHOOL PROGRAM – Located south of 103rd Street and east of 
Mohawk Road – Case 13-19        **Public Hearing** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 13-19, Brookwood Elementary School – request for approval of a 
Special Use Permit for a before-and-after school program, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Kim Chappelow-Lee with Johnson County Parks & Recreation. 

 The property is owned by the Unified School District 512. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Special Use Permit to operate a before-and-after school 
program for Brookwood students during all regular session school days, opening at 7 AM and running 
after school until 6 PM. The program is run by Johnson County Park and Recreation District. 

 No exterior changes are proposed with this application. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property for Public Use. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North To the north, across 103rd Street, is the single family residential subdivision of Leawood 
Estates, zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District).  

 South Directly south of the site, is the single family residential subdivision of Leawood Estates, 
zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District) and estate lots within 
Mission Farms, zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District).   

 East To the east of the school is the single family residential subdivision of Leawood Estates, 
zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District).   

 West West of the school is the single family residential subdivision of Leawood Estates, zoned 
R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District).   

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:   

 Brookwood Elementary School is located south of 103rd Street and east of Mohawk Road.  

 A new facility for Brookwood Elementary School was recently completed, in the same location as the 
original school. A Preliminary Plan for the new building was approved with Case 31-17 on June 5, 2017 
with Ordinance 2838. The Final Plan for Brookwood Elementary School was approved with Case 65-
17 on July 17, 2017 with Ordinance 4820. 

 The before-and-after school program will serve students enrolled in Pre-Kindergarten and Kindergarten 
through 6th grade at Brookwood Elementary School.  

 The program is licensed by the Kansas Department of Health and the Environment and is run by the 
Johnson County Park and Recreation District. 

 A total of 60 students in elementary grades will be served, along with 24 Pre-Kindergarten students. 

 Before school services will begin at 7:00 AM. After school hours will extend to 6:00 PM. 

 The program will provide a variety of activities for the students, including physical games, activities and 
social time, as well as creative arts, homework and reading time. 

 No modifications are proposed to the site.  
 
PARKING: 

 The parking requirements for Brookwood Elementary School are 1 space for each teacher and staff 
member. Brookwood Elementary School has 90 parking spaces. 

 The parking requirements for a daycare use are 1.5 spaces per employee on maximum shift. The after-
school-program maintains a 1:15 staff to participant ration. A total of 6 parking spaces are needed to 
serve the before-and-after school program. The existing school provides sufficient parking for the 
before and after school care program. 

 
INTERACT MEETING: 

 An Interact Meeting was held on February 18, 2019. A summary of the meeting and sign in sheet are 
attached. 

 
SIGNAGE: 

 No signage is proposed with this application. 
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GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The neighborhood is characterized by single family residential in all directions. The subject property is 
located south of 103rd Street and east of Mission Road and has existed at this location since 1960. Sidewalk 
connectivity is available on 103rd Street and within the majority of neighborhoods surrounding the school. 
 
The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North To the north, across 103rd Street, is the single family residential subdivision of Leawood 
Estates, zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District).  

 South Directly south of the site, is the single family residential subdivision of Leawood Estates, 
zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District) and estate lots within 
Mission Farms, zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District).   

 East To the east of the school is the single family residential subdivision of Leawood Estates, 
zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District).   

 West West of the school is the single family residential subdivision of Leawood Estates, zoned 
R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District).   

 
The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
Residential properties surround the subject site in all directions. The applicant is requesting a Special Use 
Permit for a before-and-after school program at the school which has existed since 1960. The program is 
not proposing any exterior changes to the property. The subject property is suitable for the restricted uses.  
 
The time for which the property has been vacant: 
The property is not vacant.  A school has existed on the property since 1960. A new school was constructed 
in the same location in 2017. 
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 
The project is suitable to this site, but the required Special Use Permit and stipulations recommended for 
approval with this application are necessary to ensure compatibility with the existing use and the 
surrounding area.   
 
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
Denial of this application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safety and welfare because 
this project does not propose a disruptive use or any changes to the site. 
 
The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
Staff is recommending approval of Case 13-19, Brookwood Elementary School – request for approval of 
Special Use Permit for a before-and-after school program. 
 
Conformance of the requested change to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Public Use.  The zoning is R-1.  The use is allowed 
with a Special Use Permit. 
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STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 13-19, Brookwood Elementary School – 
request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a before-and-after school program, with the following 
stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to the approval of a Special Use Permit for the operation of a before-and-after 

school program for Brookwood Elementary School, opening at 7:00 AM and continuing after school 
until 6:00 PM. 

2. The Special Use Permit shall be issued to Johnson County Park & Recreation District and shall be 
limited to 20 years from the date of Governing Body approval. 

3. No modifications to the site are approved with this application. 
4. No signage is approved with this application. 
5. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect except 

to the extent expressly modified herein. 
6. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and 
to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through six.   
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1 Brookwood Elementary School; 3411 W 103 Street, Leawood, Kansas 66206 







Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Mark A. Klein, Planning Official 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 

Date of Meeting: February 26, 2019 

Date of Memo:  February 5, 2019 

Re: Case 17-19, Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-2-7, Table of 
Uses, pertaining to Recreation and Entertainment, Indoor       **PUBLIC HEARING** 

The attached amendment proposes to allow the use “Recreation and Entertainment, Indoor” within the BP (Planned 
Business Park) zoning district with the issuance of a Special Use Permit.  Section 16-9-22 of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance defines “Recreation and Entertainment, Indoor” as follows. 

Recreation and Entertainment, Indoor – An establishment offering recreation, entertainment or games of skill to 
the public for a fee or charge and that is wholly enclosed in a building.  Typical uses include bowling alleys, indoor 
theatres, bingo parlors, pool halls, billiard parlors and video game arcades. 

Currently the Leawood Development Ordinance allows the use “Recreation and Entertainment, Outdoor”, 
within the BP district with a Special Use Permit, but “Recreation and Entertainment, Indoor” is only allowed 
within the SD-CR (Planned General Retail) district.  Section 16-9-223 defines “Recreation and Entertainment, 
Outdoor” as follows. 

Recreation and Entertainment, Outdoor – An establishment offering recreation, entertainment or games of 
skill to the public for a fee or charge, wherein any portion of the activity takes place in the open.  Typical uses 
include archery ranges, batting cages, golf driving ranges, drive-in theaters and miniature golf courses. 

It is staff’s position that the use “Recreation and Entrainment, Indoor” is a suitable use within the BP district 
with a Special Use Permit and is consistent with the use “Recreation and Entertainment, Outdoor, that is 
currently allowed within the BP district with a Special Use Permit.  The requirement of a Special Use Permit 
will ensure that the City of Leawood has greater control regarding the potential impacts associated with the 
use on surrounding properties.  The amendment will also allow “Recreation and Entertainment, Indoor, to 
have retail sales as is currently allowed within the BP district, which is not more than 20% of the permitted 
use in the same building.    
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16-2-7 TABLE OF USES  

Land Uses and Development.  The following Table of Uses establishes the principal uses that are 

permitted subject to the provisions of this Ordinance, permitted as a planned use under this Article, 

or permitted as a special use under this Ordinance for each zoning district.  Notwithstanding the 

designation on the Table of Uses, any use required to be permitted as a right in a residential dis-

trict by applicable federal or state law shall be so permitted. 

 

TABLE OF USES 
• = Permitted Use 
P= Planned Use 
S= Special Use 

 

Zoning Districts 

(Uses) AG RP-A5 R-1 RP-1 RP-2 RP-3 RP-4 SD-O SD-
NCR 

SD- 
NCR2 

SD-
CR 

BP 

Residential             

Apartment House (up to 12 units)       P      

Assisted Living; independent; skilled nursing S  S S S S S S S S S  

Group Home S P P P P P P      

Single Family Attached (1-4 dwelling units)      P P      

Nursing or Convalescent Home S  S S S S S S S S S S 

Single Family Residential (detached) • P P P P        

Non-Residential              

Adult Entertainment         S  S  

Agriculture •            

Art Studio/Gallery         P P P  

Assembly halls, community centers, auditorium         S S S S S 

Athletic Fields, (privately owned)         S S S  

Automated  Bank Teller             

     Ancillary to Bank or Financial Service        P P P P  

     Non-ancillary In-wall           P  

Aviation fields or airports S S S S S S S S S S S S 

Bank or Financial Services        P P P P  

Bank or Financial Services w/ accessory drive-thru         S P  P  

Campgrounds, picnic groves and fishing lakes S S S S S S S S S  S S 

Cemeteries, mausoleums or crematories S S S S S S S S S S S  

Churches, synagogues, other places of worship S S S S S S S S S S S  

Club, Private S S S S S S S S S  S  

Communication Tower S       S S S S S 

Convention Centers S       S S S S S 

Cultural Service        S P P P  

Delivery Services (Not to include freight transfer, i.e. semi-tractor 
trailers) 

         P P  

Day Care, Limited (1-6) • • • • • • •      

Day Care, General (7-10)        S S S S S 

Day Care, Commercial (11+)/Montessori School        S S S S S 

Funeral Home or Mortuary        P P  P  

Gun Clubs, Skeet Shoots, Target Ranges S        S S S S 

Health Club        S P P P P 

Hospital S       S S S S S 

Hotel/Motel S       S S  S S 

Kennel         P  P P 

     *Veterinary         S  S S 
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TABLE OF USES 
• = Permitted Use 
P= Planned Use 
S= Special Use 

 

Zoning Districts 

(Uses) AG RP-A5 R-1 RP-1 RP-2 RP-3 RP-4 SD-O SD-
NCR 

SD- 
NCR2 

SD-
CR 

BP 

     *General           S S 

     *Commercial            S 

Manufacturing, assembly, processing             

      *Electronic equipment            P 

      *Medical and dental equipment             P 

      *Drafting and optical equipment             P 

      *Watches and clocks             P 

      *Cosmetics, drugs and pharmaceutical products             P 

       *Computer equipment             P 

Medical Outpatient Care Facility        S  P P  

Medical/Dental Lab         P P P P 

Medical/Dental Service        P P P P P 

Office, General        P P P P P 

Office, Medical        P P P P P 

Off-Street Parking Lots S S S S S S S S S S S S 

Parking Structures  S       S S  S S 

Personal Services        P P P P P 

Photography services, photo processing        S P P P P 

Printing and Publishing             P 

Public Utility Facilities S S S S S S S S S S S S 

Public Uses/Government Uses  P P P P P P P P P P P P 

Recreation and Entertainment, Indoor (excludes uses in retail 
Sales and Services, except as provided in BP) 

          P S 

Recreation and Entertainment, Outdoor S       S S  S S 

Repair Service             P 

Research Service             P 

Research Services - Limited          S   

Reservoirs, water towers, filter beds, or water treatment plants 1 S S S S S S S S S S S S 

Retail Sales and Service             

      *Appliance and Electronics Sales         P P P P 

      *Auto Parts supply          P P P 

      *Auto sales/service (not to include used car lots separate 
from new auto sales) 

          S  

      *Auto Service Centers/TBA (Tire, Battery & Accessories)           P  

      *Bakery (Retail only)         P P P  

      *Bar/Tavern         S  P  

      *Barber/Beauty Shop         P P P  

      *Bicycle Shop         P P P  

      *Boat Sales/Service           S  

      *Book/Stationery/Gift Shop         P P P  

      *Bowling Alley/Center           P  

      *Building Materials Sales, Indoor/Totally Enclosed           P  

      *Business Equipment             P 

      *Business Services             P 

      *Camera Shop/Photographic Studio         P P P  

      *Car Wash, Full Service/Totally Enclosed           P  

      *Catalog Center           P P 

      *Clothing/Accessory Store         P P P  

      *Community service organization        P P P P  

      *Computer Sales and Service         P P P P 

      *Construction Sales and Service, Indoor/Enclosed             P 

      *Convenience Store (w/o gasoline sales)         S  P  
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TABLE OF USES 
• = Permitted Use 
P= Planned Use 
S= Special Use 

 

Zoning Districts 

(Uses) AG RP-A5 R-1 RP-1 RP-2 RP-3 RP-4 SD-O SD-
NCR 

SD- 
NCR2 

SD-
CR 

BP 

      *Convenience Store (with gasoline sales)           S  

      *Department Store         S  P  

      *Drug Store/Health Care Supply         P P P  

      *Drug Store with Drive Thru           S  

      *Dry Cleaner/Laundry         P P P S 

      *Dry Cleaner with Drive Thru           S  

      *Flower Shop/Garden Store         P P P  

      *Food Stores, Specialty         P P P  

      *Furniture Upholstery/repair            P 

      *Furniture/Home Furnishings         P P P  

      *Gas Station/Service Station           S  

      *Gift/souvenir shop         P P P  

      *Graphic, Industrial, Interior Design            P 

      *Greenhouse, commercial S          P P 

      *Grocery Store/Supermarket         P  P  

      *Hardware Store         P P P  

      *Home Accessory Shop/Boutique         P P P  

      *Home Remodeling and Light construction Supply/Sales          P P P 

      *Laundromat         P  P  

      *Medical and hospital equipment supplies             P 

      *Motorcycle sales and service (indoor)           P  

      *Movie Rental/Sales         P P P  

      *Movie Theater/Indoor           P  

      *Music Store         P P P  

      *Nursery sales office (wholesale or retail) flower shop, green 
house 

S        P  P  

      *Office Supply         P P P  

      *Packaged Liquor Sales         S  S  

      *Pet Shop         P  P  

      *Recreational Vehicles sales/service           S  

      *Restaurant, Fast Food with Drive Through           S S 

      *Restaurant, Fast Food, Dine In/Carry Out         S  P S 

      *Restaurant, General         P  P  

      *Sewing/Fabric Store         P P P  

      *Shoe Repair           P P P  

      *Shopping Center, Neighborhood         P  P  

      *Shopping Center, Regional         S  P  

      *Sporting Goods Sales/Rental         P P P  

      *Tailoring/Alterations         P P P  

      *Toy/Hobby Shop            P P P  

      *Truck sales and service (1 ton or less "light")           S  

      *Vehicle and Equipment Sales and Service           S  

      *Vending/game machine sales/service            P 

      *BIG BOX RETAIL            S  

Retail Sales with Limited Manufacturing           S  

Riding stables and tracks S S S S S S S S S  S S 

School, Public & Private, Elementary, Middle or High S S S S S S S S S S S  

School, business/secretarial          P P P 

School, college or university S       S S S S  

School, technical/vocational            P 

Studio, Television or Film         P    P 

Television and amateur radio antennae exceeding district height S S S S S S S S S S S S 
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TABLE OF USES 
• = Permitted Use 
P= Planned Use 
S= Special Use 

 

Zoning Districts 

(Uses) AG RP-A5 R-1 RP-1 RP-2 RP-3 RP-4 SD-O SD-
NCR 

SD- 
NCR2 

SD-
CR 

BP 

limitations 

Towers, radio, television and microwave S S S S S S S S S S S S 

Veterinarian/Animal Care S       S P  P P 

Warehouse            P 

Wastewater treatment plant S S S S S S S S S S S S 

Wholesale establishment             P 

Wireless Communications Facilities & Antennae † S S S S S S S S S S S S 

1Reservoirs, water towers, filter beds or water treatment plants developed pursuant to an interlocal agreement 

between the applicant and the Governing Body are exempt from the Special Use Permit requirement. 

† Subject to requirements of16- 4-12. 



Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Jessica Schuller, Planner II 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 
    Mark Klein, Planning Official 

Date of Meeting:  February 26, 2019 

Date of Memo:  January 23, 2019 

Re: Case 144-18, 2018 Annual Update of the City of Leawood Comprehensive Plan 
**PUBLIC HEARING** 

Attached is the 2018 annual update of the City of Leawood Comprehensive Plan.  The updates to the 
Comprehensive Plan include the following: 

 Update to Tables and Figures within the plan reflecting the most recent demographic information 
from the U.S. Census American Communities Survey for Leawood.   

 Revised layout, formatting and photos depicting developments within Leawood. 

 Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map, including: 
o Additions and changes to the Points of Interest symbolization. 
o Inclusion of the existing, future and private trails within Leawood, which are shown in greater 

detail within the Self Propelled Leawood: A Pedestrian and Bicycle Master Plan trail maps. 
o Inclusion of the National Historic Trails, which are shown in greater detail on page 54 of the 2018 

City of Leawood Comprehensive Plan. 
o Changed the northern half of the fire station property at 9609 Lee Boulevard to Public Open 

Space. 
o Updated the boundary of the Johnson County Wastewater Treatment Facility. 
o Changed the future land use of the property located south of College Boulevard and west of 

State Line Road from Mixed Use to Office. 
o Added a hospital icon to the property located at 133rd and State Line Road, representing St. 

Luke’s Community Hospital. 
o Updated the alignment of 137th Street at Kenneth Road for better graphic representation. 
o Changed the future land use of the property in the northern portion of the public maintenance 

facilitiy, located at 143rd Street and Kenneth Road, from Business Park to Public. 
o Updated the future local street network at 151st and Mission Road, to represent the Hills of 

Leawood. 

 Update of information regarding developments within Leawood. 

 Update of the names of the Governing Body, Planning Commission, and staff. 

 Update the year from 2017 to 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Leawood  

Planning Services 
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1. INTRODUCTION
From its incorporation in 1948, Leawood has sought to emphasize high quality 
development, which offers a unique sense of place. The first 500 homes built in 
Leawood were custom designed by professional architects to reflect the owner’s 
individuality and to avoid stereotypical designs.  As a result, Leawood is widely 
recognized as a premier residential area and a desirable place to live and work.

The Plan
In order to successfully guide the community’s growth, the Leawood Comprehensive 
Plan and the accompanying maps have been prepared.  The purpose of the 
Comprehensive Plan is to guide the growth and development of the community. It 
includes analyses, recommendations and proposals for the community’s population, 
economy, housing, transportation, community facilities, and land use.  The 135th 
Street Community Plan was approved in 2014 by Resolution 4258. Self Propelled 
Leawood was also approved in 2014 by Resolution 4346, and both documents are is 
incorporated by reference into this document. 
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Analysis of Leawood
Section 2 chronicles the development of Leawood, providing a narrative history of the 
community, a description of its natural environment and land area (including a record 
of annexations) and a documentation of past demographic statistics.  A preview of the 
City’s development and economic trends completes this section.

Evaluation Area Analysis
Information contained in Section 3 forms the foundation of the Comprehensive Plan.  
Each distinct district within the community, the North, the Central, and the South, is 
examined in detail.  Additionally, specific studies of various development concerns 
within Leawood are included.  Tables are included to provide information regarding 
existing buildings, buildings which have been approved but not constructed, and the 
total square footage planned for a development.  

Guide to Future Development
Developed in this final Section 4 of the Comprehensive Plan is a framework for the 
future of the Leawood community.  The goals and objectives of the City’s development 
process are outlined and their implementation is addressed through planning policies 
and long-range plans.

The common thread throughout all sections of the Comprehensive Plan is the City’s 
vision of distinctive development.  The future Leawood will be a sophisticated mix 
of prestigious residential and vibrant commercial areas accentuated by the special 
qualities, identified within this Plan, that make Leawood unique among area cities.

Figure 1.1 Map of the City of Leawood
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Comprehensive Plan Land Use Categories
The Comprehensive Plan, in its role as a policy guide for future development, applies 
the following land use categories. In Table 1.1, the land use classification is shown in 
bold letters followed by the current zoning district(s) applicable to each specific land 
use classification.  Proposed development is required to pursue one of the applicable 
zoning districts associated with the particular land use designation or to request a new 
land use classification.

Table 1.1 Land Use Designation and Corresponding Zoning Districts

AG Agricultural
RP-A5 Planned Rural Density Single Family Residential
R-1 Planned Single Family Low-Density Residential
RP-1 Planned Single Family Residential

RP-2 Planned Cluster Detached Residential
RP-3 Planned Cluster Attached Residential

RP-4 Planned Apartment Residential

SD-NCR Planned Neighborhood Retail 
SD-NCR2 Planned Neighborhood Retail 2
SD-CR Planned General Retail

SD-O Planned Office

MXD Mixed Use

BP Planned Business Park

REC Planned Recreational
FL Flood Hazard Overlay

Mixed Use

Business Park 

Open Space

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

High Density Residential

Retail 

Office

Figure 1.2 Zoning Map
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The Process
Kansas statute authorizes municipal Planning Commissions “to make or cause to be made 
a comprehensive plan” (K.S.A 12-747 et seq.) that will constitute the basis for coordinated 
and harmonious development in the community, K.S.A. 12-741 et seq. also authorizes 
cities to enact planning and zoning laws and regulations “for the protection of the public 
health, safety and welfare”.

The plan document itself may be developed by staff, public committees, and the Planning 
Commission, or any combination thereof; the importance of community input is evident by 
the requirement of a public hearing as part of the process.  

The Planning Commission, however, is ultimately responsible for providing final 
development recommendations to the Governing Body for final decision.  Such 
recommendations should incorporate: 

 The general location, extent and relationship of land uses both public and private,

 Population and building intensity standards and restrictions,

 Public facilities, including systems for the transportation of persons and goods,

 Public improvements programming, related fiscal information, including long-  
 term financing plans for improvements associated with development,

 Natural resource use and conservation measures, or any other element deemed   
  necessary for the proper development or redevelopment of the City.

5
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Leawood City Hall
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2. ANALYSIS OF LEAWOOD
History
Although Leawood is a young city, it has a rich and vibrant history dating back to the 
Native American peoples that first lived in this area. In fact, the state name “Kansas” 
is derived from the Kanza tribe, the original inhabitants of the area that would become 
Leawood.

An influx of French and American traders in the 1700s, including the legendary Daniel 
Boone, explored this land. After the Louisiana Purchase in 1803, the area directly east 
of what would become State Line Road opened for settlement. The Santa Fe Trail, 
Oregon Trail, and California Trail, which crossed into the territory at 123rd and State 
Line, also hastened early development in the Leawood area.

The Border Ruffian War, 1855-1857, had a brief negative impact on the local 
economy - bands of men, on political pretext, robbed settlers and traders, leading to 
a curtailment of activities along the Santa Fe Trail. However, early in 1857, economic 
conditions rebounded as the town of Oxford, Kansas, was founded. Leawood’s 
predecessor by a little less than a century, Oxford became a trade center for a large 
part of the surrounding area. Unfortunately, Oxford was one of the casualties of the 
Civil War -- after 1865, little remained but the boundaries of the township.

The seeds of modern Leawood were planted during the Roaring 20’s, when Oscar 
G. Lee, a retired police officer from Oklahoma, moved to Johnson County. Mr. Lee, 
the namesake of Leawood, built his home just north of where the original Leawood 
City Hall now stands. Offering to provide a road through his property, Mr. Lee first 
dedicated for public use Lee Boulevard, from 83rd Street to 103rd Street.

By 1948, the housing development started by the Kroh brothers provided the impetus 
for incorporation as a city. Accordingly, on November 30, 1948, with a population 
less than 2,000, Leawood became a city of the third class. Leawood, the first of 
the suburban cities of northeast Johnson County to incorporate, continued its rapid 
development and in 1959 became a city of the second class.

From 1959 to the present Leawood has developed at a rapid pace. The City’s 
boundaries now stretch from Somerset on the north to 155th Street on the south and 
State Line Road on the east to Mission Road (north of I-435) and Nall Avenue (south 
of I-435) on the west. As of 2015, Leawood, a city of the first class with approximately 
33,339 residents, is a city proud of what it has accomplished in such a short time and 
proud of the rich heritage that has driven those accomplishments.
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Natural Features
Leawood is considered a beautiful community in northeastern Kansas because of 
the City’s natural resources. The Map of Natural Features (Figure 2.1) indicates the 
location of environmental elements that will affect urban development.

Land Characteristics
Leawood’s land is characterized by flat valleys rising to gently rolling hills. The land 
generally slopes 2-8 percent.  A very small percentage of the City’s total land area 
slopes 12 percent or more, primarily in areas along the Indian, Tomahawk and Negro 
creeks. Land elevations range from 850 to 1000 feet above sea level.

Soils

Three general types of soil exist in Leawood:

Kennebec-Chase soils can be found in the Tomahawk Creek and Blue River 
floodplains. These soils are deep and moderately well drained except in lowland areas. 
Certain development limitations, including ground water problems, must be taken into 
account with this type of soil.

Polo-Oska is the predominate soil type found in Leawood. Polo-Oska, a well-drained, 
deep to moderately deep soil with loam or clay subsoil, is generally located on 
uplands. Development limitations of this soil include bedrock depth (20-48 inches) and 
shrink/swell potential.

Sharpsburg-Oska soils, deep to moderately deep and well drained to moderately 
well drained with loam or clay subsoil, appear in the uplands south of Interstate-435 
adjacent to State Line Road. The permeability of this soil is a development limitation; 
depth problems are also possible with this soil type.
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Watersheds

Within the city limits of Leawood, there are five major watersheds that provide a 
natural system of surface water drainage. The natural system is enhanced where 
practical by engineered drainage systems. In developed northern Leawood, storm 
sewer systems are already in place; the few locations where these systems are 
considered inadequate are addressed in the City’s Capital Improvements Program 
and/or the 1/8th Cent Sales Tax (Expires June 30, 2021). 

Appropriate drainage system design remains an important element of runoff 
management in the developing portion of the City, as well – every new development 
and all redevelopment is required by ordinance to address and make provisions 
for drainage in accordance with the City’s recommended storm water management 
criteria. Figure 2.2 displays the watersheds in Leawood, and Table 2.1 provides the 
total acreage of each watershed.

Table 2.1: Watersheds and Acreage

Land Area

Leawood encompasses 14.7 15.2 square miles and resembles an elongated rectangle 
running north/south. Leawood is bordered on the west and south by Overland Park, 
Kansas; on the north by Prairie Village, Kansas; and on the east by Kansas City, 
Missouri.

There have been sixty-one (61) annexations to Leawood since incorporation in 1948. 
The individual annexations ranged in size from 1.5 to over 1,000 acres, as shown in 
Table 2.2.

Table 2.2: Annexation History and Acreage

Watershed ≈ Acreage Flows Into
Dykes Branch 1,318 Indian Creek
James Branch 624 Indian Creek
Indian Creek 1,257 Blue River
Tomahawk Creek 2,808 Indian Creek
Blue River 3,713 Missouri River
TOTAL 9,720
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Figure 2.2 Map of Watersheds

83rd Street

95th Street

103rd Street

M
iss

ion
 Ro

ad

St
at

e L
ine

 Ro
ad

119th Street

College Blvd

127th Street

135th Street

143rd Street

151st Street

Na
ll A

ve
nu

e

Dyke’s Branch

James Branch

Indian Creek

Tomahawk Creek

Blue River

Annexation History ≈ Acreage
1950 – 1960 1,003.19
1961 – 1970 7,161.26
1971 – 1980 483.60
1981 – 1990 124.75
1991 – Present 41.00
TOTAL 8,813.80
Source: Leawood Community Development Department
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Demographics
Population
Growth Patterns

The first census taken following incorporation in 1950 established the young 
community’s population at 1,167 residents. Over sixty years after incorporation, 
Leawood’s population has grown to 33,339 34,195 (2017 5-year ACS estimates). The 
2020 Decennial Census will provide a concrete count of Leawood’s population and 
provide a foundation for future estimates. Figure 2.3 shows a chart of total population 
in Leawood from 1950 to 2015. 

Figure 2.3: Total Population

In the City’s first decade, the population increased 639%. In each subsequent decade, 
from 1970 through 2000, the City’s population increased at least 30%. However, since 
2000 the rate of growth has declined. The 2010 decennial census revealed that the 
City’s population grew 15.23%, while from 2010 through 2015 the rate of growth has 
been 4.62%. Although the City is still growing, the rate of growth has decreased from 
previous decades as shown on Figure 2.4.

Figure 2.4: Rate of Population Growth (in preceding decade)
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Despite the decreasing rate of growth, the City’s rate of growth exceeds that of the 
State and the City remains one of the fastest growing in Kansas. According to the 
2010 US Census, of the twenty five largest cities in Kansas, Leawood had the 8th 
highest rate of growth between 2000 and 2010.

From 1980 through 2000, the City’s rate of growth exceeded the rate exhibited by 
Johnson County as a whole. Due to the City’s decreasing growth rate from 2000 
to 2015, the City is now growing at a slower rate than the County, as illustrated in 
Figure 2.5. This shift results from a combination of factors at play, most notably, the 
prevailing development patterns combined with Leawood’s inability to expand through 
annexation. This result has played out in other communities such as Prairie Village, 
Mission, Roeland Park and Merriam as the development tide pushed farther south and 
west outside the boundaries of each landlocked city.

Figure 2.5: Rate of Population Growth in City, County and State Levels

This result is further demonstrated in Figure 2.6. Between 1990 and 2000 the City 
absorbed 8.5% of the total increase in County population in the same time period. 
However, between 2000 and 2010, the City absorbed 4.5% of the County’s increase in 
population. 
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Figure 2.6 shows Leawood’s rate of absorption of Johnson County population growth.

Figure 2.6: Rate of Absorption of Johnson County Population Growth

Given the prevailing pattern of development and Leawood’s inability to expand through 
annexation, the City’s rate of absorption is likely to continue to decline.

Figure 2.7: Map of Johnson County, Kansas
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Population Composition
Race and Ethnicity

As of 2017, the majority population group in Leawood is the population of residents 
who identify themselves as white alone, at 92.5% 91.2% of the total population. The 
remaining 7.5% 8.8% of the population identifies themselves as non-white or not white 
alone. Those identifying as non-white or not white alone are composed of a several 
racial and ethnic population groups (hereinafter referred to as minority population or 
minority groups).

The largest minority group is those residents of Leawood identifying themselves 
as Asian at 3.9% 4.0% of the total population. The Asian population is Leawood’s 
only minority group which exceeds the State’s percentage (2.6% 2.8%), but is less 
than Johnson County’s (4.5% 4.7) percentage. The smallest minority group is those 
residents who identify themselves as Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander Black 
or African American at 0.1% 1.1% (approximately 33 individuals identify themselves 
within this race category). In summary, at 7.5% 8.8% of the total population, 
Leawood’s total minority group population is less than Johnson County (13.1% 19.5%) 
and the State of Kansas (14.8% 23.5%).

Table 2.3: Race and Ethnicity Composition (2015)

Leawood Johnson County Kansas
American Indian or Alaskan Native 0.0% 0.2% 0.7%
Asian 4.0% 4.7% 2.8%
Black or African-American 1.1% 4.5% 5.6%
Hispanic or Latino (of any race) 2.1% 7.4% 11.5%
Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander 0.0% 0.0% 0.1%
White 91.2% 80.5% 76.5%
Some Other Race 0.0% 0.1% 0.1%
Two or more races 1.5% 2.5% 2.8%
Source:  2017 5 Year Estimates American Community Survey, US Census Bureau

Race/Ethnicity Population
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The historic trend in Johnson County and the State has been an increasing minority 
population, although fluctuations are seen in recent years. Since 1990, as a 
percentage of the population, Leawood’s minority population has increased from 3.4% 
of the total population to 7.5% 8.8% in 2017, while that of Johnson County’s has more 
than quadrupled. Despite these increases, the percentage of minority populations 
of Leawood and Johnson County, and the State are significantly less than that of 
the nation. As of 2017, the minority population of the United States stands at 26.4% 
26.7% in 2017. Figure 2.8 shows minority population trends of Leawood compared to 
Johnson County and the state of Kansas from 1990 to 2017.

Figure 2.8: Minority Population Trends

Age and Gender

The age distribution graph in Figure 2.9 illustrates the distribution of age groups in 
Leawood’s population from 1990 to 2017. For the purposes of age distribution, the 
population is divided into five groups: Children (ages 0-4), School Age (ages 5-19), 
Career Age (ages 20-64), Retirement Age (ages 65-84) and Elderly (age 85+). 

Figure 2.9: Age Distribution
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of the total population of Leawood. From 1990 to 2015, most age groups, with the 
exception of the Career Age group, have increased in total population. From 2000 to 
2017, the population of the Elderly and Retirement age groups has trended upward, 
whereas the Career and School Age groups decreased as a percentage of the 
population.

The age distribution of Leawood residents is generally consistent with statewide 
and national trends which indicate an aging population. This is demonstrated by the 
increased Elderly and Retirement Age groups in Leawood. Statistical differences 
between decades in certain age groups that aren’t correlated with a population trend 
tend to be associated with specific generations or spikes in population of a certain 
age. For instance, the relatively high population of Children (ages 0-4) in the 1990 
Census is reflected as a relatively high School Age population in the 2000 Census. 
This corresponds to “Generation Y”, also known as the “Echo Boom Millennials” or 
the children of “Baby Boomers”. As of the 2010 Census, this generation is entering 
Career Age which explains the relative decrease in School Age population in 2010. 
Though this generation is beginning to enter the Career Age, the rate at which they 
are entering is not off-setting the rate at which the “Baby Boom” generation is entering 
retirement. The median age of all residents of Leawood has increased from 41.3 years 
in 2000 to 45 45.5 in 2017.

Figure 2.10: Gender Distribution

As of 2017, females composed 50.2% 51.3% of the population of Leawood, while 
males composed 49.8% 48.7%. Figure 2.10 shows this gender gap from 1990 – 2015 
and how it has increased each decade between 1990 and 2010. Between 2010 and 
2015, the trend has shifted and gender distribution is nearly equal. to nearly equal 
gender distribution; however, 2017 estimates show the gender gap widening by 
approximately 2% since 2015.

The median age for women remains higher, at 45.6 45.8 years, than the median age 
for men, which is 44 45 years. This illustrates that in Leawood, as in the remainder 
of the United States, on average, females have a higher life expectancy than males 
and consequently, as the population of Leawood ages, the gap between the genders 
increases.
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Household Statistics
Occupancy Status

In 2017, a total of 12,848 13,268 housing units were in the City. Of this amount, 
12,43312,680 were occupied and 415 588 were vacant. This translates to an 
occupancy rate of 96.8% 95.6% and a vacancy rate of 3.2% 4.4%.

Figure 2.11: Housing Occupancy

The graph above shows that the 3.2% 4.4% vacancy rate in 2017 is lower than in 
2010. For approximately 25 years, housing vacancy for Leawood has remained under 
5%, which is lower than the state of Kansas, which had a 2017 housing vacancy rate 
of 12.3% 10.9%. 

Figure 2.12: Housing Occupancy by Status

The graph shown in Figure 2.12 provides occupancy by status of owner versus renter. 
In 2015, of the 12,433 occupied housing units, 92.6% were owner-occupied and 7.4% 
were renter-occupied. The percentage of owner-occupied housing units has increased 
slightly since 2010. In 2017, of the 12,680 occupied housing units, 91.0% were owner-
occupied and 9% were renter-occupied.
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Household Composition

As of 2017, there were 33,339 34,195 persons in Leawood, living in 12,433 13,268 
households, for an average of 2.68 2.58 persons per household. Leawood is 
continuing to grow both in population and households, as shown in Table 2.4.

Table 2.4: Household Composition

From 2010 to 2017, the number of households and total population in Leawood 
increased 5% 11.2%. The average household size has trended downward from 3.31 in 
1980 to 2.68 2.75% in 2015 2017. The decline in average household size in Leawood 
is generally consistent with declines nationally.; however a small increase in household 
size was seen between 2014 and 2015. Overall decline is primarily due to fewer 
households with children and fewer children in family households. Figure 2.13 shows 
the average household size in Leawood.

Figure 2.13: Average Household Size

Year Population Households Average Persons per 
Household

1970 10,303 3,165 3.26
1980 13,692 4,132 3.31
1990 19,693 6,888 2.86
2000 27,656 9,841 2.81
2010 31,867 11,781 2.7
2015 33,339 12,433 2.68
2017 34,195 13,268 2.58

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 1970-2010; 2015 American Community Survey; 2017 5-Year 
Estimates

Picture by City of Leawood Parks & Rec Facebook
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Housing Value

Leawood’s owner occupied average home values continued a steady climb from 1990 
through 2017. The average home value saw an small increase of approximately 3.6% 
12.1% from $384,600 to $398,300 $431,000 from 2010 to 2017. The average monthly 
rent did not increase during the same time period. Rent decreased from $1,404 to 
$1,234 $1,363. 

Table 2.5: Home Value vs. Rent Value

Income
The per-capita income for Leawood and Johnson County significantly exceeds that of 
Kansas and the nation as a whole. Since 1990, the per-capita income of Leawood has 
increased 139% 144% from $34,275 to $81,743 $83,724, while the per-capita income 
for Johnson County increased 96% 110%, or $20,582 to $40,331 $43,061.

Per-capita incomes for Kansas and the nation each increased just over 100% since 
1990. This rate of growth exceeds that of Johnson County; however, their numeric 
increases are far less than that of Leawood and Johnson County. The numeric 
increases for Kansas and the nation are $14,406 $16,300 and $14,710 $16,957, 
respectively. Figure 2.14 compares the per-capita income of Leawood residents to 
Johnson County residents, Kansas residents, and the entire population of United 
States residents.

Figure 2.14: Per-Capita Income

Occupancy Type 1990 2000 2010 2015 2017
Owner-Occupied $193,408 $274,900 $384,600 $398,300 $431,000 
Renter-Occupied $831 $786 $1,404 $1,234 $1,363 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 1990-2010; 2015 American Community Survey, US Census 
Bureau
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The median household income for Leawood and Johnson County also exceed 
that of Kansas and the nation. Since 1990, the median family income of Leawood 
has increased 85.9% 102% to $139,384 $151,446 in 2017. Figure 2.15 exhibits a 
comparison of median household income.

Figure 2.15: Median Household Income

Educational Attainment
Leawood residents have historically had a high level of educational attainment. Of the 
estimated 22,762 23,497 persons aged 25 and older in Leawood in 2017, 74.3% 76% 
hold a bachelor’s degree or a graduate or professional degree. Figure 2.16 displays 
a comparison of educational attainment between Leawood, Johnson County and 
Kansas. This rate far exceeds that of Johnson County and the state, at 52.8% 54.7% 
and 31.0% 32.3% respectively.

Figure 2.16: Educational Attainment

Labor

Figure 2.17 illustrates the estimated employment distribution, by occupation for all 
employed Leawood residents aged 16 and over as of 2017. The largest employment 
sectors are 1) Professional, Scientific, Management and Administration, 2) Educational 
Service, Health Care, and Social Assistance, 1) education, health and social services, 
2) professional, management and administration, 3) finance, insurance and real 
estate, and 4) retail trade. 
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Schools & Places of Worship
Leawood offers several public schools to residents. The public schools fall within 
the Shawnee Mission School District and the Blue Valley School District. These two 
districts are known throughout the state of Kansas for their excellence in education.

Some places in Leawood meet boundary requirements for schools outside the 
Leawood city limits. For example, there are no high schools within the city limits of 
Leawood so students in Leawood middle schools would feed into a corresponding high 
school nearest to the area. Figure 2.18 shows the public schools within Leawood.

In addition to public schools, various private schooling opportunities are available in 
and around Leawood. Some children attend private schools outside Leawood. Most 
private schools are affiliated with a religious institution. There is a diverse inventory of 
places of worship within Leawood as well as in neighboring communities. Figure 2.19 
and Table 2.7 displays a map of the places of worship in Leawood.

Figure 2.18 Public Schools
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Table 2.7: Places of Worship within the City of Leawood 

Projected Growth
Future Development Trends
Demographics

Realistic population forecasts are essential to proper planning. Forecasts are often 
based upon past growth and anticipated trends. The City is surrounded on all sides 
by other incorporated cities and thus, is unable to annex additional land. Leawood’s 
population projections consider this fact and assume that future growth will occur 
on the remaining undeveloped land within the City and that such growth will follow 
existing policies, including the policy for residential development on land designated 
for mixed use development along the 135th Street corridor. Though available land area 
for residential development outside this corridor is diminishing, the projections in Table 
2.6 assume residential development will occur in a manner consistent with existing 
policies.

Table 2.6: Population Projections

Figure 2.19 Places of Worship

Year Population Projected 
Difference

2000 27,656
2010 31,867
2015 33,300 +1,433
2020 35,500 +2,200
2025 37,300 +1,800
2030 38,000 +700

*Disclaimer: Information for 2000-2010 comes directly from the
U.S. Census Bureau while future data is determined through a
formula that assumes existing conditions and policies.
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Map Key Place of Worship
1 Leawood Baptist Church
2 Leawood Presbyterian Church
3 Curé of Ars
4 Leawood Methodist Church
5 Church of the Nativity
6 Covenant Chapel Evangelical Presbyterian Church
7 The Shul - Chabad of Leawood
8 Lord of Life Lutheran Church
9 Church of the Resurrection
10 Christ Community Evangelical Free Church
11 St. Michael the Archangel Church
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Due to the City’s inability to annex additional land, future growth patterns will rely upon 
the development of land already within the City’s boundaries, and in particular how the 
land is developed in the form of land use and density. As remaining land is developed, 
population growth will slow. After build-out, future population is expected to fluctuate 
only slightly as natural changes occur.

Capital Improvements

The City of Leawood’s Capital Improvements Program (CIP) is designed to identify an 
effective timing and financing schedule for various construction, renovation, and repair 
projects of benefit to the entire community.

A Capital Improvement Program is a document that is the result of systematic 
evaluation of capital projects. The plan serves as a guide for the efficient and effective 
provision of public facilities, outlining a timing and financing 
schedule of capital projects for a five-year period of time. In 
the process of formulating the plan, public improvements 
are prioritized and costs are projected, thereby allowing 
the City to take maximum advantage of federal, state and 
county funds. A responsible improvements program is 
necessary to support current and maintain future high levels 
of service that Leawood provides its residents. The Capital 
Improvement Program is updated annually.

Future Economic Trends
Revenue Sources & Developments

The future commercial development potential of Leawood, 
as identified in this Comprehensive Plan, seeks to end a 
long-standing fiscal reliance on residential property tax as 
the City’s primary revenue source. 

The 2015 2017 property taxes accounted for 33.9% 35.6% 
of the total revenue for the City, whereas the sales/use tax 
for the City made up 27.9% 29.1% of the total revenue. 

As the estimated 2 million square feet of potential 
retail space is developed, a substantial boost in sales 
tax revenues is expected. The City’s potential office 
developments will also increase property tax revenue from 
sources other than residential.
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Approved Commercial Developments

The approved commercial developments within the City of Leawood are listed in Table 
2.8 below. This table reflects approved developments, predominant uses and provides 
the total floor area within the development, as approved. Developments in which 
construction has commenced but not completed are given a status of “Developing”. 
Developments in which construction has completed are given a status of “Existing”. 
Developments with a predominant use designation of “Mixed Use” reflect a floor area 
which excludes the residential component of said development. 

Figure 2.20 illustrates the general location of each of the developments summarized in 
Table 2.8 

Table 2.8: Approved Commercial Development with Floor Area and Type

Figure 2.20 Commercial Developments Areas

Map Key Commercial Developments Planned Floor Area Status
1 Somerset Shops 12,541 Existing
2 State Line Executive Office Park 65,993 Existing
3 North Office Complex 329,303 Existing
4 Leawood Estates 14,523 Existing
5 Ranch Mart North 223,211 Existing
6 103rd & State Line Road 140,606 Existing
7 Mission Farms 464,581 Developing
8 Hallbrook Office Center 224,382 Developing
9 Town Center Business Park 170,728 Developing
10 Leawood Executive Centre 169,716 Existing
11 Town Center Plaza 735,050 Developing
12 Tomahawk Creek Office Park 530,021 Developing
13 Pinnacle Corporate Centre 419,469 Developing
14 Camelot Court 182,575 Existing
15 Town Center Crossing 170,279 Existing
16 Leawood Plaza* 125,168 Existing
17 Leawood Commons 100,570 Existing
18 University Park 79,592 Existing
19 Park Place 1,252,956 Developing
20 State Line Office Building 11,494 Existing
21 College Boulevard Office Corridor 261,484 Existing
22 Leawood Square 39,689 Existing
23 Village of Seville 102,991 Developing
24 Parkway Plaza 679,622 Developing
25 Market Square Center 172,542 Developing
26 The Villaggio at Leawood - West 400,800 Developing
27 Chadwick Place 62,000 Developing
28 Plaza Pointe 186,422 Developing
29 Cornerstone of Leawood 371,856 Developing
30 Shops of Camden Woods 22,189 Existing
31 Centennial Park 253,731 Developing
32 Ironhorse Centre 170,618 Developing
33 Nall Valley Shops 82,462 Developing

8,229,164
Source:  Leawood Planning Department, Johnson County Appraiser
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT FLOOR AREA:

*Note: Hy-Vee property is currently vacant
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3. EVALUATION AREA ANALYSIS
For evaluation and analysis purposes, the 2018 Comprehensive Plan divides Leawood 
into three distinct areas: the North Leawood area is north of Interstate-435 (I-435), the 
Central Leawood area boundaries are I-435 and 135th Street and the South Leawood 
area is south of 135th Street.  Although these three areas are identified for evaluation 
purposes, these dividing lines should not be used for any other purpose.  Figure 3.1 
shows a map of the specified evaluation areas within the City of Leawood.

Figure 3.1: Evaluation Areas
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North Leawood
North Leawood was the first area in the City to develop and established the initial 
character of the distinctive community that would become Leawood as we know it 
today.  An inventory of the existing conditions in this area reveals an environment 
gradually being influenced by incremental demographic and development trends.

Population
Growth Patterns

Although small fluctuations have occurred, the population of North Leawood is 
essentially stable, having decreased slightly between 1990 and 2000, yet increasing 
between 2000 and 2010 as seen in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1: North Leawood Population

Population Composition

Race & Ethnicity

As of the 2010 Census, the majority population group in North Leawood is that 
population who identify themselves as white alone, accounting for 98% of the total 
population in North Leawood.  The remaining 2% of the population identifies as 
non-white or not white alone.  Those identifying as non-white or not white alone are 
composed of several racial and ethnic population groups (hereinafter referred to as 
minority population or minority groups).  Relative to Leawood overall, North Leawood 
has a lower minority population.  The concentration of the white population in this area 
is considerably higher than the concentration in the other areas of Leawood.  Table 3.2 
shows data for race and ethnicity.

Table 3.2: North Leawood Race & Ethnicity Composition

Figure 3.2: Map of North Leawood

Year Population % of Total City 
1990 8,601 44%
2000 8,478 31%
2010 8,660 27%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 1990-2010

Race/Ethnicity North Leawood All Leawood
American Indian or Alaskan Native 0.14% 0.10%
Asian 0.70% 3.80%
Black or African-American 0.38% 1.90%
Hispanic or Latino (of any race) 1.70% 2.20%
White 96.46% 90.10%
Some Other Race 0.23% 0.40%
Two or More Races 0.39% 1.40%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2010

1. Somerset Shops
2. State Line Executive Office Park
3. North Office Complex
4. Leawood Estates
5. Ranch Mart North
6. 103rd St. and State Line Road
7. Mission Farms



28Comprehensive Plan - 2018 Update

Housing

As of the 2010 Census, the total number of housing units in North Leawood is 3,528, 
an increase of 41 units from 2000. Of the 3,528 units, 3,343 units were occupied in 
2010, for an occupancy rate of 95% (Table 3.3). While the total number of units has 
increased since 2000, the number of occupied units has decreased, reflecting an 
increased vacancy rate.  

Table 3.3: North Leawood Housing Occupancy

The 2010 Census shows increased in-migration of young families into North Leawood 
as evidenced by increasing household size from 2.49 in 2000 to 2.59 in 2010 and a 
27% increase in the adolescent population between 2000 and 2010 (Table 3.4).   

Table 3.4: North Leawood Population by Major Age Group

Educational Attainment
High levels of educational attainment are also evident among the residents of the 
northern part of the City, with more than 84% having earned at least a bachelor degree 
as of 2010 (Table 3.5), up from 66% in 2000.

Table 3.5: North Leawood Educational Attainment

Total % Total %
Occupied 3,343 95% 3,406 98%
Vacant 185 5% 81 2%
Total 3,528 100% 3,487 100%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2000-2010

Type 2010 2000

2010 2000
Adolescent 2,615 30% 22%
Career 4,547 53% 57%
Retired 1,498 17% 22%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2000-2010

Age Group Population (2010) % of North Leawood

2010 2000
High School Graduate 224 4% 10%
Some College or Associates Degree 705 12% 24%
Bachelor Degree 3,366 55% 43%
Graduate or Professional Degree 1,732 29% 23%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2010

Highest Level of Attainment Population (2010) % of North Leawood
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Community Profile
North Leawood is represented by a wide variety of community institutions.

Schools

North Leawood is served by Shawnee Mission school district, USD #512.  Children of 
the area living north of 95th Street who are enrolled in public schools attend Corinth 
Elementary School, Indian Hills Middle School, and Shawnee Mission East High 
School, all located in Prairie Village.  Children enrolled in public schools living south 
of 95th Street in North Leawood attend Brookwood Elementary School, located at 
103rd Street and Wenonga Lane in Leawood, and Indian Woods Middle School and 
Shawnee Mission South High School, both located in Overland Park.  Curé of Ars, a 
Catholic grade school is located in North Leawood and provides education for students 
through 8th grade.

Religious Institutions

Several religious institutions call North Leawood home, as listed in Table 3.6.

Table 3.6: Religious Institutions in North Leawood

Public Buildings and Amenities

City offices located north of I-435 include Fire Station No. 1 at 96th and Lee 
Boulevard and Parks and Recreation facility located at 104th Street and State Line 
Way.  Adjacent to Fire Station No. 1 (seen below) is the original Leawood City Hall, a 
local landmark.  Brook Beatty Park is a small public park operated by the City at Lee 
Boulevard and Meadow Lane.

Denomination Institution
Baptist Leawood Baptist
Catholic Curé of Ars
Methodist Leawood United 
Presbyterian Leawood Presbyterian

Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Leawood Baptist - North of 83rd Street and West of State 
Line Road

Cure of Ars - South of 93rd Street and East of Mission Road

Leawood United - South of 95th Street and East of Chadwick 
Street

Leawood Presbyterian - South of 83rd Street and East of 
Cherokee Lane
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Development Profile
North Leawood is primarily residential, with 78% 90.78% of its land area consisting of 
residential uses.  The area’s commercial land uses are concentrated along State Line 
Road, 95th and Mission Road and near Mission Road and I-435.  A breakdown of the 
zoning by land area is provided in Table 3.7. 

Table 3.7: North Leawood Zoning by Acreage

The commercial areas within North Leawood are described in greater detail below.

Somerset Shops

This small commercial area is located at the southwest corner of Somerset Drive and 
Lee Boulevard.  The development was constructed around 1950.

Table 3.8: Somerset Shops Data

State Line Executive Office Park

This is a small office development, located at the extreme northeast corner of 
Leawood in the 8000 block of State Line Road constructed between 1975 and 1985.  

Table 3.9: State Line Executive Office Park Data

Zoning Acres %
AG 13.7 0.68
BP 13.94 0.69
REC 8.44 0.42
SD-CR 23.42 1.16
SD-NCR 2.24 0.11
SD-NCR2 2.92 0.11
SD-O 38.84 1.92
MXD 82.99 4.10
All Residential 1,835.33 90.78
Source: Leawood Community Development Department, 2018

Somerset Shops - Corner of Somerset Dr and Lee Blvd

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 12,541
Location Somerset Dr. & Lee Blvd.
Development Type Retail
Zoning SD-NCR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 65,993
Location 80th St. & State Line Rd.
Development Type Retail/Office
Zoning SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development DepartmentState Line Executive Office Park - On State Line and South of 

Somerset Dr

1

2
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North Office Complex

This area consists of a collection of office buildings and an overflow parking lot 
associated with Ward Parkway Center near 89th & State Line Road.  The buildings 
were constructed between 1971 and 1991. The overflow parking lot located north of 
the office complex is also a potential site for redevelopment.

Table 3.10: North Office Complex Data

Leawood Estates

This is small, two-lot commercial area within the Leawood Estates subdivision 
constructed between 1985 and 1987.

Table 3.11: Leawood Estates Data

Ranch Mart North

Built in the late 1950’s, Ranch Mart Shopping Center was at one time acclaimed for 
its innovative design. Currently, renovations are underway to the façade of the main 
center which address deterioration and re-establish the success of this once prominent 
development.

Table 3.12: Ranch Mart North Data

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 329,303
Location 89th St & State Line Rd.
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department North Office Complex - West of State Line and North of 89th 

Street

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 14,523
Location NW Corner of 103rd St. 
Development Type Retail/Office
Zoning SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department Leawood Estates - West of State Line and North of 103rd 

Street

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 223,211
Location NE Corner of 95th St. & Mission Rd.
Development Type Retail
Zoning SD-CR & SD-NCR2
Source: Leawood Community Development Department Ranch Mart North - North of 95th Street and East of Mission 

Road

3

4

5
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103rd St. & State Line Road

The commercial district located southwest of 103rd Street and State Line Road 
contains a variety of retail, office and service uses, many of which were established 
prior to annexation.

Table 3.13: 103rd & State Line Road Data

Mission Farms

The first mixed use development of its kind to be approved in the City, it is located on 
the former Saddle and Sirloin property.  The entire development includes 14 single-
family lots, 192 multi-family units, 7 townhomes, and a mix of retail and office.  The 
mixed use and 7 acre private open space provides a buffer for the residents from 
I-435.  Its location provides visibility from I-435 and a unique commercial district for the 
residents of North Leawood. 

Table 3.14: Mission Farms Data

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 140,606
Location SW Corner of 103rd St. & State Line Rd.
Development Type Retail/Office
Zoning BP
Source: Leawood Community Development Department103rd and State Line Road - North of 104th Street and West 

of State Line Road

Status Existing/ Planned
Total Square Feet 412,056 /464,581
Location I-435 Highway & Mission Rd.
Development Type Mixed Use
Zoning MXD
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Mission Farms - East of Mission Road and North of I-435

6

7
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Central Leawood
Central Leawood is the center of the community featuring much of the city’s existing 
commercial floor area.  An inventory of the existing conditions in this area reveals 
that much of the development of this area occurred between 1980 and 2010 with 
the area nearing buildout, however considerable land area designated for mixed use 
development remains along the 135th Street corridor.

Population
Growth Patterns

Central Leawood grew rapidly from 1970 through 2000.  Since 2000, the residential 
development moved south of 135th Street, and the population has stabilized.  The 
southward movement of residential growth has shifted the demographic profile of the 
entire community, progressively moving the City’s population center southward into 
Central Leawood.

Table 3.15: Central Leawood Population

Population Composition

Race & Ethnicity

As of the 2010 Census, the majority population group in Central Leawood is that 
population who identify themselves as white, accounting for 91% of the total 
population of the area.  The remaining 9% of the population identifies as non-white.  
Those identifying as non-white are composed of several racial and ethnic population 
groups (hereinafter referred to as minority population or minority groups).  The largest 
minority group in Central Leawood is Asian with nearly four percent of the population.  
Relative to Leawood overall, Central Leawood has a slightly larger minority population.

Table 3.16: Central Leawood Race and Ethnicity

Figure 3.3: Map of Central Leawood

Year Population % of Total City 
1990 10,491 53%
2000 14,933 54%
2010 14,624 46%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 1990-2010

Race/Ethnicity Central Leawood All Leawood
American Indian or Alaskan Native 0.53% 0.10%
Asian 3.76% 3.80%
Black or African-American 3.54% 1.90%
Hispanic or Latino (of any race) 2.01% 2.20%
White 89.35% 90.10%
Some Other Race 0.26% 0.40%
Two or More Races 0.55% 1.40%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2010
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Housing

As of the 2010 Census, the total number of housing units in Central Leawood is 5,817, 
an increase of 340 units from 2000.  Of the 5,817 units, 5,560 units were occupied in 
2010, for an occupancy rate of 96%.  This has resulted in a decreased vacancy rate 
since 2000. 

Table 3.17: Central Leawood Housing Occupancy

The average household size in 2010 was 2.63 persons, down from 3.36 in 2000 
reflecting a nationwide trend toward smaller households.  In the case of Central 
Leawood, this decrease may be caused by a combination of factors including smaller 
families replacing larger families since 2000 and an increase in the number occupied 
housing units combined with the slight population decline during the same time frame.

Such household size statistics are characteristic of stable neighborhoods which are 
composed of a mixture of young families and empty nesters.  Since 2000, Central 
Leawood has become a neighborhood that was predominantly large young families to 
one that is more balanced.

Table 3.18: Central Leawood Population by Major Age Group

Educational Attainment
High levels of education are sustained by Central Leawood residents; 85% have at 
least a bachelor degree, up from 72% in 2000.

Table 3.19: Central Leawood Educational Attainment

Total % Total %
Occupied 5,560 96% 5,000 91%
Vacant 257 4% 477 9%
Total 5,817 100% 5,477 100%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2010

Type 2010 2000

2010 2000
Adolescent 4,391 30% 29%
Career 7,711 53% 57%
Retired 2,522 17% 14%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2010

Age Group Population 
(2010)

% of Central Leawood

2010 2000
High School Graduate 345 3% 6%
Some College or Associates Degree 998 10% 22%
Bachelor Degree 6,186 60% 41%
Graduate or Professional Degree 2,602 25% 31%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2010

Highest Level of Attainment Population 
(2010)

% of Central Leawood



3. Evaluation Area Analysis35

Community Profile
Central Leawood is represented by a variety of community institutions, some of which 
are reflected below.

Schools

Central Leawood is serviced by the Blue Valley School District, USD #229.  Children 
enrolled in public schools in the area attend either Leawood Elementary School 
or Mission Trail Elementary School, both located in Leawood, or Overland Trail 
Elementary School, located in Overland Park.  Children living in the attendance area 
for Leawood and Mission Trail Elementary Schools attend Leawood Middle School.  
Those living in the area for Overland Trail Elementary School attend Overland Trail 
Middle School.  All children in North Leawood attend Blue Valley North High School, 
located in Overland Park.  Nativity Parish School is a Catholic grade school, located in 
Central Leawood and educates students through 8th grade.

Religious Institutions

Two religious institutions call Central Leawood home, as listed in Table 3.20.

Table 3.20: Central Leawood Religious Institutions

Public Buildings and Amenities

Central Leawood contains many public facilities and amenities including City Hall, the 
Leawood Justice Center and Police Headquarters, and Fire Station No. 2, all operated 
by the City.  Johnson County Library operates its Leawood Pioneer Branch adjacent to 
City Hall.  The combination of the city facility and the library provides a focus for many 
community activities and is a showcase for Leawood.

The City operates Tomahawk Creek Park along Tomahawk Creek through Central 
Leawood and I-Lan Park near 125th Street and Nall Avenue, adjacent to Tomahawk 
Creek.  Gezer Park is located at the northeast corner of 133rd Street and Mission 
Road.  City Park is located south of I-435 and east of Mission Rd. and features pools 
of water and athletic fields.

Denomination Institution
Catholic Church of the Nativity
Evangelical Presbyterian Covenant Chapel
Judaism The Shul – Chabad of Leawood
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Church of the Nativity -  North of 119th Street and East of 
Mission Road

The Shul - Chabad of Leawood - South of 133rd Street and 
West of Briar Street

Covenant Chapel - South of 133rd Street and West of 
Pembroke Lane
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Development Profile
Residential and Commercial development are balanced in Central Leawood with 
approximately half of the land area dedicated for residential uses, and 13% each for 
recreational and commercial land uses.  A breakdown of the zoning by land area is 
provided in Table 3.21.

Table 3.21: Central Leawood Zoning by Acreage

The commercial areas within Central Leawood are described in greater detail below.

Hallbrook Office Center

Hallbrook Office Center is becoming one of Leawood’s premier office developments.  
Located directly south of I-435 on the Kansas-Missouri state line, this commercial area 
will feature an attractively landscaped environment similar to the neighboring Hallbrook 
Subdivision.

Table 3.22: Hallbrook Office Center Data

Town Center Business Park

Town Center Business Park is an office development located southeast of 115th Street 
and Roe Avenue, with six developed parcels.  There are currently three undeveloped 
parcels within the development, which are owned by the City of Leawood.  

Table 3.23: Town Center Business Park Data

Zoning Acres %
AG 192.94 5.23
BP 0.00 0.00
REC 561.30 15.22
SD-CR 209.71 5.69
SD-NCR 38.69 1.05
SD-NCR2 0.00 0.00
SD-O 291.93 7.92
MXD 178.53 4.84
All Residential 2,215.08 60.06
Source: Leawood Community Development Department, 2018

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 224,382
Location 111th St. & State Line Rd.
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-CR & SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 170,728
Location 115th St. & Roe Ave.
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-NCR & SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

8
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Hallbrook Office Center - North of 112th Terrace and West of 
State Line Road

Town Center Business Park - South of 115th Street and East 
of Roe Avenue
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Leawood Executive Centre

This is an existing development in a prominent location at the southeast corner of 
College Boulevard and Roe Avenue, consisting of a collection of three office buildings 
constructed from 1986 to 1987.

Table 3.24: Leawood Executive Centre Data

Town Center Plaza

Town Center Plaza has become one of the area’s premier regional retail centers, 
located north of 119th Street between Nall Avenue and Roe Avenue.  Town Center 
currently hosts many high quality commercial establishments, and major anchor stores 
including a 120,000 sq.ft. department store, 100,000 sq.ft. sporting goods store, and a 
theater complex.  Accompanying the shopping center are numerous restaurants and a 
banking institution. 

Table 3.25: Town Center Plaza Data

Tomahawk Creek Office Park

Tomahawk Creek Office Park is an existing development along Tomahawk Creek 
Parkway south of College Boulevard.  The development has reached build-out and 
consists of several office buildings constructed from 1998 through the early 2000s.

Table 3.26: Tomahawk Creek Office Park Data

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 169,716
Location SE Corner of College Blvd. & Roe Ave.
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing/Planned
Total Square Feet 683,696 / 735,050
Location N of 119th St. between Nall Ave. & Roe Ave.
Development Type Retail
Zoning SD-CR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 508,807
Location College Blvd. to 114th St. on Tomahawk Creek Parkway
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-NCR & SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Town Center Plaza -  North of 119th Street and East of Nall 
Avenue

Leawood Executive Centre - South of College Boulevard and 
East of Roe Avenue

Tomahawk Creek Office Park - South of College Boulevard 
and west of Tomahawk Creek Parkway
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Pinnacle Corporate Centre

Pinnacle Corporate Center is located north of 115th Street and Tomahawk Creek 
Parkway, immediately south of Tomahawk Creek Office Park.  Development was 
recently concluded when the fifth and final office building was completed and occupied 
in 2015. 

Table 3.27: Pinnacle Corporate Centre Data

Camelot Court

Camelot Court is a retail development constructed between 1990 and 1996 and 
located at the northeast corner of 119th Street and Roe Avenue.  This development 
recently underwent renovations utilizing the City’s CID policy approved in 2014.  

Table 3.28: Camelot Court Data

Town Center Crossing

Town Center Crossing, located at the southeast corner of 119th Street and 
Roe Avenue within Central Leawood was constructed from 2006 to 2008.  The 
Development consists of a multi-tenant main center and three outparcel buildings 
adjacent to 119th Street.  

Table 3.29: Town Center Crossing Data

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 419,469
Location 114th St. to 115th St. on Tomahawk Creek Parkway
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 184,477
Location NE Corner of 119th St. & Roe Ave.
Development Type Retail
Zoning SD-CR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 170,279
Location SE Corner of 119th St. & Roe Ave.
Development Type Retail
Zoning SD-CR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Camelot Court - East of Roe Ave and South of Town Center 
Drive

Pinnacle Corporate Centre - North of 115th Street and Toma-
hawk Creek Parkway

Town Center Crossing - Along 114th Street and North of 
Tomahawk Creek Parkway
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Leawood Plaza

Leawood Plaza is a neighborhood-scale commercial development located at the 
northwest corner of 123rd Street and State Line Road.  This development was 
constructed between 1986 and 1988.

Table 3.30: Leawood Plaza Data

Leawood Commons

An office/retail development along Nall Avenue north of Town Center Drive; this 
development was constructed beginning in the 1990s and is built-out.

Table 3.31: Leawood Commons Data

University Park

An office development immediately north of Leawood Commons. This development 
completed its final phase on construction during the late 1990’s and is built out.

Table 3.32: University Park Data

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 125,168
Location 123rd St. & State Line Rd.
Development Type Retail
Zoning SD-NCR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 100,570
Location NE Corner of Town Center Dr. & Nall Ave.
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-NCR & SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 79,592
Location 112th St. & Nall Ave.
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Leawood Commons - North of Town Center Drive and East of 
Nall Avenue

University Park - South of 112th Street and East of Nall 
Avenue
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Leawood Plaza - North of 123rd Street and West of State 
Line Road
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Park Place

Park Place is a mixed use development located southeast of Town Center Drive 
and Nall Avenue, which opened its first phase consisting of retail and office in 2008.  
Approved for more than 1.2 million square feet of floor area, Park Place is the largest 
and most dense development in the City of Leawood. Development of the east end of 
Park Place is currently underway with the construction of an office building and multi-
family residential building. 

Table 3.33: Park Place Data

State Line Office Building

This development consists of one, relatively small office building constructed in 2006.  

Table 3.34: State Line Office Building Data

College Boulevard Office Corridor

The College Boulevard Office Corridor is a collection of individual buildings along the 
south side of College Boulevard between Nall Avenue and Roe Avenue.  Many of the 
buildings were constructed beginning in the 1980s. 

Table 3.35: College Boulevard Office Corridor Data

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 508,807
Location College Blvd. to 114th St. on 
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-NCR & SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 11,494
Location 128th St. & State Line Rd.
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 261,484
Location Nall Ave. to Roe Ave. along College Blvd.
Development Type Office
Zoning SD-NCR & SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Park Place - East of Nall Ave. and South of Town Center 
Drive

University Park - South of 112th Street and East of Nall 
Avenue

19

20

21

State Line Office Building - West of State Line road and North 
of 128th Street
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Leawood Square

Leawood Square is a small-scale neighborhood retail development located northwest 
of 131st Street and State Line Road.  The development was constructed in 1988.

Table 3.36: Leawood Square Data

Village of Seville

Village of Seville is a relatively new retail development located south of Leawood 
Square.  Construction commenced in 2006 and is ongoing. A micro-hospital was 
approved for the development in 2016. St. Luke’s Community Hospital opened in 
2018.

Table 3.37: Village of Seville Data

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 39,689
Location 130th St. & State Line Rd.
Development Type Retail
Zoning SD-CR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing/ Planned
Total Square Feet 43,836 /  102,991
Location 133rd St. & State Line Rd.
Development Type Retail
Zoning SD-CR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

22
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Leawood Square - North of 131st Street and West of State 
Line Road

Village of Seville - North of 133rd Street and West of State 
Line Road
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Parkway Plaza

Parkway Plaza is mixed use development along the 135th Street Corridor between 
Roe Avenue and Nall Avenue.  The project began in 2005 and construction is ongoing.  
The development is approved to include a mixture of retail, office and residential uses.  
In 2016, two additional buildings received final approval, one of which is currently 
under construction.  

Table 3.38: Parkway Plaza Data

Market Square

The Market Square Center was the first project to be finalized along the 135th 
Street Corridor, located at the northeast corner of 135th and Mission Road.  This 
development consists of office and retail tenants including a grocery store and a bank 
building. One additional pad site is allowed along 135th Street, which may include a 
restaurant. The second phase of the main center still remains to be constructed.

Table 3.39: Market Square Center Data

Status Existing/ Planned
Total Square Feet 360,371 / 625,281
Location NW Corner of 135th St. & Roe Ave.
Development Type Mixed Use
Zoning MXD
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing/Planned
Total Square Feet 149,375 / 172,542
Location NE Corner of 135th St. & Mission 
Development Type Retail
Zoning SD-CR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Parkway Plaza - North of 135th Street and West of Roe 
Avenue

Market Square -  North of 135th Street and East of Mission 
Road

24

25



3. Evaluation Area Analysis43

Figure 3.4: Map of South Leawood

South Leawood
This area, south of 135th Street, contains the largest share of undeveloped land in 
the City.  While limited amounts of land area designated for residential uses remain 
undeveloped, considerable land area designated for mixed use development remains, 
primarily along the 135th Street corridor.

Population
Growth Patterns

South Leawood is experiencing the largest population increase of any sector.  The 
area’s population has increased by approximately 4,000 persons in each of the last 
two decennial censuses.  The growth will continue in this area but at a slower pace.

Table 3.40: South Leawood Population

Population Composition

Race & Ethnicity

As of the 2010 Census, the majority population group in South Leawood, as in other 
areas of Leawood, are those who identify themselves as white, with almost 91% of 
the population.  The largest minority group is Asian, with just over 5% followed by the 
Hispanic population.

Table 3.41: South Leawood Race & Ethnicity Composition

Year Population % of Total City 
1990 601 3%
2000 4,245 15%
2010 8,583 27%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 1990-2010

Race/Ethnicity South Leawood All Leawood
American Indian or Alaskan Native 0.57% 0.10%
Asian 5.22% 3.80%
Black or African-American 2.87% 1.90%
Hispanic or Latino (of any race) 3.00% 2.20%
White 87.67% 90.10%
Some Other Race 0.25% 0.40%
Two or More Races 0.41% 1.40%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2010

Central

M
iss

ion
 Ro

ad

St
at

e L
ine

 Ro
ad

135th Street

143rd Street

151st Street

Na
ll A

ve
nu

e

South
26 272829

31

30

33

32

26. The Villagio at Leawood - West
27. Chadwick Place
28. Plaza Pointe
29. Cornerstone of Leawood
30. Shops at Camden Woods
31. Centennial Park
32. Ironhorse Centre
33. Nall Valley Shops



44Comprehensive Plan - 2018 Update

Housing

As of the 2010 Census, the total number of housing units in South Leawood is 3,029, of 
which 2,868 are occupied for a vacancy rate of 5% which is up from 3% in 2000.  The 
occupancy rates are summarized in Table 3.42.

Table 3.42: South Leawood Housing Occupancy

The average household size for South Leawood in 2010 was 2.99 persons.  This is the 
largest average household size in the City relative to North and Central Leawood.  This 
is reflective of a greater proportion of families in this area relative to the rest of the City.

Table 3.43: South Leawood Population by Major Age Group

Educational Attainment
As with the remainder of Leawood, South Leawood residents have high levels of 
educational attainment; 83% of the area’s residents hold at least a bachelor degree, up 
from 65% in 2000.

Table 3.44: South Leawood Educational Attainment

Total % Total %
Occupied 2,868 95% 1,424 97%
Vacant 161 5% 29 3%
Total 3,029 100% 1,453 100%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2000-2010

Type 2010 2000

2010 2000
Adolescent 3,287 38% 33%
Career 4,452 52% 60%
Retired 844 10% 7%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2000-2010

Age Group Population 
(2010)

% of South Leawood

2010 2000
High School Graduate 102 2% 11%
Some College or Associates Degree 862 16% 23%
Bachelor Degree 3,439 65% 44%
Graduate or Professional Degree 883 17% 21%
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census, 2010

Highest Level of Attainment Population 
(2010)

% of South Leawood
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Community Profile
As South Leawood has grown, the need for community facilities has increased.  

Schools

Blue Valley School District, USD #229 provides public school education to children 
in South Leawood.  In 2000, this area was served with two elementary schools, 
however due to the growth that has occurred since then, the area is now served by 
four elementary schools; Mission Trail Elementary School and Prairie Star Elementary 
School, both located in Leawood, and Overland Trail Elementary School and Sunrise 
Point Elementary School, both located in Overland Park.  Children enrolled in public 
schools in South Leawood attend either Leawood Middle School, Prairie Star Middle 
School, or Overland Trail Middle School.  Both Blue Valley North High School and Blue 
Valley High School serve the area.  St. Michael the Archangel School, a Catholic grade 
school, is located in South Leawood. Blue Valley School District closely monitors 
expected population growth in relation to the capacity of existing schools, especially in 
the 135th Street Corridor, which will develop new multi-family housing units. 

Religious Institutions

Four institutions are located in South Leawood, as listed in Table 3.45.

Table 3.45: Religious Institutions in South Leawood

Public Buildings and Amenities

Leawood’s 18-hole municipal golf course, named for its proximity to a historic rail line 
Irornhorse, is the only City owned golf course and is located south of 151st Street.  
Ironhorse Golf Course is the only public course in the community.  

Ironwoods Park, located at Ironwoods Drive and Mission Road is a large public park 
operated by the City.  The park has a wide variety of amenities such as trails, an 
amphitheater, cabins, alpine towers and a playground.  Adjacent to the park is Fire 
Station #3. The City also operates a public works facility at the southeast corner of 
143rd Street and Kenneth Road.

Denomination Institution
Catholic St. Michael the Archangel Catholic Church
Evangelical Christ Community Church
Lutheran Lord of Life Lutheran Church
Methodist United Methodist Church of the Resurrection
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

St. Michael the Archangel Catholic Church - North of 143rd 
Street and East of Nall Avenue

Christ Community Church - North of 143rd Street and West of 
Kenneth Road

Lord of Life Lutheran Church - South of 135th Street and 
West of Chadwick Street

United Methodist Church of the Resurrection - South of 137th 
Street and West of Roe Avenue
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Development Profile
The majority of undeveloped land in the City of Leawood is located in South Leawood, 
but this land area has decreased substantially since 2000.  Approximately 59% of the 
land area is planned or zoned for residential land uses.  About 7% of the area is zoned 
for commercial land uses, however considerably more is planned to be developed for 
mixed uses, primarily along 135th Street.  A breakdown of the zoning by land area is 
provided in Table 3.46.

Table 3.46: South Leawood Zoning by Acreage

The commercial areas within South Leawood are described in greater detail below.

The Villaggio at Leawood – West

This development was approved in 2005 and thus far, two buildings have been 
constructed while the remainder is undeveloped.

Table 3.47: The Villaggio at Leawood – West Data

Chadwick Place

This development, located at the southeast corner of Chadwick Street and 135th 
Street was approved in 2004.  Thus far a bank building has been constructed while the 
remainder is undeveloped.

Table 3.48: Chadwick Place Data

Zoning Acres %
AG 192.94 5.23
BP 0.00 0.00
REC 561.30 15.22
SD-CR 209.71 5.69
SD-NCR 38.69 1.05
SD-NCR2 0.00 0.00
SD-O 291.93 7.92
MXD 178.53 4.84
All Residential 2,215.08 60.06
Source: Leawood Community Development Department, 2018

Status Existing/Planned
Total Square 10,147 / 400,800
Location SE Corner of 135th St. & Roe Ave.
Development Retail/Office
Zoning SD-CR & SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing/Planned
Total Square 3,598 / 62,000
Location 135th St. & Chadwick
Development Retail/Office
Zoning SD-NCR & SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Chadwick Place - South of 135th Street and East of 
Chadwick Road
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Villaggio at Leawood - West - South of 135th Street and East 
of Roe Avenue
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Plaza Pointe

Plaza Pointe, located at the southwest corner of 135th Street and Roe Avenue, is a 
mixed office and commercial development that began in 2000 and is nearly complete 
with only one lot remaining.  A final plan for a single story building was recently 
constructed  for the remaining lot within the development.  

Table 3.49: Plaza Pointe Data

Cornerstone of Leawood

Cornerstone of Leawood is a mixed office and retail development located at the 
southeast corner of 135th Street and Nall Avenue.  In addition to a mix of office 
and retail uses, the development includes. a lifestyle center, an open-air pedestrian 
courtyard with decorative hardscape, landscaping, and shop access.  Thus far, 
seven buildings have been constructed, but the main lifestyle center remains largely 
undeveloped. A four story hotel was approved in 2017, located in the central lot within 
the development and is currently under construction.

Table 3.50: Cornerstone of Leawood Data

Shops at Camden Woods

The Shops at Camden Woods are located at the southwest corner of 143rd Street and 
Kenneth Road and consists of a single two-story mixed office and retail building.  The 
project was constructed in 2004.

Table 3.51: Shops at Camden Woods Data

Status Existing
Total Square Feet 186,422
Location SW Corner of 135th St. & Roe Ave.
Development Type Retail/Office
Zoning SD-CR & SD-O
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing/Planned
Total Square 81,459/ 371,856
Location SE Corner of 135th St. & Nall Ave.
Development Retail/Office
Zoning SD-CR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing
Total Square 22,189
Location SW Corner of 143rd St. & Kenneth Rd.
Development Retail
Zoning SD-NCR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Plaza Pointe - South of 135th Street and West of Roe Avenue

Cornerstone - South of 135th Street and East of Nall Avenue

Shops at Camden Woods - South of 143rd Street and West 
of Kenneth Road
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Centennial Park

Centennial Park, located at 143rd and Kenneth Road, provides a unique two-for-
one opportunity.  Tenants of the park are registered in both Kansas and Missouri 
and are able to conduct business out of either state. Few business parks can claim 
this advantage. In addition, Centennial Park has excellent transportation access to 
both 135th Street in Kansas and Missouri 150 Highway.  A 23,200 square foot office 
building, currently under construction, is almost complete and an additional 53,323 
square feet have been approved for Central States Beverage, which will be under 
construction in 2018.  

Table 3.52: Centennial Park Data

Ironhorse Centre

Ironhorse Centre is located at the southeast corner of 151st Street and Nall Avenue.  
The development consists of office/retail/residential buildings including a bank and 
retail uses which serve the nearby residents. A multi-story independent senior living 
facility, The Fairways of Ironhorse, has been approved as the final piece for the 
Development, and is under construction.

Table 3.53: Ironhorse Centre Data

Nall Valley Shops

Nall Valley Shops, located at the northeast corner of 151st and Nall Avenue, is a 
commercial development that began in 2004 and is nearly complete with one lot 
adjacent to 151st Street remaining.

Table 3.54: Nall Valley Shops Data

Status Existing/Planned
Total Square Feet 230,531 / 253,731
Location NE Corner of 143rd St. & Kenneth Rd.
Development Type Office
Zoning BP
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing/Planned
Total Square 61,499 / 170,618
Location SE Corner of 151st St. & Nall Ave.
Development Mixed Use
Zoning MXD
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Status Existing/Planned
Total Square 73,962 / 82,462
Location NE Corner of 151st St. & Nall Ave.
Development Retail
Zoning SD-CR & SD-NCR
Source: Leawood Community Development Department

Centennial Park - North of 143rd Street and East of Kenneth 
Road

Ironhorse Centre - South of 151st Street and East of Nall 
Avenue

Nall Valley Shops - North of 151st Street and East of Nall 
Avenue
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4. GUIDE TO FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
Leawood will always be identified with its trademark variety of prestigious, planned residential living 
environments.  In addition, planned commercial areas developed now will have a positive impact 
on the community’s prospering business climate for years to come.  With the 21st century upon us, 
Leawood has an exciting future with a preserved quality of life for all residents and employers.

Our Vision
Leawood prides itself on being a safe, attractive community, which values its distinctive character.  
The citizens of Leawood are civic-minded and are an important component in shaping Leawood’s 
future.  As the City of Leawood looks to the future, it will continue to maintain the residential 
property values, promote neighborhood-oriented commercial developments and quality mixed 
use developments, offer a variety of high-quality residential neighborhoods, sustain environmental 
sensitivity, retain natural landscapes and provide public open space.  With this vision, as 
articulated in a comprehensive plan, the City of Leawood will continue to grow with distinction. 

Comprehensive Plan Map
The following comprehensive plan map provides a guide to the future development of Leawood, 
and depicts the long term vision for growth based upon expected population changes and job 
growth. The map designates land categories based on use and density. This evolving map is 
reviewed and updated on an annual basis. The Comprehensive Plan also includes a vision for the 
active transportation network along with significant cultural landmarks. 

135th Street Community Plan
The 135th Street Community Plan is incorporated by reference into the City of Leawood’s 
Comprehensive Plan, and serves as a guiding document for development between 133rd Street 
and 137th Street and between Nall Avenue and State Line Road. The plan identifies an optimal 
layout for 135th Street, defines key land uses, produces development concepts and provides a 
strategic implementation plan for creating a sustainable community. The plan was adopted in 2014 
and was developed through a series of public meetings with community leaders, property owners, 
and governmental jurisdictions.

Self-Propelled Leawood Maps
Self-Propelled Leawood Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan articulates the City of Leawood’s 
vision for pedestrian and bicycle access. This plan can also be found on the following pages. The 
two exhibits divide the city into north and south halves, and represent existing and future bike 
routes along with a development plan for Leawood trail systems. These recommendations should 
be furthered refined as individual projects are implemented. 

Historic Trail Map
Leawood also includes approximately three miles of historic routes of the Santa Fe, Oregon and 
California National Trails. Since these trails bisect current development, proposed automobile and 
bicycle routes intersecting segments of the trail are being investigated. 
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City of Leawood’s Vision
Leawood prides itself on being a safe, attractive 
community, which values its distinctive character. 
The citizens of Leawood are civic-minded and are 
an important component in shaping Leawood’s 
future. As the City of Leawood looks to the 
future, it will continue to maintain the residential 
property values, promote neighborhood-oriented 
commercial developments, offer a variety 
of high quality residential neighborhoods, 
sustain environmental sensitivity, retain natural 
landscapes and provide public open space. With 
vision, as articulated in a comprehensive plan, 
the City of Leawood will continue to grow with 
distinction.
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Figure 4.3 Self Propelled Leawood
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Route Designations
Principal Routes
Crosstown Routes
Bicycle Boulevards
Neighborhood Connections
Multi-Use Trails
Connecting Bike Routes

Infrastructure Types
Shared Street or Lanes
Existing Bike Lanes
New Bike Lanes on Existing Street
New Bike Lanes with Street Reconstruction
Existing Sidepath with New Bike Lanes 
New Sidepath and Bike Lanes
Lee Boulevard Bikeway
Existing Bikeway
Existing Sidepath
New Sidepath
Existing Multi-Use Trail
Experienced Cyclist Route
Metro Area Connections
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Figure 4.4 Leawood Historic Trails - Santa Fe, Oregon, and California National Trails
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Goals and Objectives
In order to transform the values of the City’s development vision into reality, the 
following goals and objectives have been created.  A goal represents the end towards 
which our efforts are directed; objectives outline the actions necessary to achieve the 
goals.  Both goals and objectives implement how the residents, Planning Commission 
and Governing Body envision the future of the City of Leawood.

Non-Residential
Non-residential development is defined as uses other than single and multi-family 
residential. These uses include retail, office, business park, and recreational land uses. 
It is important that the use and intensity of this type of development is compatible with 
the surrounding community that it serves. Examples of uses within this district include 
retail shops, restaurants, general office, medical office, and light assembly.

Non-Residential Goal 1

Promote the redevelopment and, where it makes sense, retention of non-residential 
development in the established areas of the City.

OBJECTIVE:

Plans for redevelopment of existing non-residential properties shall be required to take 
into consideration surrounding properties/developments in terms of scale, use, design, 
access, landscaping and lighting, to promote an overall harmonious design for the 
area. 

DIRECTIVES: 

A - Encourage redevelopment of existing non-residential properties to provide 
pedestrian connections to surrounding non-residential and residential developments.

Redevelopment shall comply with all regulations and planning principles.

OBJECTIVE: 

Provide incentives for the redevelopment (public portion) of existing non-residential 
developments in Leawood.

DIRECTIVE: 

Give consideration to Special Benefit Districts (SBD), Transportation Development 
Districts (TDD), and Community Improvement Districts (CID) for public improvements 
in designated areas deemed to have a need for redevelopment and would not 
otherwise be improved.  (See City of Leawood Resolution No. 1317).
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Non-Residential Goal 2

Ensure compatible transitions from non-residential development to residential 
neighborhoods and other less intensive land uses.

OBJECTIVE:  

Utilize open space, large landscaped areas, natural topographical features, berms, 
and residential uses as buffers between residential and nonresidential developments.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Provide a variety of land uses adjacent to the nonresidential area (i.e. assisted 
living, independent living, condominiums, etc.).

B - Promote the transition from higher intensity land uses to lower intensity land uses.

C - Utilize clustering of buildings near major streets to develop common areas/buffer 
areas between the nonresidential and residential developments.

D - Maintain existing natural features between residential and nonresidential 
development such as tree lines.

E - Provide incentives to developers consistent with goals of Comprehensive Plan and 
sound planning and development principles to assure desirable results (i.e. bonuses 
as outlined in Leawood Development Ordinance).

F - Assess traffic impact and plan for no worse than a D rating. 
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Non-Residential Goal 3

Promote quality non-residential developments by requiring pedestrian oriented/human 
scaled designs, high-quality materials, sensitive landscaping, and limited signage. 

OBJECTIVE: 

Parking Lots shall be designed to limit the massing of pavement viewable from public 
streets. 

DIRECTIVES:

A - The massing of parking lots shall be broken up with landscaping.

B - Parking lots shall be hidden from public streets with a minimum three-foot high 
berm and landscaping located along the berm.

C - Encourage land banking of parking spaces. 

D - Encourage shared parking agreements between nonresidential developments and 
the recording of such agreements.

E - Utilize buildings and amenities to break up parking lots.

F - Promote a transportation system which provides or improves access and 
circulation within and adjacent to non-residential areas, and fosters interaction among 
residents.

G - Encourage parking lots to be located behind the front building mass when along a 
public street.

H - Utilize internal walkways for pedestrians in parking lots.  The internal walkways 
shall be constructed of decorative material and shall be protected from driveways with 
landscaping.

I - Encourage a row of parking adjacent to the front entrance of the building particularly 
for retail developments.

J - Encourage limiting the length of the rows of parking.

K - Parking lots shall be lighted and striped to ensure the safety of pedestrians and 
motor vehicles, and promote orderly and efficient use of space.

L -  Encourage the use of underground and above ground multi-story parking 
structures.
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OBJECTIVE: 

Developments shall be constructed to incorporate Main Street or village style 
techniques.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Buildings shall be located on an interior drive system with on-street (interior drives) 
parking.

B - Buildings shall be clustered and oriented to ensure easy circulation between 
businesses for pedestrians without the need for vehicles.

C - Buildings shall be clustered and oriented to create gathering areas for patrons as 
well as large open spaces.

D - Plaza areas shall be incorporated into the design for all buildings.

E - All building facades shall be broken with extensions, recesses, awnings, and/or 
covered walkways.

F - All sides of buildings shall be constructed to the same standard of design.

G - Loading docks, trash collections, outdoor storage and similar facilities and 
functions shall be within the structure, or contained within a service court which 
is completely enclosed by the building mass and provide extensive buffering to 
completely screen these areas.

H - Encourage that each principal building have a clearly defined customer entrance 
with features such as canopies, porticos, arcades, arches, wing walls and integral 
planters.

I - Provide incentives for unique design and additional amenities incorporated into 
the development such as structured parking, large common areas, fountains, and 
other unique/quality features currently found throughout Leawood in lieu of the 
typical big box or strip centers and other standard developments prevalent in today’s 
development industry.

J - Where no prevailing architectural context exists, create a compatible theme and 
character throughout the new development to relate to adjacent developmental 
designs.

K - Detail facades to relate to the architectural characteristics of the surrounding 
structures such as the proportion, scale, form, mass, setback, material, horizontal 
dimension, etc.

L - Nonresidential developments shall be required to maintain open space between 
nonresidential developments and adjacent residential developments.

M -  Topographical features, which limit development, shall be retained as open space 
left in its natural state.
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OBJECTIVE: 

Non-residential development shall create a unique sense of place.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Monuments, fountains, or other artwork shall be constructed at the major entrances 
into the development from public streets and along internal intersections/driveways.

B - Buildings shall utilize decorative design elements that may include arched 
windows, second story balconies, pitched roofs, etc.

C - Bland architecture such as cube buildings and typical big box structures will not be 
permitted.

D - Developments will be encouraged to incorporate design themes, artwork, natural 
areas, water features, small plazas, and landscaping into the overall design of the 
development.

OBJECTIVE: 

Reduce the visual impact and cluttering of signage.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Wall signs shall be limited to two per building and also limited to the façades of 
buildings, which face public streets or internal drives (not including parking lot drive 
aisles).

B - Monument signs shall be constructed of material similar to the façade of the 
building or of natural stone, brick, or similar material.

C - Monument signs shall be primarily used to identify overall developments and not 
individual tenants or buildings.

D - The placement of billboards shall not be permitted within the city limits of Leawood.
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Residential
Residential development is defined as a land use type in which housing predominates.  
Residential is classified by rural, single family, clustered, or apartment districts that are 
furthered defined by density. Additional allowable uses within residential districts range 
from independent living, assisted living, and  skilled nursing.

Residential Goal 1

Encourage a diverse mixture of quality housing to meet the needs of the Citizens of 
Leawood. 

OBJECTIVE:

Ensure the creation of high quality single-family homes within the City of Leawood.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Single-family subdivisions shall be encouraged to have a neighborhood like 
ambiance by providing amenities such as common areas and trails to allow human 
interaction.

B - Encourage a diverse mix of household sizes and home styles.

C - Encourage the incorporation of natural features into residential development.

D - Encourage the use of common areas throughout and between residential 
developments. 

E - Utilize natural buffers between neighborhoods and other uses, such as parks 
or significant landscaped areas, which protect the residential area but allow for 
pedestrian connections between the two uses.

F - Subdivision street systems shall provide multiple points of vehicular and pedestrian 
access including connections to existing residential and commercial developments. 
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OBJECTIVE:

Protect and preserve existing residential areas.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Preserve and protect existing housing through code enforcement and preventive 
maintenance.

B - Ensure that redevelopment within existing neighborhoods is compatible with the 
existing neighborhood in scale, style and materials.

C - Ensure new residential development within existing neighborhoods be of a similar 
pattern, and connect with the existing residential and commercial neighborhoods.

OBJECTIVE:

Ensure that residential growth patterns result in neighborhoods that have their own 
sense of place, yet are closely linked to the community as a whole. 

DIRECTIVES:

A - Encourage multiple street and pedestrian connections with adjacent residential 
areas and discourage the extensive use of cul-de-sacs and dead-end streets.

B - Encourage subdivisions to provide unique amenities to promote the social 
interaction within the neighborhood.

C - Additional gated communities will not be allowed within the City of Leawood in 
order to promote a sense of community.

OBJECTIVE:

Provide home ownership alternatives to the standard large lot residential subdivision.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Encourage clustering of homes, in areas indicated as medium and high density on 
the Comprehensive Plan Map, to provide opportunities for amenities such as creation 
of common areas, preservation of natural features, walking trails and view corridors.

B - Offer incentives in areas indicated on the Comprehensive Plan Map, for unique 
design, the provision of additional amenities, and new planning principles and 
practices not currently in use for the City (i.e., walking paths, incorporating the natural 
slope of the land, retaining natural drainage ways/environmental features, pocket 
parks, community gathering areas, and other New Urbanism concepts and theories).

C - Encourage residential uses within designated mixed use areas.
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OBJECTIVE:

Provide housing opportunities for the senior citizens of Leawood.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Encourage the development of assisted living, independent living and skilled 
nursing facilities within the designated institutional areas.

B - Utilize elderly care facilities as a transitional use between residential and non-
residential uses.

C - Promote open space and connectivity to adjoining uses to provide pedestrian and 
recreational opportunities.

D - Promote human interaction within the design of the facilities through the use of 
courtyards, walking trails, decorative landscaping, and outdoor interactive areas.
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Redevelopment
Redevelopment is defined as any new construction on a site that has pre-existing 
uses.  The City of Leawood promotes the redevelopment of residential and commercial 
land uses through the following goals and objectives. 

Redevelopment Goal 1

Promote residential redevelopment that is harmonious with the existing residential 
area. 

OBJECTIVE: 

Ensure that remodeling and maintenance of existing housing stock maintains the 
original character of the neighborhood.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Preserve and protect existing housing stock through code enforcement, 
development ordinance amendments and preventive maintenance.

OBJECTIVE:

In established neighborhoods, infill development shall be compatible with the character 
of the surrounding neighborhood, including scale, style of homes, and height of 
homes.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Develop and implement design guidelines, which maintain the character and style 
of the City, for redevelopment and remodeling.

B - Encourage residential development to be compatible with adjoining lots in respect 
to lot shape and size, style of housing, street configuration and landscaping.

C - Redevelopment shall be required to match the existing street pattern including 
through street connections.

D - Encourage the inclusion of private open space for new developments to help 
preserve the openness of Leawood.
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Redevelopment Goal 2

Utilize commercial redevelopment to maintain or upgrade existing commercial areas 
and to ensure compatibility with the surrounding area.

OBJECTIVE:

Ensure that commercial redevelopment projects utilize high quality materials and 
compatible designs with the surrounding area.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Buildings shall be required to utilize materials and architectural features which 
complement one another.

B - Building treatments shall consider the use of decorative design elements that may 
include arched windows, second story balconies, covered walkways, pitched roofs, 
etc.

C - Bland, unimaginative architecture, such as flashcube buildings and typical big box 
structures, will not be permitted.

D - Encourage the placement of utilities underground for all new developments and 
work with landowners to place utilities underground for developed areas.

OBJECTIVE:

Ensure that commercial redevelopment includes pedestrian oriented / human scale 
designs which are compatible with the surrounding area.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Develop and implement design criteria that require commercial redevelopment to 
be human scale and have a clearly defined customer entrance with features such as 
canopies, porticos, arcades, arches, wing walls and integral planters.

B - Encourage connections between residential and commercial projects through 
pedestrian and vehicular connections. 

C - Encourage commercial design to include public gathering areas, such as plazas, 
courtyards and benches.

D - Encourage the use of landscaping and berms to reduce the visual impact of 
buildings.

E - Retail building facades shall provide insets that divide larger facades into smaller 
storefronts. 

F - Buildings shall be thoughtfully designed to provide cover from the weather and 
provide comfort for the pedestrian by incorporating porticos, canopies, and other 
architectural details.
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Mixed Use
Mixed use is defined as a development which permits a mixture of retail, office, 
residential, and cultural uses in a single structure or multiple structures which 
incorporate a coordinated, consistent theme throughout the development and 
encourage a high level of pedestrian activity.  Mixed use developments should be 
located within a close proximity to major roadways and intersections.     

Mixed Use Goal 1

Encourage developments which blend a variety of uses, including commercial, office, 
and / or residential, into village style developments, which allow for access to services 
by a variety of transportation modes, including walking and biking.

OBJECTIVE:

Encourage pedestrian friendly environments within mixed use developments.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Encourage buildings to be clustered and oriented toward each other allowing easy 
access from one building to another.

B - Utilize sidewalks, small plazas, street furniture and landscaping to create a safe 
and pleasant pedestrian environment.

C - Develop a network of pedestrian paths between adjacent developments and public 
sidewalks, crosswalks, bike trails, and bike lanes.

D - Integrate neighborhood scaled private parks within the overall pedestrian networks.

E - Buildings shall be thoughtfully designed to provide cover from the weather and 
provide comfort for the pedestrian by incorporating porticos, canopies, and other 
methods. 

F - Intersections shall be designed to emphasize the neighborhood scale and unique 
nature of the area, including sidewalks, streetscape elements and landscaping.
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OBJECTIVE:

Develop human scale, village or main street style, mixed use developments.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Building façades and mass shall be broken up with a variety of setbacks, 
construction materials and rooflines.

B - Buildings shall contain decorative design elements that may include arched 
windows, second story balconies, pitched roofs, etc. 

C - The mass and impact of buildings shall be reduced through the use of berms and 
landscaping.

D - Bland architecture, such as cube buildings and typical big box structures, will not 
be permitted.

E - Landscaping and streetscape elements, along access roads and including reverse 
frontage roads, will be established to emphasize the neighborhood scaled character 
desired.

F - Support massing of buildings along interior drives with parking directly in front of 
buildings.

OBJECTIVE:

Create mixed use developments, which provide a unique sense of place.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Develop design guidelines to ensure that development is consistent and has a 
unique character.

B - Buildings within mixed use areas shall have similar materials and design features, 
which complement one another.

C - Offer incentives for unique design, the provision of additional amenities, and 
new planning principles and practices not currently in use for the City (i.e., walking 
paths, incorporating the natural slope of the land, retaining natural drainage ways/
environmental features, pocket parks, community gathering areas, and other New 
Urbanism concepts and theories).
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Parks and Trails
Parks and trails within the City of Leawood relate to existing and planned pedestrian 
and bicycle pathways provided for active transportation opportunities. The City of 
Leawood is also home to segments of historic trails, the promotion of which is under 
future consideration.

Parks and Trails Goal 1

Provide a variety of leisure alternatives for the Citizens of Leawood. 

OBJECTIVE:

Expand the cultural opportunities provided by the City of Leawood’s community center.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Realize an interest in the development of a civic recreation and meeting complex.

B - Utilize existing public facilities to offer programs and events to all geographical 
areas of Leawood.

C - Provide a variety of activities targeted to individuals of all ages.

D - Continue to update the activities offered to Leawood’s citizens.

OBJECTIVE:

Increase the recreational opportunities throughout the City of Leawood.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Provide additional recreational opportunities for all ages.

B - Develop an interconnected network of hike/bike trails and bicycle lanes throughout 
Leawood and adjoining communities.

C - Encourage the development of private recreational facilities and open space 
(i.e., neighborhood parks, useable green space, walking/bike trails, etc.) within and 
between residential and nonresidential developments to supplement those provided by 
the City of Leawood and Johnson County as recommended in Self-Propelled Leawood  
- A Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan.

D - Utilize natural and historic features such as flood plains, creeks, and other 
undevelopable areas for additional recreational opportunities and to preserve and 
protect environmentally sensitive areas and wildlife habitats.

E - Provide more passive parks.

F - Extreme berming shall not be encouraged as a buffer between uses.
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Transportation
Transportation alternatives in the City of Leawood relate to the movement of people 
and goods through a variety of transportation modes, including vehicular, public, and 
active transportation. Transportation in Leawood should be promoted through the 
following goals and objectives.

Transportation Goal 1

To develop alternative modes of transportation and better land use patterns to lessen 
the dependence on the automobile.

OBJECTIVE:

Encourage development that can be accessed by multiple modes of transportation.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Encourage that commercial and office development provide an internal pedestrian 
circulation system which connects to pedestrian paths of adjacent nonresidential uses 
and to public sidewalks, pedestrian/bike paths, bike lanes and crosswalks.

B - Support internal and external circulation patterns within development areas, which 
allow opportunities for public transit.

C - Encourage developments to provide amenities for other means of transportation 
such as bike racks and covered seating areas.

OBJECTIVE:

Provide the citizens of Leawood with access to a variety of modes of transportation 
throughout the City.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Construct additional bike lanes, bike paths, and pedestrian paths to interconnect 
various areas throughout the city.

B - Promote street and pedestrian/bike connections between subdivisions to lessen 
the dependence on arterials.

C - Coordinate with public transit currently offered in Johnson County and Mid-America 
Regional Council to provide additional routes within the City of Leawood. 

D - Existing drainage ways and flood areas shall be retained as additional pedestrian 
paths/trails.
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Transportation Goal 2

Ensure that new non-residential developments within Leawood do not increase the 
traffic volumes beyond the capacity of the public streets.

OBJECTIVE:

Evaluation of traffic impacts created by nonresidential development shall be based on 
Leawood Traffic Model. 

DIRECTIVES:

A - Nonresidential development shall continue to provide traffic studies utilizing the 
City of Leawood’s traffic model.

B - Evaluation of traffic impacts shall not rely on anticipated or potential future traffic 
improvements.

C - Discourage the expansion of nonresidential development in areas where, even with 
street and traffic signal improvements, the additional traffic impact of the development 
would exceed a level of service D on the adjacent public streets.

D - Limit and coordinate the number of driveway accesses onto arterial streets.



Comprehensive Plan - 2018 Update 70

Public Improvements
Public improvements pertain to a broad range of infrastructure projects related to 
public service, including utilities, streets, stormwater, sewer and traffic related issues. 
Public improvements should be promoted through the following goals and objectives.

Public Improvements Goal 1

Balance the current and future public improvement needs of both the developed and 
developing areas of the City.

OBJECTIVE:

To develop a program of construction and renovation projects to benefit the entire 
community.

DIRECTIVES:

A - Promote financially prudent planning while utilizing to the greatest extent possible 
external funding sources, i.e. SMAC, KDOT, T-21FAST, etc.

B - Ensure that developers make public improvements as required by technical 
studies, i.e., stormwater study, traffic study, etc.

C - Ensure that developers pay impact fees as approved by the Governing Body for 
necessary public improvements. 

D - Promote the continued maintenance and improvements of public streets and 
stormwater management.

E - Assure future street layout and design be compatible with the major street patterns 
of adjacent municipalities.

F - Assure all future streets are public.

G - Provide a mechanism to provide for the undergrounding of overhead utilities.
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Fiscal
Fiscally responsible policies concerning government revenue and maintaining the 
economic vitality of the City of Leawood can be promoted through the following goals 
and objectives. 

Fiscal Goal 1

To continue to develop a broad tax base that will ensure economic stability for the City 
of Leawood and a stable mill levy.

OBJECTIVE:

Support non-residential developments, which will ensure a broader tax base for all of 
Leawood and lessen the dependence on residential taxpayers.

DIRECTIVE:

A - Build out as Comprehensive Plan indicates to maintain quality level of services 
(i.e., fire, police, school, infrastructure, etc.).

OBJECTIVE:

Require developers to pay full cost of infrastructure improvements associated with 
their developments.

DIRECTIVE:

A - Impact fees shall be reviewed to determine if all improvement costs associated with 
new developments are actually being paid by developers.
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Historic Resources
Historic resources are defined as the architectural and cultural heritage of Leawood, 
Kansas. Two locally recognized historic districts currently reside within the City of 
Leawood. The City has devised criteria to help identify historic features, and structures 
and districts. To make effective use of historic resources and to respect their value and 
extend their lives, the following goals and objectives should be followed. 

Historic Resources Goal 1

GOAL:

Identify and protect the historic resources of the City of Leawood to provide a sense of 
community, identity and civic pride.

OBJECTIVE: 

Preserve and enhance areas of historical and cultural significance within city of 
Leawood. 

DIRECTIVE:

Historic Commission shall create and maintain an inventory of Leawood’s historic 
structures and features (i.e., historic buildings, Santa Fe Trail, California Trail, Oregon 
Trail).
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APPENDIX
135th Street Community Plan
Please see a separate document titled “135th Street Community Plan,” Resolution 
4258, adopted by the Governing Body on the 16th day of June, 2014

Self-Propelled Leawood: A Pedestrian and 
Bicycle Master Plan 
Please see a separate document titled Self-Propelled Leawood: A Pedestrian and 
Bicycle Master Plan, Resolution 4346, adopted by the Governing Body on the 20th day 
of October, 2014.  

135TH STREET COMMUNITY PLAN

December 2013

SELF-PROPELLED LEAWOOD
 A PEDESTRIAN AND BICYCLE 

MASTER PLAN
October 2014



 

City of Leawood 

Memo 
To:   Planning Commission 

From:   Mark Klein, Planning Official 

CC:   Richard Coleman, Community Development Director 
Dawn Long, Director of Finance  
David Ley, Interim Director of Public Works  
 

Date of Meeting: February 26, 2019 

Date of Memo:  February 21, 2019 

Re:   2018 - 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee Report 
 
Pursuant to Section 13-509 of Chapter XIII, Article 5, of the Code, an annual report along with a 
recommendation of the Planning Commission is required to be made to the Governing Body regarding 
the 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee. This report contains a statement from Director of Community 
Development summarizing developments and enforcement of the fee, a statement from the Director of 
Finance on fees collected and disbursed, and a statement from the City Engineer on transportation 
improvements over the past year and those planned in the future.   
 
Director of Community Development: 
Based on requirements of the 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee ordinance, the City collects fees for all 
properties along the 135th Street corridor between 133rd Street and 137th Street.  These fees are 
collected from retail, office and residential at different rates based on when the project received 
preliminary site plan approval.  The following is a summary of the current rates if a project has received a 
preliminary site plan approval after December 1, 2004:  retail is $1.95 per square foot of the building, 
office is $.58 per square foot of the building, and residential is $389.40 per unit.  The fees are designed to 
reimburse the City for the improvements made to 135th Street.   
 
The City received 135th Street Corridor Impact Fees in the amount of $141,727.95 in 2018 for the 
following projects.  

 Cornerstone: located north of 135th Street and east of Nall Avenue. 
o Element Hotel - $141,727.95 

 
Director of Finance  
The January 1, 2018 fund balance was $72,792.03.  During 2018 impact fees of $141,727.95 were 
collected.   Interest earnings for 2018 were $743.12.  Expenditure were $ 72,900.00.  This leaves a fund 
balance at December 31, 2018 of $142,363.10. 
 
 



City Engineer 
In 2018, the Public Works Department replaced high pressure sodium light fixtures with more efficient 
LED fixtures along 135th Street.  No projects along this corridor are currently planned for 2019. 



 

City of Leawood 

Memo 
To:   Planning Commission  

From:   Mark Klein, Planning Official 

CC:   Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 
Dawn Long, Director of Finance 
David Ley, Interim Director of Public Works 

    
Date of Meeting: February 26, 2019 

Date of Memo:  February 21, 2019 

Re:   2018 South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee Review 

As set forth in Chapter XII, Article 6 of the Leawood City Code, an annual report along with a 
recommendation from the Planning Commission is required to be made to the Governing Body regarding 
the South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee. Included in the report is a statement from the Director of 
Community Development summarizing developments and the enforcement of the fee, a statement from 
the Director of Finance on fees collected and disbursed, and a statement from City Engineer regarding 
transportation improvements over the past year and those planned in the future.  
 
Director of Community Development: 
Based on requirements of the South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee ordinance, the City collects 
fees for all properties south of 137th Street that are not located on an improved arterial road.  These fees 
are collected from all types of developments at the same rate, which is based on distance from 135th 
Street, gross acreage of land to be developed, and an impact fee coefficient of $625.00.  During 2018 
there were no impact fees collected for the South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee. 
 
Director of Finance: 
The January 1, 2018 fund balance was $288,545.72.  During 2018 there were no impact fees collected.  
Interest earnings for 2018 were $3,709.78.  Expenditures in 2018 were $12,121.00.  This leaves a fund 
balance at December 31, 2018 of $280,134.50. 
 
City Engineer: 
In 2018, the Public Works Department purchased additional right-of-way for turn lanes at the intersection 
of 151st Street and Mission Road.  No projects are currently planned for 2019. 
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